
Mark James  LLM, DPA, DCA
Prif Weithredwr,
Chief Executive,
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin.  SA31 1JP
County Hall, Carmarthen.  SA31 1JP

DYDD MAWRTH, 22AIN TACHWEDD, 2016

AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD

YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD O’R 
PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD A GYNHELIR YN 
YSTAFELL BWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD, NEUADD Y 
SIR, CAERFYRDDIN AM 10.00 A.M. AR DDYDD LLUN, 28AIN TACHWEDD, 
2016 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R MATERION A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA 
SYDD YNGHLWM

Mark James DYB

PRIF WEITHREDWR

 AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA
Swyddog Democrataidd: Michelle Evans Thomas
Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224470
E-bost: MEEvansThomas@sirgar.gov.uk
Cyf: AD016-001

Pecyn Dogfennau



PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD
AELODAETH – 5 AELOD

GRWP PLAID CYMRU 2 AELOD

1. Y Cynghorydd W.T. Evans  [Is-Gadeirydd]
2. Y Cynghorydd D. Price

GRWP LLAFUR  2 AELOD

1. Y Cynghorydd T. Davies  [Cadeirydd]
2. Y Cynghorydd J.D. James

GRWP ANNIBYNNOL 1 AELOD

1. Y Cynghorydd H.B. Shepardson



A G E N D A  

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL. 

3. DERBYN A LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION Y 
CYFARFOD A GYNHALWYD AR Y 1AF MEDI 2016 

5 - 6

4. PANEL ANNIBYNNOL CYMRU AR GYDNABYDDIAETH 
ARIANNOL ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL DRAFFT - CHWEFROR 
2017 

7 - 92

5. SWYDDOGAETH GRAFFU CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN – 
ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL 2015/16 

93 - 120

6. ADOLYGAETH BLYNYDDOL SWYDDOGAETH  Y GWASANAETH 
DEMOCRATAIDD 

121 - 128

7. BLAENRHAGLEN GWAITH Y PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU 
DEMOCRATAIDD 

129 - 136



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD

Dydd Iau, 1 Medi 2016

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd T. Davies (Cadeirydd)

Y Cynghorwyr: 
W.T. Evans, H.I. Jones (yn lle H.B. Shepardson) a/ac D. Price

Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod:
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith
G. Morgan, Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd
M Edwards, Corporate Learning & Development Advisor
M.S. Davies, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd

Y Siambr, Neuadd y Sir - 10.00 am  - 10.45 am

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB
Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorwyr J.D. James a H.B.  
Shepardson.

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL
Ni chafwyd dim datganiadau o fuddiant personol.

3. COFNODION - 17EG MAWRTH 2016
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod Pwyllgor y 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd oedd wedi ei gynnal ar 17eg Mawrth 2016 gan 
eu bod yn gywir. 

4. Y TREFNIADAU SEFYDLU A DATBLYGU AR GYFER AELODAU 2016/17
Rhoddodd y Pwyllgor ystyriaeth i adroddiad a geisiai gymorth i hyrwyddo 
cyfarfodydd un i un Datblygu Aelodau er mwyn cael darlun clir o unrhyw ddatblygu 
yr oedd angen mynd i'r afael ag ef dros y 6-8 mis nesaf. Hefyd gwahoddwyd 
sylwadau'r Pwyllgor ar y cwestiynau allweddol yr oedd angen eu gofyn i'r aelodau 
fel rhan o Arolwg Sefydlu Cynghorwyr er mwyn llywio'r modd y gweithredir rhaglen 
sefydlu gyflawn, wybodus ac effeithiol ar gyfer 2017. 
Roedd consensws cyffredinol y dylid anfon nodyn atgoffa arall at Arweinwyr pob 
Grŵp Gwleidyddol yn pwysleisio'r angen i gynnal cyfarfodydd un i un gyda'u 
haelodau er mwyn penderfynu ar eu hanghenion hyfforddiant. Dywedodd y 
Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith ei bod hi a'r Prif Weithredwr yn cwrdd ag 
Arweinwyr y Grwpiau yn rheolaidd, ac y byddai'n codi'r mater yn y cyfarfod nesaf. 
Cytunwyd bod nodyn atgoffa yn cael ei anfon at Arweinwyr y Grwpiau gan yr 
Hyrwyddwr Datblygu Aelodau, y Cynghorydd W.T. Evans, a'r Aelod o'r Bwrdd 
Gweithredol dros Adnoddau Dynol, Effeithlonrwydd a Chydweithio. 

O ran yr Arolwg Sefydlu Cynghorwyr, croesawodd yr aelodau y syniad o fentora 
aelodau newydd a barnwyd y gallai pob aelod newydd gael ei fentora gan 
swyddog ac aelod profiadol.  Hefyd awgrymwyd y dylai'r rhaglen Sefydlu roi golwg 
gyffredinol i'r aelodau ar faterion cynllunio gan bwysleisio pa mor bwysig yw bod 
yn ddiduedd. Yn ogystal cafodd cynnal cyfweliadau ei awgrymu fel pwnc. 

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL 
 

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  3



4.1 cymeradwyo'r cam gweithredu uchod sy'n ymwneud â phenderfynu 
ar anghenion hyfforddiant yr aelodau;

4.2 rhoi gwybod i Bennaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd am unrhyw 
faterion yn ymwneud ag anghenion hyfforddiant a sefydlu Aelodau. 

5. ADOLYGU GWYBODAETH AR-LEIN Y CYNGOR O DAN Y PENNAWD 
CYNGOR A DEMOCRATIAETH
Soniwyd wrth y Pwyllgor am y wybodaeth oedd ar gael ar hyn o bryd ar adran 
Cyngor a Democratiaeth y wefan gorfforaethol, a oedd bellach yn cynnwys dolen 
i'r Côd Ymddygiad diwygiedig ar gyfer Aelodau ac Aelodau Cyfetholedig. Yn 
ogystal, dros y misoedd nesaf, byddai gwybodaeth am 'Sut mae bod yn 
Gynghorydd' yn cael ei hychwanegu yn barod ar gyfer etholiadau'r llywodraeth leol 
ym mis Mai 2017. 
Mynegodd y Cadeirydd ei siom ynghylch cyn lleied o Aelodau oedd wedi llwytho 
Adroddiadau Blynyddol ar gyfer 2015, a chytunwyd y byddai'n ddefnyddiol cael 
manylion ynghylch faint o bobl oedd wedi bwrw golwg ar yr adroddiadau.  
Mewn ymateb i ymholiadau, rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Pwyllgor y byddai'r Flaenraglen 
Waith newydd ar gyfer y Bwrdd Gweithredol yn cael ei llwytho i'r wefan yn fuan, a 
bod materion hyrwyddo cwestiynau gan y cyhoedd a hwyluso deisebau ar-lein yn 
cael sylw. 

PENDERFYNWYD nodi'r adroddiad.

________________________ __________________
CADEIRYDD DYDDIAD

Tudalen 6



Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd
28ain Tachwedd 2016

PANEL ANNIBYNNOL CYMRU AR GYDNABYDDIAETH ARIANNOL 
ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL DRAFFT – CHWEFROR 2017 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen:

Ystyried a rhoi sylwadau ar y penderfyniadau a wnaed gan Banel Annibynnol Cymru ar 
Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol yn eu Hadroddiad Blynyddol drafft ar gyfer Blwyddyn Ddinesig 
2017/18.

Awdurdodi Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor i gyflwyno ymateb i BACGA, ar ran y Pwyllgor

Y Rhesymau: 

Rhaid ymgynghori â Phwyllgor y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd, yn unol â'i Gylch Gorchwyl , 
ynghylch gweithredu adroddiadau a gyflwynwyd gan Banel Annibynnol Cymru ar 
Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol.

Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol AMHERTHNASOL                                           
Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad   NAC OES  Dim ar hyn o bryd.
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                        NAC OES  Dim ar hyn o bryd.

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- Amherthnasol.

Cynghorydd Terry Davies – Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd.

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:
Linda Rees Jones
Awdur yr Adroddiad:
Gaynor Morgan

Swyddi:
Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a’r 
Gyfraith
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd

Rhifau ffôn:
01267 224026
Cyfeiriadau E-bost:
Gmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk

Tudalen 7

Eitem Rhif  4



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE

28TH NOVEMBER 2016

INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL FOR WALES DRAFT ANNUAL 
REPORT - FEBRUARY 2017

Each year, the Independent Remuneration for Wales (IRPW) determines the rates of payment 
which are made to elected and co-opted Members of Welsh local authorities for the following 
municipal year and has powers to make recommendations on proposed variations to the 
remuneration of Chief Executives and Chief Officers of Principal councils in Wales. The IRPW 
is required to send the draft annual report to County Councils, requiring comments by the 28th  
November 2016.

The IRPW is required to take into account the representations which it receives on the draft 
before issuing its final version of the report in February.

For 2017/18 the IRPW has recommended:-

 an increase in Basic Salaries of 0.75%.  This is the first increase for 3 years and 
‘follows the slight easing of restraint in the pay of public sector employees’. It 
represents a £100 increase in the Basic salary for councillors (to £13,400).

 no increase in senior salaries but post holders will receive the uplift in the basic salary 
paid to all councillors. The discretion to pay different salary levels for the Executive, 
Chairs of Committees and Civic duties remains within the report.

 Introduction of arrangements to recognise the implications of long term sickness of 
Senior Salary Holders 

 Renaming ‘Care Allowances’ as ‘Reimbursement of costs of care’ to seek to separate it 
from being perceived as part of an individual councillors’ salary or allowances. The 
IRPW has also proposes changes to the way such payments are published by allowing 
councils to either “Publish the details of the amounts reimbursed to named members; 
or the total amount reimbursed by the authority during the year but not attributed to any 
named member..

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES 

IRPW DRAFT  ANNUAL REPORT - FEBRUARY 2017
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/161003-irp-draft-report-

en.pdf

Tudalen 8



IMPLICATIONS
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :

Signed:                    Linda Rees Jones                                              Head of  Administration and Law    
                                  Gaynor Morgan                                                 Head of Democratic Services

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

NONE YES YES NONE NONE NONE NONE 

1. Finance  
The Budget provision required for payment of Members allowances in 2017/18 is likely to be 
similar to that in 2016/17.

2. Legal

The Democratic Services Committee is to consulted, in accordance with its Terms of Reference, 
on the implementation of reports issued by the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales.

The IRPW is required to publish an annual report in accordance with the requirements of Section 
147 of the Local Government Wales Measure 2011.

Tudalen 9



CONSULTATIONS
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:                    Linda Rees Jones                                              Head of  Administration and Law    
                                  Gaynor Morgan                                                 Head of Democratic Services

(Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against the following headings)

1. Scrutiny Committee
Not Applicable
2.Local Member(s)  
Not Applicable
3.Community / Town Council 
Circulated by IRPW to all Town & Community Councils 
4.Relevant Partners  
Not Applicable
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  
Not Applicable
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW     

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

IRPW Draft Report http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/161003-irp-draft-
report-en.pdf

Local Government 
Wales Measure

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents/enac
ted

Tudalen 10

http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/161003-irp-draft-report-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/161003-irp-draft-report-en.pdf


DR
AF
T

February 2017

Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales

Annual Report

    © Crown copyright 2016       WG29312

Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.
This document is also available in Welsh. Tudalen 11



1 
 

Foreword  

There have been some changes to the membership of the Panel this year. The 2016 

Report was the last produced under the leadership of Richard Penn as Chair. I and 

other members are most grateful for the guidance he gave to the Panel during his 

tenure of office. We have 3 new members – Julie May who was appointed from 1 

January, Sarah (Saz) Willey and Roger Symonds, both appointed from 1 June. The 

full membership is set out below. 

We have made some adjustments to the format of the Report which we hope will 

make the content clearer and more concise.  

Specific changes to our determinations include a very modest increase to the basic 

salary for elected members with consequential increases for National Park 

Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities. This increase of 0.75% is the first for 3 

years and follows the slight easing of restraint in the pay of public sector employees. 

We are proposing to introduce arrangements to recognise the implications of long 

term sickness of senior salary holders. We have also made changes to provide more 

flexibility for authorities without undermining the principle of prescribing payments 

which still has continuing support. 

The Local Government (Wales) Act 2015 widened the remit of the Panel to give 

consideration to proposed changes to the salaries of chief officers of principal 

councils, effectively an extension of our role in respect of the heads of paid service of 

councils and Fire and Rescue Authorities. We have made recommendations on 

several submissions during the year; these can be found in Section 11 of the Report. 

The Panel welcomes responses to this Draft Report by the end of November, all of 

which will be considered prior to producing the final Report for implementation in the 

spring 2017. 

I would thank my colleague Panel members and also our diligent and committed 

secretariat for the significant input into our work during the year. 

John Bader 

Chair 

Panel Membership 

John Bader – Chair 

Gregory Owens - Vice Chair 

Stephen Mulholland 

Julie May 

Saz Willey 

Roger Symonds 

Tudalen 12



2 
 

Detailed information about the members can be found on the website: 

http://gov.wales/irpwsub/home/?lang=en  

Tudalen 13

http://gov.wales/irpwsub/home/?lang=en


3 
 

Contents 

Introduction 4 

Implementation of Determinations 8 

1. The Panel’s Framework: Principles of Members’ Remuneration 9 

2. Annual Report Summary Page 11 

3. Payments to Elected Members of Principal Councils: Basic, Senior and Civic 
Salaries 12 

4. Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC) 22 

5. Pension Provision for Elected Members of Principal Councils 23 

6. Entitlement to Family Absence 24 

7. Payments to Members of National Park Authorities 25 

8. Payments to Members of Welsh Fire and Rescue  Authorities 29 

9. Payments to co-opted Members of Principal Councils, National Park Authorities 
and Fire & Rescue Authorities 33 

10. Reimbursement of Costs of Care 35 

11. Sickness Absence for Senior Salary Holders 36 

12. Reimbursement of Travel and Subsistence Costs when on Official Business 38 

13. Payments to Members of Community and Town Councils 40 

14. Compliance with Panel Requirements 44 

15. Salaries of Heads of Paid Service of Principal Councils and Fire and Rescue 
Authorities and Chief Officers of Principal Councils 45 

Annex 1: The Panel’s Determinations for 2017/18 56 

Annex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) Regulations: 61 

Annex 3: Schedule of member remuneration 76 

Annex 4: Publication of Remuneration – the Panel’s Requirements 78 

Annex 5: Ministerial Remit Letter to the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales
 80 

 

Tudalen 14



4 
 

Introduction 

 

This is the ninth Annual Report of 
the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales (the Panel), and 
the sixth published under the 
requirements of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 
2011.  

 
1. As with the Panel’s previous Annual Reports its determinations on member 

remuneration are underpinned by a set of principles set out in Section 1 of this 
Annual Report. 

 
2. The Panel remains firmly of the view that maintaining the democratic values of 

local governance cannot be cost-free. Members of local authorities (including 
co-opted and appointed members) are there to represent the interests of local 
people, undertake the governance of local communities, and secure value-for-
money public services for local tax-payers through effective scrutiny. These 
are significant and considerable tasks for members of relevant authorities 
within the Panel’s remit. Publicly funded remuneration is made available to 
encourage a diversity of willing and able people to undertake local 
governance through their elected, appointed or co-opted roles.  

 
3. The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amended the Local 

Government (Wales) Measure 2011 by inserting Section 143A. This requires 
that any principal council or fire and rescue authority that intends to change 
the salary of its Head of Paid Service must consult the Panel unless the 
change is in keeping with changes applied to other officers. Section 143A also 
enables the Panel to take a view on anything in the Pay Policy Statement of 
an authority that relates to the salary of the Head of Paid Service (normally 
the Chief Executive or Chief Fire Officer). The Local Government (Wales) Act 
2015 extended this responsibility, on a temporary basis to Chief Officers of 
principal authorities. The Panel's approach to its use of these powers is set 
out in Section 15 of this Report and accords with the guidance issued to the 
Panel by the Welsh Government. 

 
4. In addition the Act provides that the Panel be given powers to determine 

remuneration for members of shadow authorities and newly forming principal 
councils. At the time of drafting the Welsh Government has yet to publish 
proposals for the future structure of local government in Wales.  

 
5. In determining the level of payments to members of local councils, the Panel 

has sought to meet its principle of ‘acceptability’ by ensuring that these are 
not ‘so great as to require a significant diversion of resources from key council 
priorities’. But Section 142(8) of the Measure is more explicit on ‘affordability’ 
when it states that “when setting an amount1 ...the Panel must take into 
account what it considers will be the likely financial impact of doing so on 

                                                             
1
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents/enacted. 

Tudalen 15

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents/enacted


5 
 

relevant authorities”. Meeting the requirement of the Measure in regard to 
affordability has been a challenge for the Panel, not least because of public 
interest in the payments made to members. The Panel acknowledges that the 
issue of affordability – in relation both to relevant authorities’ service budgets 
and to the electorate’s disposable incomes – is likely to exert a powerful 
impact on the public perception of any increases to members’ payments. 

 
6. As a charge on the public purse, payments to members for their time, worth 

and responsibility must be, and must be seen to be, fair and affordable. The 
Panel’s determinations in its 2009 Report aligned payments to the median 
gross earnings of all full-time employees resident in Wales as reported in the 
Annual Survey of Hourly Earnings (ASHE). The basic salary was set at three-
fifths of the All Wales Median Salary and senior salaries were set at multiples 
of this annual median salary. In setting these salaries the Panel recognised 
that there was an unpaid public service contribution.  

 
7. Because of the financial constraints on the public sector and local authorities 

specifically it has not been possible to maintain the link with average Welsh 
earnings. On the original basis of 3/5ths of the average the basic annual 
salary would be in excess of £14,700.  The Panel has been mindful of the 
financial constraint which is the reason that the basic salary of elected 
members of principal councils has not been increased since 2013. In reaching 
this decision account was taken of the freeze in salaries to the staff of 
councils. There has been a modest relaxation more recently and small 
increases have been allowed.  

8. In view of these factors, the Panel has decided that it is appropriate to provide 
for a very modest uplift to the basic annual salary of £100. equivalent to 
approximately 0.75%. No increase is proposed for senior salaries but these 
post holders will receive the uplift in the basic salary element. 

9. The Annual Report 2016 introduced two levels of salary for members of 
councils’ executives and committee chairs of principal authorities, Fire and 
Rescue Authorities (FRAs) and National Park Authorities (NPAs). This was to 
provide flexibility to enable authorities to reflect, in their schedules of 
remuneration, variations in the level of responsibility of portfolios and chairs. 
The Panel has examined the schedules for 2016/17 and has established that 
no principal council has introduced differential payments within cabinets or to 
chairs of committees. 

For members of executives: 

- 20 councils have paid at level 1 
-  2 councils have paid at level 2   

For committee chairs: 

- 20 councils have paid at level 1 
-  2 councils have paid at level 2 

Tudalen 16



6 
 

As this has only been in place for one year the Panel is retaining this facility 
for flexibility to reflect variations in the levels of responsibility in the 
remuneration applied to specific senior posts. 

10. Since the Welsh Government introduced regulations relating to Family 
Absence of elected members of principal councils, the Panel has incorporated 
remuneration issues related to such absences in its framework. We have 
received comments that the same arrangements do not apply to absences 
caused by long term sickness. We have recognised this and have included in 
this Report proposals to allow principal councils, NPAs and FRAs to make 
arrangements to cover cases of long term sickness absence of senior salary 
holders. 

11. The Panel is still concerned about the variation and inconsistency of support 
provided to members to enable them to discharge their functions effectively. 
We have repeatedly determined that such support should be provided without 
cost to the individual elected member, and that the cost of support must be 
appropriate, reasonable and publicly declared. Deductions must not be made 
from members’ salaries by the authority as a contribution towards those 
support costs which the authority considers necessary for the effectiveness 
and/or efficiency of members. However, we are aware that this has not been 
fully implemented by some authorities. It is intended to undertake a detailed 
analysis of the Schedules for 2016/17 and the publication information from the 
previous year and take up any matters of non-compliance individually.   
 

12. The Panel expects that the support provided should include taking account of 
the specific needs of individual members. The functions of Democratic 
Services Committees include a requirement to review the level of support 
provided to members to carry out their duties and the Panel would expect 
these committees to carry this out and bring forward proposals to the full 
council as to what is considered to be reasonable. Members of Democratic 
Service Committees and Heads of Democratic Services indicated at our 
meetings with them that it would be beneficial for authorities to be proactive in 
sharing information and establishing benchmarks for levels of provision and 
good practice in how authorities support the work of elected members. We are 
unaware whether there has been progress in implementing this proposal. 

13. The Panel notes that members have not always utilised the support that has 
been provided through the Panel’s remuneration framework, particularly in 
respect of the care allowance. Some members are reluctant to claim all that 
they are entitled to claim in support of their work, particularly the care 
allowance, because of concerns about the adverse publicity this can attract. 
Democratic Services Committees should take steps to encourage and 
facilitate eligible members in claiming these allowances. 
 

14. Care Allowances were available to elected members of principal councils 
several years prior to the Panel’s formation. We have extended the provision 
to all relevant authorities. There has been very limited take up across all of the 
organisations within the remit of the Panel. We believe that the major factor 
for this poor take up is concerns about adverse publicity on individual 

Tudalen 17



7 
 

members. So we have decided to allow optional approaches to the publication 
of costs of care. We have also decided to use the term “reimbursement of 
costs of care” to replace care allowance, as a result of discussion with the 
WLGA leadership.  

 
15. The Panel reiterates the need for all involved to encourage individual 

members to access all the available support, including for  care, which now 
includes its provision for members who themselves require personal support 
and assistance.  

 
16. The Panel has continued to contribute wherever possible to enhancing 

diversity in local government in Wales through its determinations. To take this 
a step further the Panel has produced a leaflet for prospective candidates on 
the remuneration of members of councils. We are aware and pleased that 
several principal councils have added this leaflet to their websites. 

 
17. Section 153 of the Measure empowers the Panel to monitor relevant 

authorities’ compliance with its requirements. Although there has been 
significant reduction in non-compliance within most authorities, Panel 
members will continue to engage with representatives of Democratic Services 
Committees and officers to discuss ways to improve the consistency and ease 
of access to this information in the future. 

 
18. However, there are still major issues to be addressed with community and 

town councils which the Panel will be raising with individual councils and their 
representative organisations.   

 
19. Since assuming the additional responsibility in respect of changes to the 

salaries of chief officers of principal councils the Panel has dealt with several 

submissions. The Panel’s decisions are attached at Section 11. 

Tudalen 18



8 
 

Implementation of Determinations  

Elections for principal councils and community and town councils will take place on 4 

May 2017.The effective dates for the implementation of the determinations contained 

in this Report are: 

 For principal councils: 

- Basic salary holders - 5 May 2017, (subject to the member having 

signed the declaration of acceptance) 

- Senior salary holders - following the first annual meeting of the new 

council. 

 For National Park Authorities –With effect from 1 April 2017 

 For Fire and Rescue Authorities – With effect from the Annual Meeting 

of the Authority 

 For community and town councils - 5 May 2017 (subject to the member 

having signed the declaration of acceptance) 

Tudalen 19



9 
 

1. The Panel’s Framework: Principles of Members’ 
Remuneration  

 
Upholding trust and confidence 
 
1.1 Citizens rightly expect that all those who choose to serve in local authorities 

uphold the public trust by embracing the values and ethics implicit in such 
public service. These principles underpin the contribution that the work of the 
Panel and its Framework make towards upholding public trust and confidence. 

 
Simplicity 
 

1.2 The Framework is clear and understandable. This is essential for the Panel to 
be able to communicate its determinations effectively to all those who are 
affected by, or who have an interest in, its work. 

 
Remuneration 
 

1.3  The Framework provides for payment to members of local authorities who 
carry a responsibility for serving their communities.. The level of remuneration 
should not act as a barrier to taking up or continuing in post. There should be 
no requirement that resources necessary to enable the discharge of duties are 
funded from the salary. The Framework provides additional recompense for 
those who are given greater levels of responsibility. 

 
Diversity 
 
1.4  Democracy is strengthened when the membership of local authorities 

adequately reflects the demographic and cultural make-up of the communities 
such authorities serve. The Panel will always take in to account the 
contribution its framework can make in encouraging the participation of those 
who are significantly under-represented at local authority level. 

 
Accountability 
 

1.5  Taxpayers and citizens have the right to receive value for money from public 
funds committed to the remuneration of those who are elected, appointed or 
co-opted to serve in the public interest. The Panel expects all principal 
councils to make information readily and appropriately available about the 
activities and remuneration of their members.  

 
Fairness 
 

1.6  The framework will be capable of being applied consistently to members of all 
local authorities within the Panel’s remit as a means of ensuring that levels of 
remuneration are fair, affordable and generally acceptable. 

 

Tudalen 20



10 
 

Quality 
 

1.7  The Panel recognises that the complex mix of governance, scrutiny and 
regulatory duties incumbent upon members requires them to engage with a 
process of continuous quality improvement. The Panel expects members to 
undertake such training and personal development opportunities as are 
required to properly discharge the duties for which they are remunerated. 

 
Transparency 
 

1.8 Transparency of members’ remuneration is in the public interest. Some 
members receive additional levels of remuneration by virtue of being elected 
or appointed to more than one public body. The framework serves to ensure 
that knowledge of all members’ remuneration is made easily available to the 
public. 

 

 
Remuneration of Officers  
 

1.9   The Panel applies these principles of fairness, accountability and transparency 
in all its determinations in relation to remuneration of members of all the 
authorities that fall within its remit. The same principles also apply when the 
Panel is required to make recommendations in relation to the remuneration of 
the paid officers of these authorities. 

 

 

Tudalen 21



11 
 

2. Annual Report Summary Page 

Type of Payment Type of Authority 

Principal 

Councils 

National Park 

Authorities 

Fire and 

Rescue 

Authorities 

Community and 

Town Councils 

Basic Salary page 12 page 26 page 30 N/A
2 

Senior Roles page 12 page 26 page 30 page 40 

Committee Chairs  page 14 page 26 page 30 N/A 

Opposition Groups page 15 N/A N/A N/A 

Civic Heads and Deputies page 16 N/A N/A page 41 

Presiding Members page 18 N/A N/A N/A 

Mileage page 38 page 38 page 38 page 41 

Other Travel Costs page 38 page 38 page 38 page 41 

Subsistence Costs page 39 page 39 page 39 page 42 

Costs of Care page 35 page 35 page 35 page 43 

Family Absence page 24 page 24 page 24 N/A 

Sickness Absence page 36 N/A N/A N/A 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees 

page 22 N/A N/A N/A 

Pension page 23 N/A N/A N/A 

Co-Optees page 33 page 33 page 33 N/A 

Specific or Additional 

Allowances 

page 20 page 27 page 31 N/A 

Payments to Community and 

Town Councillors 

N/A N/A N/A page 40 

Financial Loss Allowance N/A N/A N/A page 42 

Statement of Payments page 78 page 78 page 78 Page 78 

Schedule of Remuneration  Page 76 Page 76 Page 76 Page 76 

Salaries of Chief Executives and 

Chief Officers 

Page 45 N/A N/A N/A 

                                                             
2 Not Applicable 

Tudalen 22



12 
 

3. Payments to Elected Members of Principal Councils: 
Basic, Senior and Civic Salaries 

 
 
Basic salary for elected members of principal councils  
 

3.1     Although public sector funding continues to be constrained, the Panel 
considers that a modest increase in the basic salary is justified and has 
determined there shall be an increase of £100 (which equates to 0.75%) from 
spring 2017 to the basic salary for members of principal councils. This will 
help to limit further erosion of relative levels of remuneration in the basic 
salary paid in recognition of the duties expected of all elected members.  

 

Determination 1: Basic salary in 2017/18 for elected members of principal 
councils shall be £13,400. 

 
Note to Determination 1: 
 

The Panel originally determined (IRP Annual Report December, 2009) that 
the payment of basic salary would be aligned to the median gross earnings of 
all full-time employees resident in Wales as reported in the Annual Survey of 
Hourly Earnings (ASHE). Given the pressures on public expenditure it was not 
possible for this alignment to be maintained. If this alignment had continued 
the basic salary would currently be in the region of £14,700.  

 
 
Senior salaries for elected members of principal councils 

 
3.2 The limit on the number of senior salaries payable (‘the cap’) will remain in 

place. In 2017/18 the maximum number of senior salaries payable within each 
council will not be altered and will be as set out in Table 1.  

 

Tudalen 23



13 
 

 

Table 1: Maximum numbers of council membership eligible for payment of a senior 
salary  
 

Council Number of councillors Number of senior salaries  

Group A (populations over 200,000) 

Cardiff 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Swansea 

75 
75 
72 

19  
19 
19 

Group B (populations of 100,000 to 200,000) 

Bridgend 
Caerphilly 
Carmarthenshire 
Conwy 
Flintshire 
Gwynedd 
Neath Port Talbot 
Newport 
Pembrokeshire 
Powys 
Vale of Glamorgan 
Wrexham 

54 
73 
74 
59 
70 
75 
64 
50 
60 
73 
47 
52 

18 
18 
18 
18 
18 
18 
18 
18 
18 
18 
18 
18 

Group C (populations of up to100,000) 

Blaenau Gwent 
Ceredigion 
Denbighshire 
Isle of Anglesey 
Merthyr Tydfil 
Monmouthshire 
Torfaen 

42 
42 
47 
30 
33 
43 
44 

17 
17 
17 
15  
16 
17 
17 

 
 
Payments to members of the Executive, Chairs of committees and the Leader 
of the Opposition 
 

3.3 The Panel has revisited its previous decisions in respect of the senior salaries 
paid to these post holders.  

 
      (i)  The Executive: 
 

The visits to all principal councils by the Panel in 2009 produced the general 
conclusion that Executive members should be considered as working the 
equivalent of full time (up to 40 hours per week) but not necessarily nine to five. 
However, we have stressed that in reaching this decision there was recognition 
that with a potential of nearly 200 Executive members (excluding Leaders) there 
would be a variety of arrangements and that some portfolio holders would have 

Tudalen 24



14 
 

greater responsibility and workloads than others. But this was dependent on the 
specific organisational arrangements of the cabinets of each authority. 
   
We have now given further consideration to this issue following more recent 
visits as well as views expressed to us as to the appropriateness of paying 
cabinet members the same salary irrespective of the responsibility of the 
portfolio held. Although many councils operate with a cabinet of 10, the statutory 
maximum, others choose to have smaller cabinets and therefore the range of 
individual portfolios is much greater. We have concluded that this should be 
reflected in the remuneration framework. It is not the role of the Panel to 
determine the structure of cabinets of local authorities so the new determinations 
provide flexibility for each council to decide the appropriate range of portfolios to 
meet local needs, recognising that there is an inevitable variation on the level of 
responsibility and workload. 
 
 
Executive members may be paid at either of the two senior salary levels below: 

Level 1 -  
Group A - £32,100 
Group B - £29,100 

Group C - £26,100 
 

Level 2 -  
Group A - £28,900 

Group B - £26,200 
Group C - £23,500 

 
It will be a matter for individual authorities to decide the implementation of the 
determinations within their specific cabinet structures. 

  
 
  (ii) Chairs of Committees 
 

The Panel continues to take the view that the responsibility and function of 
chairing a committee is not generally influenced by population of the authority. 
However, there is recognition that the specific responsibility and workload of 
some chairs is greater than others, and this has been a topic of ongoing dialogue 
and debate. We consider that this should be reflected in the remuneration 
framework.  
 
The Panel is therefore introducing two levels of remuneration for chairs of 
committees: 
 
Level 1 chairs will be paid a salary of £22,100 

Level 2 chairs will be paid a salary of £20,100 
 
It is a matter for individual authorities to determine at which level a chair is paid 
to reflect the appropriate responsibility attached to the specific post  

Tudalen 25



15 
 

 
The Senior Salary Bands 
  

Determination 2: The Panel has determined that senior salary levels in 
2017/18 for members of principal councils shall be as set out in table 2. 

 
 
Table 2: Basic salary and senior salaries payable to members of principal councils 

 

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £13,400 

 
Group A 
(Cardiff, 
Rhondda  
Cynon Taf, 
Swansea) 

Group B 
(Bridgend, 
Caerphilly, 
Carmarthenshire, 
Conwy, Flintshire, 
Gwynedd, Newport, 
Neath Port Talbot, 
Pembrokeshire, 
Powys, 
Vale of Glamorgan, 
Wrexham) 

Group C 
(Blaenau Gwent, 
Ceredigion, 
Denbighshire, 
Merthyr Tydfil, 
Monmouthshire, 
Torfaen, Isle of 
Anglesey) 

Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary) 

Band 1 

Leader 
Deputy leader 

 
£53,100 
£37,100 

 
£48,100 
£33,600 

 
£43,100 
£30,100 

Band 2 
Executive members Level 1  

Executive members Level 2  

 

£32,100 

£28,900 

 

£29,100 

£26,200 

 

£26,100 

£23,500 

Band 3 

Committee chairs (if remunerated):        Level 1             £22,100 
                                                                Level 2             £20,100 

Band 4 
Leader of largest opposition group3 £22,100 

Band 5 
Leader of other political groups £17,100 

 
Table 2 notes: 

 
a. The Panel considers that the leadership and executive roles (Band 1 and 2 

salaries respectively) carry the greatest individual accountability and that ‘size 

                                                             
3
 Leader of largest opposition group. See IRPW Regulations, Annex 2, Part 1(2) for a definition of 

“largest opposition group” and “other political group”. 

Tudalen 26



16 
 

of population’ remains a major factor in influencing levels of responsibility and 
the use of the three population groups (A, B and C) has therefore been 
retained. For information: Group A Population 200,000 and above; Group B 
Population 100,001 to 199,999; Group C Population up to 100,000. 
 

b. No increase is proposed for senior salaries but post holders will receive the 
uplift in the basic salary paid to all councillors. 

 
c. Committee chairs will be paid at Band 3, either Level 1 or 2 (for decision by 

the authority); although an individual authority may determine not to pay 
particular chairs. 

 
d. The Panel is aware of the importance placed by the Welsh Government on 

the value of the scrutiny function for local democracy and has noted that in 
total there are currently 89 chairs of scrutiny who receive senior salaries. The 
Panel believes that this is a clear recognition of the importance of this 
function. 

 
e. The stipulation that an opposition group leader or any other group leader must 

represent at least 10% of the council membership before qualifying for a 
senior salary remains unchanged.  

 
f. The Panel has determined that a council must make a senior salary available 

to the leader of the largest opposition group.  
 

g. The Panel has determined that, if remunerated, a Band 5 senior salary must 
be paid to leaders of other political groups.  

 

See IRPW Regulations, Annex 2, Part 1(2) for a definition of “largest opposition 
group” and “other political group”. 

 
 
Payments to Civic Heads and Deputies (Civic Salaries) 
 

3.4 The Panel maintains the view that it is appropriate for authorities to set 
remuneration levels which reflect activity and responsibility of civic heads and 
deputies rather than the local population. The Panel is aware but surprised that 
many councils have set the salaries for their civic heads and deputies to accord 
with the population groups rather than necessarily reflecting the specific 
responsibilities attached to the roles. For the removal of doubt, the three 
established groups of principal councils calculated by population are not 
required to be applied in relation to payments to civic heads and deputies.   

 
3.5    The Panel has set three possible levels of civic salary - higher, mid and lower.  

Each authority must decide which level (if any) is to be paid for each of these 
roles according to local factors. For example, the civic head of a small council 
may be paid at the highest rate, whilst the civic head of a large council may be 
paid at the lowest rate, rates of payment to deputy civic heads may be similarly 
varied. This also allows for civic heads and their deputies in the same authority 

Tudalen 27



17 
 

to be paid at different levels.  
 

3.6    A council may decide not to apply any civic salary to the posts of civic head 
and/or deputy civic head. 

 
 

Determination 3:  The Panel has determined that (where paid) civic salaries 
at the following levels are payable (Table 3) and will be applied by principal 
councils as each considers appropriate, taking account of the anticipated 
workloads and responsibilities. 

 

Table 3: Civic salaries (where paid) shall be payable as follows to members of 

principal councils 

Remuneration of civic heads and deputy civic heads (inclusive of basic 
salaries) 

Responsibility Level Civic heads  Deputy civic heads 

Level 1 £24,100 £18,100 

Level 2 £21,600 £16,100 

Level 3 £19,100 £14,100 

 
Table 3 notes: 
 

a. The posts of civic head and deputy civic head are not included in the cap (with 
the exception of Isle of Anglesey and Merthyr Tydfil Councils).  

 
b. The Panel’s requirement that members should not have to pay for the cost of 

the support (see determination 7) that is needed to carry out their duties 
applies also in respect of civic heads. The Panel recognises the range of 
provision made for civic heads in respect of transport, secretarial support, 
charitable giving and clothing. The Panel does not consider it appropriate for 
councils to expect or require that contributions towards any such provision 
should be met from the net senior salaries paid to civic heads. 

 
3.7.   Civic roles are senior posts within councils which are distinct from political or 

executive leadership. In addition to chairing major meetings the civic head is 
the authority’s ‘first citizen’ and ‘ambassador’, representing the council to a 
wide variety of institutions and organisations, and this requires the post holder 
to exemplify and promote good citizenship. 

 
3.8.  Deputy civic heads are often ‘civic heads in waiting’ for the following year, 

‘learning the ropes’ by participating in a separate schedule of events as well 
as deputising for the civic head. 

  
3.9.    The intention of the civic allowance as defined by sections 22(5) and 24(4) of 

the Local Government Act 1972 remains to allow a council to pay a chair and 

Tudalen 28



18 
 

vice-chair of a council a salary which it thinks fit for the purposes of meeting 
the expenses of those offices. 

 
3.10.   In many instances civic heads receive secretarial support and are provided 

with transport for official duties and can access a separate hospitality budget 
which is managed and controlled by council officers. 

 
3.11   The level of support given, the personal financial outlay and the level of 

activity during the year of office varies considerably between authorities and 
the size of authority does not necessarily relate to the commitment required , 
or given by, civic heads.  

 
3.12    All principal councils have a number of community councils within their areas 

and many also include town councils.  Where a community council has a 
particularly active civic head this may have some impact on the workload of 
the principal council’s civic head. 

 
3.13    The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 allows councils to 

appoint a presiding member whose role it will be to chair meetings of the 
whole council. Where appointed, there would be a consequential reduction in 
the responsibilities of the respective civic head. 

 
 
Payments to Presiding Members 

 

Determination 4: The Panel has determined that, where appointed and if 
remunerated, a presiding member must be paid a Band 3 Level 1 senior 
salary. This post will count towards the cap. 

 

Determination 5: The Panel has determined that the post of deputy 
presiding member will not be remunerated. 

 
 
Key factors underpinning the Panel’s determinations: 
 
3.14 The basic salary, paid to all elected members, is remuneration for the 

responsibility of community representation and participation in the scrutiny, 
regulatory and related functions of local governance for the time equivalent of 
three days a week. Any time commitment beyond three days is an unpaid 
public service contribution. 

 
3.15 The prescribed salary and expenses must be paid in full to each member 

unless an individual has independently and voluntarily opted in writing to the 
authority’s proper officer to forego all or any element of the payment.  

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 29



19 
 

The following must be applied: 
 

a) An elected member must not be remunerated for more than one senior post 
within his or her authority (but see section 4 on JOSCs). 

 
b) An elected member must not be paid a senior salary and a civic salary. 

 
c) All senior and civic salaries are paid inclusive of basic salary. 

 
d) If a council chooses to have more than one remunerated deputy leader, the 

difference between the senior salary for the deputy leader and other executive 
members should be divided by the number of deputy leaders and added to 
the senior salary for other executive members in order to calculate the senior 
salary payable to each deputy leader. 

 
e) Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a 

salary from any NPA or FRA to which they have been appointed. 
 
 

 
Supporting the work of local authority elected members 

 
3.16 The Panel has continued its programme of meetings with Chairs and 

members of Democratic Service Committees and Heads of Democratic 
Services. These meetings have provided valuable opportunities for members 
and officers to discuss the variations that occur and to share and understand 
the benefits gained by properly supporting the ability of members to discharge 
their basic duties effectively. Heads of Democratic Services have suggested 
that it would be beneficial for authorities to be pro-active in sharing information 
and establishing benchmarks for levels of provision and good practice in how 
authorities support the work of elected members. The Panel shares this view. 

 
3.17 The Panel expects that the support provided should take account of the 

specific needs of individual members. The functions of Democratic Services 
Committees include a requirement to review the level of support provided to 
members to carry out their duties and the Panel would expect these 
committees to carry this out and bring forward proposals to the full council as 
to what is considered to be reasonable.  

 
3.18 The Panel considers it is necessary for each elected member to have ready 

use of telephone and e-mail services, and to have electronic access to 
appropriate information via an internet connection. This comprises the 
necessary provision for a member to be in proper contact with council 
services and to maintain contact with those they represent. Many councils in 
Wales are committed to ‘paperless working’ and without electronic access a 
member would be significantly limited in his or her ability to discharge their 
duties. As stated above, it is the responsibility of each council through its 
Democratic Services Committee to provide support based on an assessment 
of the needs of its members. When members’ additional needs or matters of 
disability apply, or there are specific training requirements indicated, each 

Tudalen 30



20 
 

authority will need to assess any particular requirements of individual 
members. It would not be appropriate for facilities required by members only 
to be available within council offices within office hours.   

 
 

Determination 6:  The Panel has determined that each authority, through its 
Democratic Services Committee, must ensure that all its members are given 
as much support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties 
effectively. All elected members should be provided with adequate 
telephone and email facilities and electronic access to appropriate 
information. 

 

Determination 7:  The Panel has determined that such support should be 
without cost to the individual member. Deductions must not be made from 
members’ salaries by the respective authority as a contribution towards the 
cost of support which the authority has decided necessary for the 
effectiveness and/or efficiency of members. 

 
 
 

Specific or additional senior salaries  
 
3.19 The Panel has allowed for greater flexibility through the provision for 

authorities to apply for specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall 
within the current remuneration framework, or which could not be 
accommodated within the maximum number of senior salaries relating to the 
authority.  

 

Determination 8: The Panel has determined to include a provision for specific 
or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration 
Framework. 

 
3.20 Guidance to local authorities on the application process was issued in April 

2014 and incorporated the following principles: 
 

a. The total number of senior salaries cannot exceed fifty percent4 of the 
membership. 

 

b. Applications will have to be approved by the authority as a whole (this 
cannot be delegated) prior to submission to the Panel. 

 

                                                             
4
 Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 Section 142 (5) The proportion fixed by the Panel in 

accordance with subsection (4) may not exceed fifty percent unless the consent of the Welsh 
Ministers has been obtained. 

Tudalen 31



21 
 

c. There must be clear evidence that the post/posts have additional 
responsibility demonstrated by a description of the role, function and 
duration. 

 

d. Each application will have to indicate the timing for a formal review of the 
role to be considered by the authority as a whole.  

 

 
The Panel’s determinations on Travel and Subsistence, Reimbursement of 
costs of care and Family Absence are now set out in separate sections of this 
Annual Report.  
 

Tudalen 32



22 
 

4. Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC)  

 
4.1.  The Panel has set out the arrangements for the remuneration of chairs of 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Sub-committees. The payments 
align with those of chairs of committees of principal councils set out in Section 
3 (Level 2). 

 
The following determinations apply: 
 

Determination 9: The chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
eligible for a salary equivalent to that part of a Band 3 Level 2 senior salary 
that remunerates a committee chair of a principal authority (£6,700). 

 
Determination 10: In cases where the chair is already in receipt of a senior 
salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be £3,350. 

 

Determination 11: The chair of a sub committee of a JOSC is eligible for a 
salary of £1,675.  

 

Determination 12: In cases where the chair of the sub committee is already in 
receipt of a senior salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be £837.  

 

Determination 13: Payments to chairs of task and finish sub committees are 
to be pro-rated to the duration of the task. 

 

Determination 14: Payments made to a chair of a JOSC, or a chair of a sub 
committee of a JOSC, are additional to the maximum proportion of the 
authority’s membership eligible for a senior salary. It should be noted that the 
statutory limit of no more than 50% of a council’s membership receiving a 
senior salary applies (Section 142 (5) of the Measure). 

 

Determination 15: A deputy chair of a JOSC or sub committee is not eligible 
for payment. 

 

Determination 16: Co-optees to a JOSC or to a sub committee are not eligible 
for a co-opted member fee unless they are appointed by an authority under 
Section 144(5) of the Measure. 

 

 
4.2.  The remuneration of chairs of JOSCs (or a sub-committee of JOSCs) is not 

prescribed and is a matter for the constituent councils to decide whether such 
a post will be paid. However, if a senior salary is paid, it must be at the level 
set out in section 4 of this report. 

Tudalen 33



23 
 

5. Pension Provision for Elected Members of Principal 
Councils 

 
5.1 The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 provides a power to the Panel 

to make determinations on pension entitlement for elected members of 
principal councils. 

 

Determination 17: The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) shall apply to all eligible elected members of principal 
councils. 

Tudalen 34



24 
 

6. Entitlement to Family Absence 

This section applies to members of principal authorities.   
 

6.1  The Regulations relating to Family Absence for elected members of principal 
councils were approved by the National Assembly for Wales in November 
2013. 

 
6.2.   The Panel considered the implications for the remuneration of such members 

who are given absence under the terms of the Welsh Government 
Regulations and the Panel’s determinations are set out below. 

 
 

Determination 18: An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary 
when taking family absence under the regulations irrespective of the 
attendance record immediately preceding the commencement of the family 
absence.   

 

Determination 19: When a senior salary holder is eligible for family absence, 
he/she will continue to receive the salary for the duration of the absence. 

 

Determination 20: It is a matter for the authority to decide whether or not to 
make a substitute appointment. The elected member substituting for a 
senior salary holder taking family absence will be eligible to be paid a senior 
salary, if the authority so decides.    

 

Determination 21: If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding 
the maximum number of senior salaries which relates to it, as set out in the 
Panel's Annual Report, an addition to the maximum will be allowed for the 
duration of the substitution. However, this will not apply to the Isle of 
Anglesey or Merthyr Tydfil Councils if it would result in the number of senior 
salaries exceeding fifty percent of the Council membership. Specific 
approval of Welsh Ministers is required in such circumstances.   

 

Determination 22: When a Council agrees a paid substitution for family 
absence, the Panel must be informed, within 14 days of the date of the 
decision, of the details including the particular post and the duration of the 
substitution.   

 

Determination 23: The Council’s schedule of remuneration must be amended 
to reflect the implication of the family absence. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 35



25 
 

7. Payments to Members of National Park Authorities 

 
Structure of National Park Authorities 

 
7.1  The 3 National Parks in Wales - Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast and 

Snowdonia  were formed to protect spectacular landscapes and provide 
recreation opportunities for the public. The Environment Act 1995 led to the 
creation of the 3 corresponding National Park Authorities (NPAs).  In 
managing the National Park, the Authority has 3 main purposes: 

 
 to protect the natural beauty of the Park; 
 to help visitors enjoy and understand it; and 
 to foster the wellbeing of local people. 

 
7.2 National Park Authorities have a committee of Members who are either 

elected members nominated by the Principal Councils within the National Park 
area or are members appointed by the Welsh Government through the Public 
Appointments Process.  Welsh Government appointed and council nominated 
members are treated equally in relation to remuneration.   

 
7.3 The structure of the Members’ Committee at each of the 3 national parks is 

set out in Table 4. 
 
Table 4: Membership of Welsh National Park Authorities 
 
National Park 
Authority 

Total 
Member
ship 

Principal Council Members Welsh 
Government 
appointed 
Members 

Brecon 
Beacons 

24 16: 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council – 1 
Carmarthenshire County Council – 2 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – 1 
Monmouthshire County Council – 2 
Powys County Council – 8 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
- 1 
Torfaen County Borough Council - 1 

8 

Pembrokeshire 
Coast 

18 12: 
Pembrokeshire County Council - 12 

6 

Snowdonia 18 12: 
Conwy County Borough Council – 3 
Gwynedd County Borough Council – 9 
 

6 

 
 

7.4 In addition, Standards Committees of NPAs have Independent Co-opted 
members whose remuneration is included in the framework as set out in 
Section 9.  

 

Tudalen 36



26 
 

7.5 In considering remuneration of members of NPAs, the Panel has based its 
 determinations on the following key points: 

 

 NPAs manage their work via formal authority meetings, committees and 
task and finish groups. Each has a Development/Management/Planning 
Committee and other committees include Performance and Resources 
and Audit and Scrutiny. Ordinary NPA members are members of at least 
one committee as well as being involved in site visits and inspection 
panels. 

 

 There is an expectation that members will participate in training and 
development.  

 

 The chair of an NPA has a leadership and influencing role in the authority, 
a representational role similar in some respects to that of a civic head and 
a high level of accountability. The chair is not only the leader of the 
authority but is also the public face of the particular national park and is 
the link with the Minister and AMs with whom they have regular meetings. 
The role requires a high level of commitment and time. 

 
Basic and senior salaries  

 
7.6 The Panel has previously determined that the role of ordinary members of an 

 NPA should be aligned to the basic salary of a member of a principal council, 
 and that the time commitment required is a notional 42 days per year. This  
 remains the basis of the Panel’s determinations. 

 
7.7 Although public sector funding continues to be constrained the Panel 

considers that a modest increase in the basic salary is justified and has 
determined there shall be an increase of £100 (which equates to 0.75%) from 
1 April 2017 in the level of basic salary for members of principal councils. This 
will help to limit further erosion of relative levels of remuneration in the basic 
salary paid in recognition of the duties expected of members. 

 
7.8 Therefore, there is a corresponding increase of £25 on the basic salary for 

members of NPAs from 1 April 2017. 
 
7.9 The Panel has also previously determined that the remuneration of an NPA 

chair should be aligned to that part of a Band 3 Level 1 senior salary received 
by a committee chair of a principal council.  

 
7.10 In 2014, the Panel provided local flexibility so that an NPA can decide at 

which of two levels the roles of deputy chair and up to 2 other committee 
chairs can be remunerated. An NPA may choose to pay its deputy chair 
and/or committee chairs a salary of either £7,325 or £6,025, commensurate 
with the significant and sustained duties to be discharged in a particular role. 

 
7.11 During 2016, the Panel met with members and officers of the 3 NPAs.  

Feedback was received during the Panel’s visits about the importance of 

Tudalen 37



27 
 

members’ attendance at meetings and the impact non-attendance can have.  
The Panel is minded to consider this further during 2016/17.   

 
 
Additional Senior Salaries 

 
7.12  Feedback was also received during the Panel’s visits to NPAs that its 

determination that up to two NPA Committee Chairs could receive a senior 
salary could be restrictive in the NPAs discharging their governance 
requirements.     

 
7.13 The Panel allows  principal councils greater flexibility to apply for specific or 

additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration 
Framework. The Panel is extending this provision to NPAs as reflected in the 
following principles: 

 
a. Applications will have to be approved by the authority as a whole (this 

cannot be delegated) prior to submission to the Panel. 

b. There must be clear evidence that the post/posts have additional 
responsibility demonstrated by a description of the role, function and 
duration. 

c. Each application will have to indicate the timing for a formal review of the 
role to be considered by the authority as a whole. 

 
7.14 The Panel has made the following determinations:  
 

Determination 24: The basic salary for NPA ordinary members should be 
£3,625  

 

Determination 25: The senior salary of the chair of an NPA should be 
£12,325 

 

Determination 26: An NPA senior salary can be paid to a Deputy Chair, and 
up to two committee chairs where there is significant and sustained 
responsibility.  This can be paid at either of the following levels to be 
decided by the authority to reflect the appropriate responsibility: £6,025 or 
£7,325 

 

Determination 27: The Panel has determined to include a provision for 
NPAs to apply for specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall 
within the current Remuneration Framework. 

 

Tudalen 38



28 
 

 

Determination 28: Members must not receive more than one NPA senior 
salary. 

 

Determination 29: An NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA basic 
salary and must reflect significant and sustained responsibility 

 

Determination 30: Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or 
Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which they 
have been appointed. 

 
 
The Panel’s determinations on Travel and Subsistence, Reimbursements of 
Costs of Care and Family Absence are now set out in separate sections of this 
Annual Report. 
 
 

Tudalen 39



29 
 

8. Payments to Members of Welsh Fire and Rescue  
Authorities  

 
Structure of Fire and Rescue Authorities  
 
8.1 The 3 Fire and Rescue Services in Wales: Mid and West Wales, North 
 Wales and South Wales and Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs) were formed 
 as part of Local Government re-organisation in 1996.  
 
8.2 FRAs comprise of elected Members who are nominated by the Principal 

Councils within the Fire and Rescue Service area.   
 
8.3 The structure of the each of the 3 FRAs is set out in Table 5 
  
 
Table 5: Membership of Fire and Rescue Authorities 

 
Name of Fire and Rescue 
Authority 

Number of Local Authority Members 

Mid and West Wales 25: 
Carmarthenshire County Council – 5 
Ceredigion County Council – 2 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council – 4 
Pembrokeshire County Council – 3 
Powys County Council – 4 
Swansea City and County Council - 7 

North Wales 28: 
Conwy County Borough Council – 5 
Denbighshire County Council – 4 
Flintshire County Council – 6 
Gwynedd Council – 5 
Isle of Anglesey County Council – 3 
Wrexham County Borough Council – 5 

South Wales 24: 
Bridgend County Borough Council – 2 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council – 1 
Caerphilly County Borough Council – 3 
Cardiff City Council – 5 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – 1 
Monmouthshire County Council – 2 
Newport City Council - 2 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council - 4 
Torfaen County Borough Council – 2 
Vale of Glamorgan Council -2 

 
8.4 In addition, Standards Committees of FRAs have independent co-opted 
 members whose remuneration is included in the framework as set out in 
 Section 9.  
 

Tudalen 40



30 
 

8.5 In considering remuneration of members of FRAs, the Panel has based its 
 determinations on the following key points: 
 

 The chair has a leadership and influencing role in the authority, and a high 
level of accountability especially when controversial issues relating to the 
emergency service arise. In addition to fire authority meetings, all FRAs 
have committees that include in different combinations: audit, performance 
management, scrutiny, human resources, resource management as well 
as task and finish groups and disciplinary panels. As well as attending 
formal meetings of the authority and committees, members are 
encouraged to take on a community engagement role, including visiting 
fire stations. 

 

 There is a strong training ethos in FRAs. Members are expected to 
participate in training and development. Induction programmes are 
available as well as specialist training for appeals and disciplinary 
hearings.  
 

 Training sessions often follow on from authority meetings to make the 
training accessible.  

 
Basic and Senior Salaries 

 
8.6 The Panel has previously determined that the remuneration of ordinary 

members of an FRA should be aligned to the basic salary of a member of a 
principal council and that the time commitment required is a notional 20 days 
per year.  This remains the basis of the Panel’s determinations. 

 
8.7 Although public sector funding continues to be constrained the Panel 

considers that a modest increase in the basic annual salary of elected 
members is justified and has determined there shall be an increase of £100 
(which equates to 0.75%) from the date of the authority’s Annual General 
Meeting in the level of basic salary for members of principal councils. This will 
help to limit further erosion of relative levels of remuneration in the basic 
salary paid in recognition of the duties expected of members.  

 
8.8 Therefore, there is a corresponding increase of £15 on the basic salary for 

members of FRAs from the date of the authority’s Annual General Meeting. 
 
8.9 The Panel determined that the remuneration of an FRA chair should be 

aligned to that part of a Band 3 Level 1 senior salary received by a committee 
chair of a principal council.  

 
8.10 The Panel determined that the remuneration of an FRA deputy chair where 

there is significant and sustained senior responsibility will be aligned with the 
Band 5 senior salary.  

 
8.11 The Panel has determined that up to two FRA committee chairs where there 

is significant and sustained responsibility can be remunerated.  
 

Tudalen 41



31 
 

8.12 During 2016, the Panel met with members and officers of the 3 FRAs.  
Feedback was received about the importance of members’ attendance at 
meetings and the impact non-attendance can have.  The Panel is minded to 
consider this further during 2016/17.  

 
 
Additional Senior Salaries 

 
8.13 The Panel allows  principal councils greater flexibility to apply for specific or 

additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration 
Framework. The Panel is extending this provision to FRAs as reflected in the 
following principles 

 
a. Applications will have to be approved by the authority as a whole (this cannot 

be delegated) prior to submission to the Panel. 

b. There must be clear evidence that the post/posts have additional 
responsibility demonstrated by a description of the role, function and duration. 

c. Each application will have to indicate the timing for a formal review of the role 
to be considered by the authority as a whole. 

 

8.14   The Panel has considered requests from FRAs to allow them to pay salaries 

to chairs of local pension boards established under the Firefighters’ Pension 

Scheme (Wales) Regulations 2015. Those Regulations already give FRAs the 

power to decide how local pension boards are to work and to pay the chair 

and members if they wish. Therefore it is not appropriate for the Panel to 

make a determination empowering FRAs to pay salaries to local pension 

board chairs. The senior salaries in Determination 33 or 34 cannot be used for 

this role.  

 8.15 The Panel has made the following determinations: 

 

 

Determination 31: The basic salary for FRA ordinary members should be 
£1,715  

 

Determination 32: The senior salary of the chair of an FRA should be 
£10,415. 

 

Determination 33: An FRA senior salary can be paid to the deputy chair, and 
up to two chairs of committees where there is significant and sustained 
responsibility.  This should be paid at £5,415. 

Tudalen 42



32 
 

 

Determination 34: The Panel has determined to include a provision for 
FRAs to apply for specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall 
within the current Remuneration Framework. 

 

Determination 35: Members must not receive more than one FRA senior 
salary. 

 

Determination 36: An FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA basic 
salary and must reflect significant and sustained responsibility 

 

Determination 37: Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or 
Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any FRA to which they 
have been nominated. 

 
 
The Panel’s determinations on Travel and Subsistence, Reimbursement of 
Costs of Care and Family Absence are now set out in separate sections of this 
Annual Report. 
 

 
 

Tudalen 43



33 
 

9. Payments to co-opted Members of Principal Councils, 
National Park Authorities and Fire & Rescue Authorities5 

 
9.1 The Panel has determined that a daily/half daily fee is appropriate 

remuneration for the important role undertaken by co-opted members of 
authorities with voting rights. The level of payments is equivalent to the 
current daily rates for chairs and members of the Welsh Government’s Band 2 
sponsored bodies.  The Panel notes there has been no uplift in these payment 
levels across such bodies since 2010. 

 
9.2 Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs can decide on the maximum number of 

days in any one year for which co-opted members may be paid. 
 
9.3 The determinations are set out below: 
 

Determination 38: Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must pay the 
following fees to co-opted members (Table 6) (who have voting rights). 

 
Table 6: Fees for co-opted members (with voting rights)  
 

Chairs of standards, and audit committees £256  
(4 hours and over) 
£128 (up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary members of standards committees who also chair 
standards committees for community and town councils 

£226 daily fee  
(4 hours and over) 
£113 (up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary members of standards committees; education 
scrutiny committee; crime and disorder scrutiny committee 
and audit committee 

£198 
(4 hours and over) 
£99 (up to 4 hours) 

  

Determination 39: Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is eligible to 
be included in claims made by co-opted members the extent of which can be 
determined by the appropriate officer in advance of the meeting.  

 

Determination 40: Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting can 
be included in the claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to 
the maximum of the daily rate). 

 

Determination 41: The appropriate officer within the authority can determine 
in advance whether a meeting is programmed for a full day and the fee will 
be paid on the basis of this determination even if the meeting finishes 
before four hours has elapsed. 

 

                                                             
5 This section does not apply to co-opted members of community and town councils. 

Tudalen 44



34 
 

Determination 42: Meetings eligible for the payment of fees include other 
committees and working groups (including task and finish groups), pre-
meetings with officers, training and attendance at conferences or any other 
formal meeting to which co-opted members are requested to attend. 

 
 
The Panel’s determinations on Travel and Subsistence, Reimbursement of 
costs of care and Family Absence are now set out in separate sections of this 
Annual Report. 

 

Tudalen 45



35 
 

10. Reimbursement of Costs of Care  

 
10.1.  This section applies to members of principal councils, National Park 

Authorities, Fire and Rescue Authorities and to co-opted members of these 
authorities. (Similar provision for Community and Town Councils is given in 
section 13 as there is a different approach to such members, principally that 
provision is permissive.) 

  

Determination 43: All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of 

necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by 

informal or formal carers) and for personal assistance needs up to a maximum 

of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on production of 

receipts from the carer. 

 
10.2.  The reimbursement of the costs of care is intended to enable any person 

whose ability to participate as a member of an authority would be limited by 
their responsibilities as a carer, or for a member to receive care support to 
enable that individual to carry out their role. The Panel recognises that there is 
some sensitivity concerning the publication of this legitimate expense and has 
reflected this in the options for publication as set out in Annex 4. However, the 
Panel urges authorities to promote this reimbursement and encourage greater 
take-up of this support to facilitate increased engagement amongst authority 
members.  

 
10.3.  Such provision would be especially relevant to those individuals in sectors of 

the population that are currently under-represented in local government but 
who may become engaged when awareness of the support available for the 
costs of care becomes more widely known.  

 

Tudalen 46



36 
 

11. Sickness Absence for Senior Salary Holders 

11.1. The Family Absence Regulations (approved by the National Assembly in 
2014) are very specific relating to entitlement and only available for elected 
members of principal councils. Absence for reasons of ill-health is not 
included. 

11.2. Instances have been raised with the Panel of senior salary holders on long 
term sickness and the perceived unfairness in comparison with the 
arrangements for family absence. In consequence, councils are faced with the 
dilemma of: 

 Operating without the individual member but still paying him/her the 
senior salary. 

 Replacing the member who therefore loses the senior salary (but 
retains the basic salary). 

11.3. The Panel has considered this and is amending the Framework to provide 
specific arrangements for long term sickness as set out below: 

a) Long term sickness is defined as certified absences in excess of 4 
weeks. 

b) The maximum length of sickness absence within these proposals is 26 
weeks or until the individual’s term of office ends, whichever is sooner 
(but if reappointed any remaining balance of the 26 weeks will be 
included).  

c) Within these parameters a senior salary holder on long term sickness 
can, if the authority decides continue to receive remuneration for the post 
held. 

d) It is a decision of the authority whether to make a substitute appointment 
but the substitute will be eligible to be paid the senior salary appropriate 
to the post. 

e) If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum 
number of senior salaries payable for that authority as set out in the 
Annual Report, an addition will be allowed for the duration of the 
substitution. (However this would not apply to Merthyr Tydfil or the Isle of 
Anglesey councils if it would result in more than 50% of the membership 
receiving a senior salary. It would also not apply in respect of a council 
executive member if it would result in the cabinet exceeding 10 posts - 
the statutory maximum). 

f) When an authority agrees a paid substitution the Panel must be informed 
within 14 days of the decision of the details including the specific post 
and the estimated length of the substitution. The authority’s Schedule of 
Remuneration must be amended accordingly. 

g) It does not apply to elected members of principal councils who are not 
senior post holders as they continue to receive basic salary for at least 

Tudalen 47



37 
 

six months irrespective of attendance and any extension beyond this 
timescale is a matter for the authority. 

11.4. This arrangement applies to members of principal councils, National Park 
Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities who are senior salary holders but 
not co-opted members. 

 

Tudalen 48



38 
 

12. Reimbursement of Travel and Subsistence Costs when 
on Official Business 

12.1. This section applies to members of principal authorities, National Park 
Authorities, Fire and Rescue Authorities and to co-opted members of these 
authorities.  (Similar provision for Community and Town Councils is contained 
in section 13 as there is a different approach to such members, principally that 
the provision is permissive.) 

 
12.2. Members may claim reimbursement for travel and subsistence (meals and 

accommodation) costs where these have arisen as a result of undertaking 
official duties. Expenses reimbursed to members by their local authority are 
exempt from Income Tax and employee NICs.    

 
12.3. The Panel is aware that in some instances members with disabilities have 

been reluctant to claim legitimate travel expenses because of an adverse 
response following the publication of their travel costs. As an alternative travel 
arrangements could be made directly by the authority in such circumstances. 

 

12.4. The Panel has determined that there will be no change to mileage rates which 
members are entitled to claim. All authorities may only reimburse travel costs 
for their members undertaking official business within and/or outside the 
authority’s boundaries at the current HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 
rates which are: 

 
Reimbursement of mileage costs 
 

45p per mile Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car 

25p per mile Over 10,000 miles in a year by car 

5p per mile Per passenger carried on authority business 

24p per mile Motor cycles 

20p per mile Bicycles 

 
12.5. Where a member who is on official business is driven by a third party (not a 

member or officer of that authority), the member can claim mileage at the 
prescribed rates plus any parking or toll fees provided the authority is satisfied 
that the member has incurred these costs. 

 
Reimbursement of other travel costs 
 

12.6. All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts 
showing the actual cost and will be subject to any requirement or further 
limitation that an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful 
of choosing the most cost effective method of travel.  

 
 

 

Tudalen 49



39 
 

 

Reimbursement of subsistence costs 

 

£28 per day Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not 
provided in the overnight charge 

£200 per night London  

£95 per night Elsewhere  

£30 per night Staying with friends and/or family 

 
12.7. These rates are in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended practice 

is that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and paid for on 
behalf of members by the relevant authority, in which case an authority may 
set its own reasonable limits and the limits which apply when an individual 
member claims in arrears for overnight accommodation costs do not then 
apply. 

 
12.8. All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for their 

members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of receipted 
claims except for occasions when members stay with friends and/or family. 

 
12.9. There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel costs 

within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be repeated on 
consecutive days. Where it is reasonable and cost effective to reimburse 
overnight accommodation costs, instead of repeated daily mileage costs, then 
it is permissible to do so. 

 
12.10. It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) between 

different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers a 24 hour 
period and can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided such a claim is 
accompanied by receipts. 

 
 

Tudalen 50



40 
 

13. Payments to Members of Community and Town 
Councils 

 
13.1.  The Panel has had responsibility for the remuneration of community and town 

councils since the Measure of 2011 and its first determinations for such 
members came into effect in the financial year 2013/2014. Subsequent 
Annual Reports have developed ideas for remuneration of community and 
town councillors, allowing flexibility to meet appropriate responsibilities. 

 
13.2. The Panel recognises a wide variation in geography, scope and scale across 

735 community and town councils in Wales, from small community councils 
with relatively minimal expenditure and few meetings to large town councils 
with significant assets and responsibilities. 

 
13.3. Therefore determinations 44 to 51 are permissive powers, each of which 

requires a formal decision by each community or town council annually. A 
community or a town council can adopt any or all of the determinations but if it 
does make such a decision, it must apply to all its members.  

  
13.4. An individual member may make a personal decision to elect to forgo part or 

all of the entitlement to any of these allowances by giving notice in writing to 
the proper officer of the council. 

 
13.5. In arriving at its determinations, the Panel has made considerable efforts to 

consult with the 735 community and town councils in Wales over the past four 
years with limited responses. The Panel has conducted surveys and 
consulted widely, inviting comment on its determinations. Panel members 
have researched community and town council websites and have met 
representatives and attended conferences of One Voice Wales in order to 
engage with members.  

 
 
Payments to Community and Town Councillors  
 
13.6. In order to compensate members of community and town councils for 

expenses and costs involved in carrying out their duties, the Panel has 
determined that councils should be authorised to make a payment to each 
member.  

 

Determination 44:  Community and town councils are authorised to make a 
payment to each of their members of a maximum amount of £150 per year for 
costs incurred in respect of telephone usage, information technology, 
consumables etc. 

 
Senior roles 
 
13.7. The Panel recognises that specific member roles especially within the larger 

community and town councils, for example a committee chair, can involve 

Tudalen 51



41 
 

greater responsibility.  It has therefore determined that councils should be 
authorised to pay up to three responsibility payments for specified roles. 

 

Determination 45:  Community and town councils are authorised to make an 
annual payment not exceeding £500 each to up to 3 members in recognition of 
specific responsibilities. This is in addition to the £150 payment for costs and 
expenses if that is made. 

 
 
Civic allowance 

 
13.8. Recognising that some mayors and chairs of community and town councils 

and their deputies are very active during their year of office, the Panel has 
determined that community and town councils should be authorised to pay an 
allowance for these roles. 

 
13.9. In its previous annual reports the Panel determined no maximum levels of 

payment to mayors/chairs and their deputies.  The Panel’s research indicates 
that the majority of community and town councils make no or very modest 
payments to their civic leaders.  However, the maximum payment made by 
any town council in Wales is £8,000. This is a considerable payment relative 
to that made to principal council civic leaders, with several other town councils 
paying a significant 4 figure sum.  The Panel will therefore conduct further 
research and consultation over the next 12 months with the intention to set an 
appropriate limit for such payments in its 2018 annual report.  

 

Determination 46:  Community and town councils are authorised to provide a 
civic allowance to the mayor/chair of the council at an amount that they deem 
appropriate to undertake the functions of that office. This is in addition to the 
£150 payment for costs and expenses if that is made 

 
 

Determination 47:  Community and town councils are authorised to provide a 
civic allowance to the deputy mayor/deputy chair of the council at an amount 
that they deem appropriate to undertake the functions of that office. This is in 
addition to the £150 payment for costs and expenses if that is made 

 
 
Reimbursement of travel costs 
 
13.10. The Panel recognises that there can be significant travel costs associated 

with the work of community and town council members, especially where the 
council area is geographically large and/or when engaging in duties outside 
this area. It has therefore made provision for travel costs to be met. 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 52



42 
 

Determination 48: Community and town councils are authorised to make 
payments to each of their members in respect of travel costs for attending 
approved duties. 6 Such payments must be the actual costs of travel by public 
transport or the HMRC mileage allowances as below: 

 45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year. 

 25p per mile over 10,000 miles. 

 5p per mile per passenger carried on authority business. 

 24p per mile for private motor cycles. 

 20p per mile for bicycles. 
 

 
 
Reimbursement of subsistence  

 
 

Determination 49: If a community or town council resolves that a particular 
duty requires an overnight stay, it may authorise reimbursement of 
subsistence expenses to its members at the maximum rates set out below on 
the basis of receipted claims: 

 

 £28 per 24-hour period allowance for meals, including breakfast where not 
provided. 

 £200 – London overnight. 

 £95 – elsewhere overnight. 

 £30 – staying with friends and/or family overnight. 

 

 
Other Allowances / Payments 

 
13.11. Previously the Panel had determined that an Attendance Allowance could be 

paid to each of its members for attending approved duties outside the area of 
the council. Very few community or town councils made this payment and 
therefore this allowance has been removed. However, the Panel has retained 
the facility and increased the amount which councils may pay as 
compensation to their members where they suffer financial loss when 
attending approved duties.  

 
 
 
 

                                                             
6 Where a member who is on official business is driven by a third party (not a member or officer of that authority), the member 

can claim mileage at the prescribed rates plus any parking or toll fees provided the authority is satisfied that the member has 

incurred these costs. 
 

Tudalen 53



43 
 

Determination 50:  Community and town councils are authorised to pay 

financial loss compensation to each of their members, where such loss has 

actually occurred, for attending approved duties as follows: 

 Up to £33.00 for each period not exceeding 4 hours: 

 Up to £66.00 for each period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 

hours. 

 

 
 
Reimbursement of the costs of care  

 
13.12. In order to address issues of democratic participation and diversity, the Panel 

has decided to permit reimbursement of costs to members for the care of 
dependent children and others, or costs incurred relating to a personal 
assistance need, whilst attending meetings and other approved duties. 

 

Determination 51: Community and town councils are authorised to provide for 
the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of dependent children and 
adults (provided by informal or formal carers) and for personal assistance 
needs up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be 
made on production of receipts from the carer. 

 
 
Publicity requirements 

 
13.13. There is a requirement on community and town councils to publish details of 

all payments made to individual members in an annual Statement of 
Payments. This information must be published on council noticeboards and/or 
websites (with easy access) and provided to the Panel by email or by post no 
later than 30 September following the end of the year to which the payments 
relate. The Panel notes with concern that this requirement has not been 
complied with by many councils and draws attention to the requirements 
stipulated at Annex 4.  

 
 

Tudalen 54



44 
 

14. Compliance with Panel Requirements 

 
The Panel’s remit under the Measure 

 
14.1 Section 153 of the Measure empowers the Panel to require a relevant 

authority7 to comply with the requirements imposed on it by an Annual Report 
of the Panel and further enables the Panel to monitor the compliance of 
relevant authorities with the Panel’s determinations.  

 
14.2 A relevant authority must implement the Panel’s determinations in this report 

from the date of its annual meeting or a date specified within the Annual 
Report. 

 
Monitoring compliance 
 
14.3 The Panel will monitor the compliance with the determinations in this Annual 

Report by relevant authorities against the following requirements: 
 

(i)        A relevant authority must maintain an annual Schedule of Member 
Remuneration (IRPW Regulations 4 and 5). Guidance at Annex 3 sets 
out the content which must be included in the Schedule. 

(ii) A relevant authority must make arrangements for the Schedule’s 
publication within the authority area (IRPW Regulation 46) and send 
the Schedule to the Panel as soon as practicable and not later than 31 
July in the year to which it applies. Annex 4 provides further details of 
the publicity requirements. 

(iii) Any amendments to the Schedule made during the year must be 
conveyed to the Panel as soon as possible after the amendment is 
made. 

 
 
Note: The above requirements do not apply to community and town 
councils at this time. The following applies to all authorities. 

 
(iv) A relevant authority must make arrangements for publication within the 

authority area of the total sum paid by it to each member and co-opted 
member in respect of salary (basic, senior and civic), allowances, fees 
and reimbursements in a Statement of Payments (in accordance with 
Annex 4 that sets out the content that must be included in the Publicity 
Requirements) as soon as practicable and no later than 30 September 
following the close of the year to which it relates. It must be submitted 
to the Panel no later than that date. 

 

                                                             
7
 Interpretation of “Relevant Authority” provided in the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 

(IRPW) Regulations, Part 1, ‘Interpretation’. 

Tudalen 55



45 
 

15. Salaries of Heads of Paid Service of Principal Councils 
and Fire and Rescue Authorities and Chief Officers of 
Principal Councils 

 
 
15.1 Section 63 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amended 

the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 by inserting section 143A. This 
enables the Panel to take a view on anything in the Pay Policy Statements of 
these authorities that relates to the salary of the head of paid service 
(normally the chief executive or chief fire officer). Section 39 of the Local 
Government (Wales) Act 2015 further amended the Measure extending this 
function to include Chief Officers of Principal Councils. 

 
15.2  The Welsh Government has issued amended guidance to the Panel which 

can be found at http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/localgov/160212-irp-
guide-salaries-en-v2.pdf .This sets the basis on which the Panel will carry out 
the function contained in the legislation.                                    
          

15.3   In essence the functions of the Panel and the requirements on authorities 
established by the legislation and the subsequent guidance are: 

                                                           
 a) If a principal council intends to change the salary of the head of paid 

service or chief officer, or if a fire and rescue authority intends to change 
the salary of its head of paid service it must consult the Panel unless the 
change is in keeping with changes applied to other officers of that authority 
(whether the change is an increase or decrease). ‘Salary’ includes 
payments under a contract for services as well as payments of salary under 
an employment contract.                                                       

 
 b) The authority must have regard to the recommendation(s) of the Panel 

when reaching its decision.                                                                                                                                              
 

 c) The Panel may seek any information that it considers necessary to reach 
a conclusion and produce a recommendation. The authority is obliged to 
provide the information sought by the Panel.                                                                                                                                              

        
 d) The Panel may publish any recommendation that it makes. It is the 

intention that, in the interests of transparency, it will normally do so.                                                                        
                                                                                          

 e) The Panel's recommendation(s) could indicate:                                                                     

 approval of the authority's proposal 

 express concerns about the proposal 

 recommend variations to the proposal 
 

 as long as these comply with any guidance issued by the Welsh Government. 
 
15.4  The Panel also has a general power to review the Pay Policy Statements of 

authorities so far as they relate to the heads of paid service (and chief officers 

Tudalen 56

http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/localgov/160212-irp-guide-salaries-en-v2.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/localgov/160212-irp-guide-salaries-en-v2.pdf


46 
 

until 2020). 
 
15.5   It is important to note that the Panel will not decide the amount that an 

individual head of paid service will receive.                                                                                                                               
 
15.6  The Panel is very aware that this additional function is significantly different 

from its statutory responsibilities in relation to members' remuneration. 
However, it will ensure that it undertakes this role with clarity and openness, 
taking into account all the relevant factors in respect of specific individual 
cases. Authorities are encouraged to consult the Panel at an early stage in 
their decision making on such matters. This will enable the Panel to respond 
in a timely manner.                                                                                              

 
15.7  Appended to this section are the decisions of the Panel in respect of: 

 The Chief Fire Officer of Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Authority 

 The Chief Officers restructuring in Denbighshire County Council 

 The Chief Officers restructuring in Monmouthshire County Council 

 A Chief Officer in Pembrokeshire County Council 

 Chief Officers in Newport City Council 
   
 
Pay Policy Statements 

 
15.8  Paragraph 3.7 of the guidance to the Panel from the Welsh Government 

states that “The legislation does not restrict the Panel to a reactive role” It 
allows the Panel to use its power to make recommendations relating to 
provisions within local authorities Pay Policy Statements. The Panel has 
considered this in the context of it resources and has decided that these limit 
the time that could be applied to this open power. So it will examine changes 
from year to year of the salaries of Chief Executives and Chief Officers to 
ensure that these comply with the requirements of the legislation. 

 

Tudalen 57



47 
 

The Chief Fire Officer of Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Authority 

 
  

          

Mr D Daycock 
Clerk and Monitoring Officer 
Mid & West Wales Fire & Rescue Authority 
 
d.daycock@mawwfire.gov.uk  
 

23 November 2015 
 
Dear Mr Daycock, 
 
Proposed Salary of Head of Paid Service (Chief Fire Officer) 
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (the Panel) has considered the 
salary proposed in the report to the Chief Officer Remuneration Committee which 
you submitted on the 2nd November, in accordance with Section 143A of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011. We note that the Committee is recommending 
approval to the Authority 
The Panel met on the 18th November 2015; all members were present. We were 
grateful for the additional information provided to assist in our consideration. The 
guidance to the Panel from the Welsh Government in respect of its function under 
Section 143A states that the Panel could:  

a) Indicate approval of the proposal 
b) Express concerns about the proposal 
c) Recommend a variation to the proposal 
 

We have examined the content of the report and additional documentation provided. 
While we fully understand the desire to review the present system of payments made 
to the Chief Fire Officer and to create a simplified framework, we have decide to 
“Express concerns about the proposal”. 
 
We set out below the reasons for this decision. 
 
You have advised that the existing remuneration of the Chief Fire Office comprises 
four elements – Basic Salary; Earn Back (at 3% of basic salary, consolidated); 
Performance Related Pay (up to 3% of combined basic and Earn Back) and an 

Tudalen 58

mailto:d.daycock@mawwfire.gov.uk


48 
 

allowance for ICT. We have noted that “Earn Back” is rarely not paid which gives the 
impression that it is in effect part of the basic salary, particularly as it is consolidated. 
However, PRP is only paid for performance “genuinely beyond expectations”. The 
report is silent on the way such performance is assessed but given this definition it 
would be surprising if this was achieved on a regular basis. 
 
The proposal to set the salary on the basis of a combination of population band 3 
median and the median for jobs of a similar weight is not justified in the report but to 
the Panel seems to be a way of compensating for the discontinuance of the PRP 
element. Overall the result is a consolidated salary significantly higher than the 
current basic (even when Earn Back is included). 
 
The Panel considers that such an increase in the basic salary is not justified and 
appears to be out of line with other public sector pay awards. Therefore we formally 
Express Concern and expect the authority to reconsider. 
 
The legislation requires the authority to have regard to the views of the Panel but are 
not obliged to follow it. We would draw your attention specifically to paragraph 3.2 of 
the guidance. 
 
The Panel has noted that the report also deals with the remuneration of other senior 
officers of the authority. At present our remit does not include officers below the 
Head of Paid Service and we make no comment on the proposals for these posts. 
 
The Panel would normally publish its decision in exercising this function in the 
interests of transparency, however, in this instance this will be withheld until we are 
advised of the authority’s response. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
Richard Penn 
Chair  
 
  

Tudalen 59



49 
 

The Chief Officers restructuring in Denbighshire County Council 
 

 
Mohammed Mehmet 
Chief Executive 
Denbighshire County Council 
 
 
CC 
Cllr Hugh Evans 
Catrin Roberts 
Sophie Vaughan 
 

04 April 2016 
 
Dear Mr Mehmet 
 
Review of salaries of the senior leadership team 
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (the Panel) has considered, in 
accordance with Section 143A of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011, the 
salary structure for the senior leadership team (SLT) in Denbighshire proposed as a 
result of the pay review conducted by its remuneration committee. The Panel notes 
that the committee is recommending approval to the full council.   
 
The Panel was unable to consider the proposal at its meeting on 9th March as it 
required more specific and relevant information than had been provided. However, in 
order to consider this expeditiously, the Panel convened an extraordinary meeting on 
30 March 2016 solely for this purpose. Four of its five members were present and 
therefore the meeting was quorate.  We examined in advance the content of the 
“Senior Leadership Pay Review March 2016” report provided to the Panel for this 
meeting and the original documentation ordered chronologically, which had been 
provided earlier.    
 
We understand the motivation for Denbighshire County Council to review its SLT pay 
structure given the length of time since it was last reviewed.  We are aware that ad 
hoc changes have been made resulting in a significant reduction in the membership 
of the SLT and that has resulted in salaries being adjusted through market 
supplements and honoraria.  We note Denbighshire’s desire to produce a pay 
structure which reviews these and is fair, consistent and transparent and able to 
attract retain and motivate senior managers.  

Tudalen 60



50 
 

 
The guidance to the Panel from the Welsh Government in respect of its function 
under Section 143A states that the Panel could:  

a) Indicate approval of the proposal  
b) Express concerns about the proposal  
c) Recommend a variation to the proposal 

 
Having examined the information provided, the Panel’s decision is to recommend a 
variation to the Council’s proposal.  This, together with the reasons for the 
recommendation is set out below.   
 
The report provided to the Panel states that one of the remuneration committee’s 
principles was for the pay structure to be within the median pay range comparable to 
the remuneration in other organisations. The report then gives data provided by Hay 
of the market median figure for corporate directors and for the two levels of head of 
service.  There is also a comparison with the pay ranges of three neighbouring 
authorities. 
 
The Panel noted that the data from Hay as presented in the report did not identify the 
sources that were used. The data therefore does not specify which organisations 
were used for comparison. The Council’s remuneration committee could have been 
making comparisons with all England and Wales councils or a subset of that 
grouping e.g. all Welsh councils or all UK unitary councils. 
 
The Panel noted that the reason given for the comparison with the neighbouring 
authorities was the current Welsh Government’s preferred policy options for local 
government re-organisation in which Denbighshire is merged with either Conwy or 
Flintshire and Wrexham. The Panel considers, in carrying out its functions under 
section 143A, that possible future configurations of local authority areas cannot be 
an overriding factor in considering proposals referred to it. The comparison with 
neighbouring authorities is therefore not persuasive evidence to justify the change on 
this basis 
 
The Panel therefore additionally considered information relating to the demographics 
and finances of all Welsh principal councils.  
  

 The population of Denbighshire is 16th out of the 22 principal councils in 
Wales.  

 

 The revenue budget of the Council is approximately £186 million. This is the 
16th largest of the 22 councils. 

 

 The salary ranges of chief officers of other Welsh authorities of a similar size 
and revenue budget  

 
The Panel’s recommendation therefore is: 
 

 That the highest salary currently paid at  the three proposed grades (SLT3 
corporate director, SLT2 head of service and SLT1 head of service) should be 
the maximum in that grade; 

Tudalen 61



51 
 

 The officers who have salaries currently below the highest can be raised to 
that level through a series of increments, over a three year period. The 
increments should be structured so that no officer receives an increment of 
less than £1,000;  

 Subject to point 2, the council has the discretion to set the minimum for the 
grade and the incremental steps to reach the maximum as indicated below.  

 
 
   

Independent Remuneration Panel of Wales Recommendation 

Senior Leadership Team – Denbighshire (excluding the Chief Executive) 

   

SLT3 (Directors) 96,630 maximum of scale 

 XX mid point of scale * 

 XX start of scale        * 

   

SLT2 (Head of Service) 77,687 maximum of scale 

 XX mid point of scale  * 

 XX start of scale         * 

   

SLT1 (Head of Service)  62,687 maximum of scale 

 XX mid point of scale  * 

 XX start of scale         * 

   

 
* For the Council to determine 
 
The Panel consider that this structure fulfils the principles the remuneration 
committee worked within, particularly: 
There is sufficient opportunity for financial progression over 3 years 
No officer is being financially disadvantaged. 
 
In accordance with sections 143A (3B) and (4A) of the Local Government Measure 
2011, the authority is required to have regard to the views of the Panel and the Panel 
is required to inform the Welsh Minister of its recommendation.  
 
In accordance with section 143A (5A), the authority must notify the Panel and the 
Welsh Ministers of its response to this recommendation.  

Tudalen 62



52 
 

 
The Panel would normally publish its decision in exercising this function in the 
interests of transparency, however, in this instance this will be withheld until we are 
advised of the authority’s response. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
John Bader 
Chair 

Tudalen 63



53 
 

The Chief Officers restructuring in Monmouthshire County Council 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Paul Matthews  
Chief Executive  
Monmouthshire County Council 
cc. Councillor Peter Fox, Leader Monmouthshire CC 

26 May 2015 

Dear Mr Matthews 

Senior Officer Leadership changes at Monmouthshire County Council 

Your letter and accompanying documentation dated 5th May was considered by the 

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales at the meeting on 25th May. All 

members of the Panel were present and therefore the meeting was quorate. 

Panel members were appreciative of the documents provided including the 

additional information requested by the secretariat. It was noted that the proposed 

structure would produce significant ongoing savings. 

In respect of the function of the Panel related to the salaries of chief officers the remit 

and guidance from the Welsh Government allows the Panel to: 

a) Approve the proposals 

b) Express concerns about the proposals 

c) Recommend a variation to the proposals 

Having examined the submission from your authority it is the decision of the Panel to 

approve the proposals as submitted. 

Yours sincerely 

 

John Bader 

Chair 

Tudalen 64



54 
 

Change to a Chief Officer Salary in Pembrokeshire County Council  

 

 

 

 

Ceri Davies  
Head of Human Resources  
Pembrokeshire County Council 

 

cc. Mark Woolgar, Human Resources Manager 

22 August 2016 

Dear Ceri, 

Proposal to change the remuneration of a chief officer 

Your letter and accompanying documentation dated 8th August was considered by 

the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales at the meeting on 17th August. All 

members of the Panel were present and therefore the meeting was quorate. 

In respect of the function of the Panel related to the salaries of chief officers the remit 

and guidance from the Welsh Government allows the Panel to: 

a) Approve the proposal 

b) Express concerns about the proposal 

c) Recommend a variation to the proposal 

Having examined the submission from your authority it is the decision of the Panel to 

approve the proposal as submitted. 

Yours sincerely 

 

John Bader 

Chair 

Tudalen 65



55 
 

 

Review of Chief Officer Pay in Newport City Council 

Will Godfrey 

Chief Executive 

Newport City Council 

Will.godfrey@newport.gov.uk  

cc Rachael Davies 

HR Manager 

RachaelA.Davies@newport.gov.uk  

Eich cyf/ Your ref: 

Ein cyf/Our ref: zA1263030 

 

          

23 September 2016 

Dear Will 
 
Review of senior pay at Newport City Council 

 
Your review document and accompanying documentation was considered by the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales at its meeting on 14th September. Five 
members of the Panel were present and therefore the meeting was quorate. 
 
The Panel considered your proposal to amend the salary range of some of your heads of 
service. The Panel asked me to seek clarification on 2 issues: 
 

1. The status of your second submission (headed Part 2) and whether this took 
precedence over the initial proposal. 

2. To establish which salary range you were submitting as the range for HDSO2 in the 
submission was lower than in the additional information provided by your HR 
Manager following a request from me. 

 
You confirmed that the original submission (Part 1) was the proposal that you were 
requesting the Panel to consider and that the correct salary range was that provided by your 
HR Manager. 
 
Having examined the submission from your authority and received satisfactory clarification 
on the matters noted above it is the decision of the Panel to approve the proposal as 
submitted. 
  
Regards 

 
 
John Bader 
Chair, Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales. 

Tudalen 66

mailto:Will.godfrey@newport.gov.uk
mailto:RachaelA.Davies@newport.gov.uk


56 
 

Annex 1: The Panel’s Determinations for 2017/18 

Principal Councils 

1.   Basic salary in 2017/18 for elected members of principal councils shall be 

£13,400. 

2.  The Panel has determined that senior salary levels in 2017/18 for members of 

principal councils shall be as set out in table 2 (page 13). 

3.  The Panel has determined that (where paid) civic salaries at the following levels 

are payable (Table 3, page 15) and will be applied by principal councils as each 

considers appropriate, taking account of the anticipated workloads and 

responsibilities. 

4.  The Panel has determined that, where appointed and if remunerated, a 

presiding member must be paid a Band 3 Level 1 senior salary. This post will 

count towards the cap. 

5.  The Panel has determined that the post of deputy presiding member will not be 

remunerated. 

6.  The Panel has determined that each authority, through its Democratic Services 

Committee, must ensure that all its members are given as much support as is 

necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties effectively. All elected members 

should be provided with adequate telephone and email facilities and electronic 

access to appropriate information. 

7.  The Panel has determined that such support should be without cost to the 

individual member. Deductions must not be made from members’ salaries by 

the respective authority as a contribution towards the cost of support which the 

authority has decided necessary for the effectiveness and/or efficiency of 

members. 

Specific or Additional Senior Salaries 

8.  The Panel has determined to include a provision for specific or additional senior 

salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration Framework. 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

9.  The chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee is eligible for a salary 

equivalent to that part of a Band 3 Level 2 senior salary that remunerates a 

committee chair of a principal authority (£6,700). 

10.  In cases where the chair is already in receipt of a senior salary for a Band 3, 4 

or 5 role the payment will be £3,350. 

Tudalen 67



57 
 

11.  The chair of a sub committee of a JOSC is eligible for a salary of £1,675. 

12.  In cases where the chair of the sub committee is already in receipt of a senior 

salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be £837. 

13.  Payments to chairs of task and finish sub committees are to be pro-rated to the 

duration of the task. 

14.  Payments made to a chair of a JOSC, or a chair of a sub committee of a JOSC, 

are additional to the maximum proportion of the authority’s membership eligible 

for a senior salary. It should be noted that the statutory limit of no more than 

50% of a council’s membership receiving a senior salary applies (Section 142 

(5) of the Measure). 

15.  A deputy chair of a JOSC or sub committee is not eligible for payment. 

16.  Co-optees to a JOSC or to a sub committee are not eligible for a co-opted 

member fee unless they are appointed by an authority under Section 144(5) of 

the Measure. 

Local Government Pension Scheme 

17.  The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) shall 

apply to all eligible elected members of principal councils. 

Family Absence 

18.  An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary when taking family 
absence under the regulations irrespective of the attendance record 
immediately preceding the commencement of the family absence.   

19.  When a senior salary holder is eligible for family absence, he/she will continue 
to receive the salary for the duration of the absence. 

20.  It is a matter for the authority to decide whether or not to make a substitute 
appointment. The elected member substituting for a senior salary holder taking 
family absence will be eligible to be paid a senior salary, if the authority so 
decides.    

21.  If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum number 
of senior salaries which relates to it, as set out in the Panel's Annual Report, an 
addition to the maximum will be allowed for the duration of the substitution. 
However, this will not apply to the Isle of Anglesey or Merthyr Tydfil Councils if it 
would result in the number of senior salaries exceeding fifty percent of the 
Council membership. Specific approval of Welsh Ministers is required in such 
circumstances.   

22.  When a Council agrees a paid substitution for family absence, the Panel must 
be informed, within 14 days of the date of the decision, of the details including 
the particular post and the duration of the substitution.   

23.  The Council’s schedule of remuneration must be amended to reflect the 
implication of the family absence. 
 
 

Tudalen 68



58 
 

National Park Authorities 

24.  The basic salary for NPA ordinary members should be £3,625 

25.  The senior salary of the chair of an NPA should be £12,325 

26.  An NPA senior salary can be paid to a Deputy Chair, and up to two committee 
chairs where there is significant and sustained responsibility.  This can be paid 
at either of the following levels to be decided by the authority to reflect the 
appropriate responsibility: £6,025 or £7,325 
 

27.  The Panel has determined to include a provision for NPAs to apply for specific 
or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration 
Framework. 

28.  Members must not receive more than one NPA senior salary. 

29.  An NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA basic salary and must reflect 

significant and sustained responsibility 

30.  Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 

cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which they have been appointed. 

Fire and Rescue Authorities 

31.  The basic salary for FRA ordinary members should be £1,715  

32.  The senior salary of the chair of an FRA should be £10,415. 

33.  An FRA senior salary can be paid to the deputy chair, and up to two chairs of 

committees where there is significant and sustained responsibility.  This should 

be paid at £5,415. 

34.  The Panel has determined to include a provision for FRAs to apply for specific 

or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration 

Framework. 

35.  Members must not receive more than one FRA senior salary. 

36.  An FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA basic salary and must reflect 

significant and sustained responsibility. 

37.  Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 

cannot receive a salary from any FRA to which they have been nominated. 

Co-Opted Members 

38.  Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must pay the following fees to co-opted 

members (Table 6, page 31) (who have voting rights). 

39.  Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is eligible to be included in claims 

made by co-opted members the extent of which can be determined by the 

Tudalen 69



59 
 

appropriate officer in advance of the meeting.  

40.  Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting can be included in the 

claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to the maximum of the 

daily rate). 

41.  The appropriate officer within the authority can determine in advance whether a 

meeting is programmed for a full day and the fee will be paid on the basis of this 

determination even if the meeting finishes before four hours has elapsed. 

42.  Meetings eligible for the payment of fees include other committees and working 

groups (including task and finish groups), pre-meetings with officers, training 

and attendance at conferences or any other formal meeting to which co-opted 

members are requested to attend. 

Reimbursement of Costs of Care 

43.  All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the 

care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) 

and for personal assistance needs up to a maximum of £403 per month. 

Reimbursement shall only be made on production of receipts from the carer. 

Community and Town Councils 

44.  Community and town councils are authorised to make a payment to each of 

their members of a maximum amount of £150 per year for costs incurred in 

respect of telephone usage, information technology, consumables etc. 

45.  Community and town councils are authorised to make an annual payment not 

exceeding £500 each to up to 3 members in recognition of specific 

responsibilities. This is in addition to the £150 payment for costs and expenses 

if that is made. 

46.  Community and town councils are authorised to provide a civic allowance to the 

mayor/chair of the council at an amount that they deem appropriate to 

undertake the functions of that office.  This is in addition to the £150 payment 

for costs and expenses if that is made. 

47.  Community and town councils are authorised to provide a civic allowance to the 

deputy mayor/deputy chair of the council at an amount that they deem 

appropriate to undertake the functions of that office. This is in addition to the 

£150 payment for costs and expenses if that is made. 

48.  Community and town councils are authorised to make payments to each of their 

members in respect of travel costs for attending approved duties.   Such 

payments must be the actual costs of travel by public transport or the HMRC 

mileage allowances as below: 

Tudalen 70



60 
 

- 45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year. 
- 25p per mile over 10,000 miles. 
- 5p per mile per passenger carried on authority business. 
- 24p per mile for private motor cycles. 
- 20p per mile for bicycles. 

 

49.  If a community or town council resolves that a particular duty requires an 

overnight stay, it may authorise reimbursement of subsistence expenses to its 

members at the maximum rates set out below on the basis of receipted claims: 

- £28 per 24-hour period allowance for meals, including       

breakfast where not provided. 

- £200 – London overnight 

- £95 – elsewhere overnight. 

- £30 – staying with friends and/or family overnight. 

50.  Community and town councils are authorised to pay financial loss 

compensation to each of their members, where such loss has actually occurred, 

for attending approved duties as follows: 

- Up to £33.00 for each period not exceeding 4 hours: 

- Up to £66.00 for each period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours. 

51.  Community and town councils are authorised to provide for the reimbursement 

of necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by 

informal or formal carers) and for personal assistance needs up to a maximum 

of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on production of 

receipts from the carer. 

 

Tudalen 71



61 
 

Annex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
(IRPW) Regulations: 

 
a) for the remuneration of members and co-opted members of relevant  

authorities 
 

b) for functions relating to the salaries of Heads of Paid Service of 
Principal Councils and Fire and Rescue Authorities 
 

c) Chief officers of Principal Councils 
 
Introduction 

 
Part 8 (sections 141 to 160) and schedules 2 and 3 of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 (the Measure) set out the arrangements for the payments and 
pensions for members of relevant authorities and the functions and responsibilities of 
the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (the Panel). 
 
Sections 62 to 67 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amends 
sections 142, 143, 144, 147, 148 and 151 of the Measure and confers additional 
powers on the Panel. 
 
The powers contained in part 8 and schedules 2 and 3 of the Measure (as amended) 
have replaced the following Statutory Instruments:  
 

 The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of County and 
County Borough Councils and National Park Authorities) (Wales) 
Regulations 2002 (No. 1895 (W.196)). 

 

 The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Fire Authorities) 
(Wales) Regulations 2004 (No. 2555 (W.227)). 

 

 The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members) (Wales) Regulations 2007 
(No.1086 (W.115)). 

 
The Measure also has replaced the sections of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2000 
relating to payments to councillors in Wales. 
 
Allowances for members of community and town councils are set out in Part 5 of 
these Regulations. The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Community 
Councils) (Wales) Regulations 2003 (No. 895(W.115)) were revoked from 1st April 
2013.  
 

Part 1  
 
General 
 

1. a. The short title of these Regulations is: “IRPW Regulations”. 
 

Tudalen 72



62 
 

b. The IRPW Regulations came into force on 1 April 2012. The 
implementation date for each of the relevant authorities is set out in the 
Annual Report or Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

 

c. Authorities are required to produce a schedule of payments to members 
and co-opted members no later than the 31st July each year, for 
submission to the Panel and publication (see paragraph 46).  

 
Interpretation 
 
2. In the IRPW Regulations: 
 

 “The 1972 Act” means the Local Government Act 1972. 

 “The 2000 Act” means the Local Government Act 2000. 

 “The 2013 Act” means the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 
2013. 

 “Allowance” means the actual or maximum amount which may be 
reimbursed to members and co-opted members of a relevant authority for 
expenses necessarily incurred when carrying out the official business of 
the relevant authority. 

 “Annual report” means a report produced by the Panel in accordance with 
section 145 of the Measure. 

 “Approved duty” in relation to community and town councils has the 
meaning as set out in Part 5 of these Regulations. 

 “Attendance Allowance” in relation to community or town councils has the 
meaning set out in Part 5 of these Regulations. 

 “Authority” means a relevant authority in Wales as defined in 
Section 144(2) of the Measure, and includes a local authority (county or 
county borough council), a national park authority and a Welsh fire and 
rescue authority, a community or town council. 

 “Basic Salary” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 6 of these 
Regulations, and may be qualified as “LA Basic Salary” to refer to the 
basic salary of a member of a principal council; “NPA Basic Salary” to refer 
to the basic salary of a member of a national park authority; and “FRA 
Basic Salary” to refer to the basic salary of a member of a Welsh fire and 
rescue authority. 

 “Chief Officer” of a principal authority has the meaning as defined in the 
Localism Act 2011 

  “Civic Head” is the person elected by the council to carry out the functions 
of the chair of that council and is designated as mayor or chair. 

 “Committee” includes a sub-committee. 

 “Community or town council” means in relation to Part 8 of the Measure, a 
community council as defined in section 33 of the Local Government Act 
1972 or a town council in accord with section 245B of the same Act. 

Tudalen 73



63 
 

  “Consultation draft” means the draft of an Annual or Supplementary report 
under Section 146 (7) or 147(8) of the Measure, representations on which 
must be taken into account by the Panel. 

 “Constituent authority” – for national park authorities this is a local 
authority falling within the area of a national park authority; for Welsh fire 
and rescue authorities it is a local authority falling within the area of a fire 
and rescue authority. 

 “Controlling group” means a political group in a local authority where any 
of its members form part of the executive. 

 “Co-opted Member” has the meaning contained in section 144 (5) of the 
Measure, that is those with the right to vote on matters within the purview 
of the committee on which they serve. 

 “Co-opted Member fee” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 19 
of these Regulations. 

 “Costs of Care” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 21 of these 
Regulations. 

 “Democratic Services Committee” means the local authority committee 
established under section 11 of the Measure. 

 “Deputy Civic Head” is a person elected by the council to deputise for the 
mayor or chair of that council. 

 “Executive” means the executive of an authority in a form as specified in 
sections 11(2) to (5) of the 2000 Act, as amended by section 34 of the 
Measure. 

 “Executive arrangements” has the meaning given by section 10(1) of the 
2000 Act. 

 “Family absence” as defined in Section 142 (2) (b) of the Measure has the 
meaning given to it by Part 2 of the Measure, and contained in the 
Regulations relating thereto. 

 “Financial Loss Allowance in relation to community or town councils has 
the meaning as set out in Part 5 of the Regulations. 

 “Fire and rescue authority” means an authority constituted by a scheme 
under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to 
which section 4 of that Act applies.  

 “Head of paid service” means as designated under section 4(1) of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee means a committee or sub 
committee set up by two or more principal councils under the Local 
Authority (Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (Wales) Regulations 
2013.  

 “Largest opposition group” means a political group other than a controlling 
group which has a greater number of members than any other political 
group in the authority. 

Tudalen 74



64 
 

 “Local authority” means a county or county borough council. 

 “Member” means in respect of a local authority or a community or town 
council a person who has been elected to serve as a councillor for that 
authority; for a national park authority means a member appointed by a 
constituent authority and also a person appointed by Welsh Ministers; for 
Welsh fire and rescue authorities means a member appointed by a 
constituent authority. 

 “National Park Authority” means a national park authority established 
under section 63 of the Environment Act 1995. 

 “Official business” has the meaning contained in Section 142 (10) of the 
Measure in relation to the payment of allowances for care, travel and 
subsistence as reimbursement of expenses necessarily incurred by 
members and co-opted members of a relevant authority (excluding 
community and town councils) when: 

 
a. Attending a meeting of the authority or any committee of the authority 

or any body to which the authority makes appointments or nominations 
or of any committee of such a body. 

b. Attending a meeting of any association of authorities of which the 
authority is a member. 

c. Attending a meeting the holding of which is authorised by the authority 
or by a committee of the authority or by a joint committee of the 
authority and one or more other authorities. 

d. Attending any training or development event approved by the authority 
or its executive. 

e. A duty undertaken for the purpose of or in connection with the 
discharge of the functions of an executive within the meaning of Part 2 
of the 2000 Act, as amended.  

f. A duty undertaken in pursuance of a standing order which requires a 
member or members to be present when tender documents are 
opened. 

g. A duty undertaken in connection with the discharge of any function of 
the authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises. 

h. A duty undertaken by members of principal councils in connection with 
constituency or ward responsibilities which arise from the discharge of 
local authority functions. 

i. Any other duty approved by the authority, or any duty of class so 
approved, undertaken for the purpose of, or in connection with, the 
discharge of the functions of the authority or any of its committees. 

 

 “Other political group” means a political group other than a controlling 
group or the largest opposition group (if any) which comprises not less 
than ten per cent of the members of that authority. 

Tudalen 75



65 
 

 “Overview and Scrutiny Committee” means a committee of the authority 
which has the powers set out in sections 21(2) and (3) of the 2000 Act, as 
amended by Part 6 of the Measure.  

 “Panel” means the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales as set out 
in section 141(1) and schedule 2 of the Measure. 

  “Pay policy statement” means a statement produced by a relevant 
authority under section 38 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 “Presiding Member” means a member of a principal council who has been 
designated by that council to carry out functions in relation to the chairing 
of its meetings and proceedings.  

 “Principal council” means a county or county borough council. 

 “Proper officer” has the same meaning as in section 270(3) of the 
1972 Act. 

 “Public body” means a body as defined in section 67(b) of the 2013 Act. 

 “Qualifying provision” means a provision that makes a variation to a 
previous decision of the Panel. (Section 65 (c) of the 2013 Act). 

 “Qualifying relevant authority” is an authority within the meaning of section 
63 of the 2013 Act, required to produce a pay policy statement. 

 “Relevant authority” is set out in Section 144(2) of the Measure (as 
amended) and in section 64 of the 2013 Act and, for the purposes of these 
Regulations, includes a local authority/principal council, a community or 
town council, a national park authority and a Welsh fire and rescue 
authority. 

 “Relevant matters” are as defined in Section 142(2) of the Measure. 

 “Schedule” means a list setting out the authority’s decisions in respect of 
payments to be made during the year (as relating to that authority) to all 
members and co-opted members of that authority. 

 “Senior Salary” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 11 of these 
Regulations and may be qualified as “Local Authority/Principal council 
Senior Salary” to refer to the senior salary of a member of a principal 
council; “National Park Senior Salary” to refer to the senior salary of a 
member of a national park authority; or “Fire and Rescue authority Senior 
Salary” to refer to the senior salary of a member of a Fire and Rescue 
authority. 

 “Sickness absence” means the arrangements as set out in the Annual 
Report. 

 “Supplementary report” has the meaning contained in section 146(4 to 8) 
of the Measure. 

 “Travelling and subsistence allowance” has the same meaning as set out 
in paragraph 25 of these Regulations. 

 “Year” has the following meanings: 
 

Tudalen 76



66 
 

“financial year” – the period of twelve months ending 31 March; 
 

“calendar year” – the period of twelve months ending 31 December;  
 

“municipal year” – the year commencing on the date of the annual meeting 
of the local authority and ending the day before the annual meeting of the 
following year; for national park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue 
authorities it is the period of up to twelve months following the annual 
meeting of the authority. 

 

 
 
Part 2: Schedule of member/co-opted member remuneration  
 
Commencement of term of office 
 
3. The term of office of:  
 

 A member of a local authority or community or town council begins on the 
date which that member makes a declaration of acceptance of that office 
under section 83(1) of the 1972 Act. 

 A councillor member of a national park authority begins on the date on 
which that member is appointed as such by a constituent authority and the 
term of office of a Welsh Government appointed member begins on the 
date of that appointment. The term of office of the chair and deputy chair 
of the national park authority begins on the date of election by that 
authority to that office. 

 A councillor member of a Welsh fire and rescue authority begins on the 
date on which that member is appointed as such by a constituent authority 
and the term of office of the chair and deputy chair of the fire and rescue 
authority begins on the date of election by that authority to that office. 

 A co-opted member of a relevant authority begins on the date of 
appointment by the relevant authority. 

 
Schedule of member remuneration (the Schedule) (does not apply to 
community or town councils – see Part 5) 
 

4. An authority must produce annually, a schedule of payments it intends to 
make to its members and co-opted members. The amount of those payments 
must accord with the Panel’s determinations made for that year in its Annual 
or Supplementary Reports. The Schedule must be produced no later than four 
weeks following the annual meeting of the authority. 

 
Amendment to the Schedule  
 

5. An authority may amend the Schedule at any time during the year (as relating 
to the authority) provided that such amendments accord with the Panel’s 
determinations for that year. 

 

Tudalen 77



67 
 

Basic salary 
 

6. An authority must provide for the payment of a basic salary, as determined by 
the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports, to each of its members. 
The amount of the salary must be the same for each member. For principal 
councils only, this salary remains payable during a period of family absence. 

 
7. A member may not receive more than one basic salary from a relevant 

authority, but a member of one relevant authority may receive a further basic 
salary by being appointed as a member of another relevant authority (except 
in the case as indicated in paragraph 16). 

 
8. The amount of the basic salary will be set in accordance with Section 142(3) 

of the Measure and will be one of the following: 
 

 The amount the authority must pay to a member of the authority. 

 The maximum amount that the authority may pay to a member of the 
authority. 

 
9. Where the term of office of a member begins or ends other than at the 

beginning or end of the year (as relating to the authority), the entitlement of 
that member is to such proportion of the basic salary as the number of days 
during which the member’s term of office subsists during that year bears to 
the number of days in that year. 

 
10. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member 

of an authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the part of the basic salary 
payable to that member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which 
that member is suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the 
authority (Section 155(1) of the Measure). 

 
Senior salary 
 
11. Subject to paragraphs 12 to 18 an authority can make payments of a 

senior salary to members that it has given specific responsibilities. Such 
payments must accord with the Panel’s determination for the year (as relating 
to the authority) that the payments are made and must be set out in the 
Schedule of that authority. For principal councils only, a senior salary will 
remain payable during the family absence of the office holder. 

 
12. The Panel will prescribe in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the following: 
 

 The categories of members eligible for the payment of a senior salary 
which may not be the same for all authorities or categories of authorities. 

 The discretion available to authorities in relation to the payment of  
senior salaries which may not be the same for all authorities or categories 
of authorities. 

 

Tudalen 78



68 
 

13. The amount of the senior salaries payable will be in accordance with 
section 142(3) of the Measure and specify: 

 

 The amount that a relevant authority must pay to a member of the  
authority. 

 The maximum amount that a relevant authority may pay to a member of 
the authority. 

 
14. The Senior Salary will comprise an amalgam of the basic salary and an  

additional amount for the relevant specific responsibility determined by the 
Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. This may not be the same for 
all authorities or categories of authorities. 

 
15. The Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports will determine either the 

maximum proportion of its membership or the total number of members that 
an authority can pay as senior salaries. The percentage may not exceed fifty 
percent without the express approval of Welsh Ministers (Section 142(5) of 
the Measure). For principal councils only, the maximum proportion or number 
may be exceeded to include payment of a senior salary to an additional 
member who is appointed to provide temporary cover for the family absence 
of a senior salary office holder (subject to the 50% limit). 

 
15(a). For principal councils, Fire and Rescue Authorities and National Park 

Authorities the maximum proportion or number may be exceeded to include 
the payment of a senior salary to an additional member who is appointed to 
provide temporary cover for the sickness absence of a senior salary holder as 
determined in the Annual Report or a Supplementary Report. 

 
15(b). Payments to chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees or Sub 

Committees are additional to the maximum proportion of its membership that 
an authority can pay as senior salaries subject to the overall maximum of fifty 
percent as contained in Section 142(5) of the Measure. The Panel will 
determine the amounts of such payments in an Annual or Supplementary 
Report. 

 
16. An authority must not pay more than one senior salary to any member. A 

principal council member in receipt of a senior salary as leader or executive 
member of a local authority (determined as full-time by the Panel) may not 
receive a second salary as a member appointed to serve on a national park 
authority or a Welsh fire and rescue authority. 

 
16(a). Paragraph 16 does not apply to payments made to a chair of a Joint Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee who is in receipt of a senior salary 
for a role that is not classified as full time equivalent. It continues to apply to 
leaders or members of the executive.  

 
17. Where a member does not have, throughout the year specific responsibilities 

that allow entitlement to a senior salary, that member’s payment is to be such 
proportion of the salary as the number of days during which that member has 
such special responsibility bears to the number of days in that year. 

Tudalen 79



69 
 

 
18. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member 

of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make 
payments of the member’s senior salary for the duration of the suspension 
(Section 155(1) of the Measure). If the partial suspension relates only to the 
specific responsibility element of the payment, the member may retain the 
basic salary. 

 
Co-opted member payment 
 

19. A relevant authority must provide for the payment of a fee to a co-opted 
member as determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. 
In relation to this regulation ‘co-opted member’ means a member as 
determined in Section 144(5) of the Measure and set out in paragraph 2 of 
these Regulations. 

 
20. Where a co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended from an 

authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make payment 
of a co-opted member fee for the duration of the suspension (Section 155(1) 
of the Measure). 

 
Allowances 
 
Costs of Care  

 
21. Authorities must provide for the payment to members and co-opted members 

of an authority the reimbursement in respect of such expenses of arranging 
the care of children or dependants or for the individual member as are 
necessarily incurred in carrying out official business as a member or co-opted 
member of that authority. Payments under this paragraph must not be made: 

 

 In respect of any child over the age of fifteen years or dependant unless 
the member/co-opted member satisfies the authority that the child or 
dependant required supervision which has caused the member to incur 
expenses that were necessary in respect of the care of that child or 
dependant in the carrying out of the duties of a member or co-opted 
member. 

 To more than one member/co-opted member of the authority in relation to 
the care of the same child or dependant. 

 Of more than one reimbursement for care to a member or co-opted 
member of the authority who is unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of 
the authority that the member/co-opted member has to make separate 
arrangements for the care of different children or dependants. 

22. The maximum amount of the cost of care payable by an authority is to be 
determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. 

 

23. Where a member/co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended from 
being a member or co-opted member of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act 

Tudalen 80



70 
 

refers) the part of the reimbursement of the cost of care payable to that 
member/co-opted member in receipt of the responsibilities or duties from 
which that member/co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended 
must be withheld by the authority (Section 155(1) of the Measure). 

 
24. An authority’s Schedule must stipulate the maximum amount of the 

reimbursement of costs of care payable each month and its arrangements for 
making claims, taking full account of the Panel’s determinations in this 
respect. 

 
 
Travel and subsistence allowances 
 
25. Subject to paragraphs 26 and 27 below a member or co-opted member is 

entitled to receive payments from the authority by way of travelling and 
subsistence allowances at rates determined by the Panel in its Annual or 
Supplementary Reports. Such allowances are in respect of expenditure 
incurred by a member or co-opted member in the performance of the official 
business of the authority. 

 
(Paragraphs 26 & 27 apply only to principal councils) 
 
26. Payment of a subsistence allowance to a local authority member for the 

performance of official business within the boundaries of a county or county 
borough where s/he is a member should only be made when the authority is 
satisfied that it can be justified on economic grounds. This does not apply in 
respect of co-opted members of a local authority who live outside that 
authority. 

 
27. A local authority may make provision, subject to any limitations it thinks fit, 

for members to claim mileage expenses for official business in connection 
with constituency or ward responsibilities where they arise out of the 
discharge of the functions of the county or county borough. 

 
28. Where a member or co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended 

from being a member or co-opted member of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 
Act refers), travelling and subsistence allowances payable to that member/co-
opted member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which that 
member is suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the 
authority (Section 155(1) of the Measure). 

 

Part 3: Further provisions 
 
Pensions 
 

29. Under Section 143 of the Measure, the Panel may make determinations in 
respect of pension arrangements for local authority members in its Annual or 
Supplementary Reports. Such determinations may: 

 

Tudalen 81



71 
 

 Describe the description of members for whom a local authority will be 
required to pay a pension. 

 Describe the relevant matters in respect of which a local authority will be 
required to pay a pension. 

 Make different decisions for different principal councils. 
 
 
 
 
Allowances to support the function of a local authority member 
 

30. A local authority must provide for the requirements of a member to undertake 
their role and responsibilities more effectively. The way in which this support 
should be provided is determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary 
Reports. 

 
Payment of expenses for official and courtesy visits 
 
31. The arrangements contained in Section 176 of the Local Government 

Act 1972 will continue to apply but no payment may be made to a person 
under that arrangement when a payment has been made to that person 
pursuant to any payment made under these Regulations. 

 
 
Arrangements in relation to family absence 
 

32. Part 2 of the Measure sets out the rights of local authority members in relation 
to family absence. The Panel will set out its determinations and the 
administrative arrangements in relation to the payment of salaries and 
allowances by principal councils in this respect in its Annual or Supplementary 
Reports. 

 
Sickness Absence 
 

32(a)  Arrangements in respect of the long term sickness absence of senior salary 
holders of principal authorities, Fire and Rescue Authorities and National Park 
Authorities will be as set out in the Panel’s Annual Report or Supplementary 
Report. 

 

Part 4: Salaries, allowances or fees 
 
Repayment of salaries, allowances or fees 
 

33. An authority must require that such part of a salary, allowance or fee be 
repaid where payment has already been made in respect of any period during 
which the member or co-opted member concerned: 

 

Tudalen 82



72 
 

 is suspended or partially suspended from that member’s/co-opted 
member’s duties or responsibilities in accordance with Part 3 of the 
2000 Act or Regulations made under that Act. 

 ceases to be a member or co-opted member of the authority. 

 or in any way is not entitled to receive a salary, allowance or fee in respect 
of that period. 

 
Forgoing salaries, allowances or fees 
 

34. Under Section 154 of the Measure, any member or co-opted member may by 
notice in writing to the proper officer of the authority elect to forgo any part of 
their entitlement to a salary, allowance or fee under the determination of the 
Panel for that particular year (as relating to the authority). 

 

Part 5: Specific provisions relating to community and town 
councils (“the council”) 
 
Interpretation 
 

35. For the purposes of this Part the term member means both an elected 
member and a co-opted member. 

 
Allowances 
 
36. Allowances: 
 

a) The council can if it so determines make an annual payment to members 
in respect of costs incurred in carrying out the role of a member. The 
maximum amount payable will be set out in the Annual or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

b) The council can if it so determines make payments to members in respect 
of costs of travel for attending approved duties inside or outside the area 
of the council. The amounts claimable will be set out in the Annual or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

c) The council can if it so determines reimburse subsistence expenses to its 
members when attending approved duties inside or outside the area of the 
council. The arrangements for reimbursement will be set out in the Annual 
or Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

d) The council can if it so determines pay compensation for Financial Loss to 
its members where such loss has occurred for attending approved duties 
outside the area of the council. The Allowances will be set out in the 
Annual or Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

e) The council can if it so determines pay an allowance to the chair or mayor 
of the council for the purposes of undertaking the role of that office. The 
allowance will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary Report of the 
Panel 

Tudalen 83



73 
 

g)  The council can if it so determines pay a responsibility allowance to a 
number of its members as stipulated in the Annual Report of the Panel. 
 

h) The council if it so determines reimburse the costs of care to a member 
as stipulated in the Annual Report of the Panel. 
 

37. A member may elect to forgo any part of an entitlement to an allowance under 
these Regulations by giving notice in writing to the proper officer of the 
council. 

 
38. A member making a claim for compensation for Financial Loss must sign a 

statement that the member has not made and will not make any other claim in 
respect of the matter to which the claim relates. 

 
39.  “Approved Duty” under this Part means  

i. Attendance at a meeting of the council or of any committee or sub-
committee of the council or of any other body to which the council makes 
appointments or nominations or of any committee or sub-committee of 
such a body. 

ii. Attendance at any other meeting the holding of which is authorised by the 
council or a committee or sub-committee of the council, or a joint 
committee of the council and one or more councils, or a sub-committee of 
such a joint committee provided that at least two members of the council 
have been invited and where the council is divided into political groupings 
at least two such groups have been invited. 

iii. Attendance at a meeting of any association of councils of which the 
council is a member. 

iv. Attendance at any training or development event approved by the council. 

v. Any other duty approved the council or duty of a class approved by the 
council for the discharge of its functions or any of its committees or 
sub-committees. 

 

 
Part 6: Miscellaneous 
 
Arrangements for payments 
 
40. The Schedule of an authority must set out the arrangements for the payment 

of salaries, allowances and fees to all members and co-opted members of that 
authority. Such payments may be made at such times and at such intervals as 
determined by the authority. 

 
Claims 
 

41. An authority must specify a time limit from the date on which an entitlement to 
travelling or subsistence allowance arises during which a claim for those 
allowances must be made by the person to whom they are payable. However, 

Tudalen 84



74 
 

this does not prevent an authority from making a payment where the 
allowance is not claimed within the period specified. 

 
42. Any claim for payment of travelling or subsistence allowance in accordance 

with these Regulations (excluding claims for travel by private motor vehicle) 
shall be accompanied by appropriate receipts proving actual expenses. 

 
Avoidance of duplication 
 
43. A claim for a payment of travelling allowance or subsistence allowance must 

include, or be accompanied by, a statement signed by the member or co-
opted member that the member/co-opted member has not made and will not 
make any other claim in respect of the matter to which the claim relates. 

 
Records of salaries, allowances and fees 
 

44. An authority must keep a record of the payments made in accordance with 
these Regulations. Such record must: 

 

 Specify the name of the recipient and the amount and nature of each 
payment. 

 Be available, at all reasonable times, for inspection (without charge) by 
any local government elector (within the meaning of section 270(1) of the 
1972 Act) for the area of the authority. 

 Allow a person who is entitled to inspect the record to make a copy of any 
part of it upon payment of such reasonable fee as the authority may 
require. 

 
Publicity requirements  
 
(The required content of publicity requirements is contained in an annex to the 
Annual Report) 
 
45. An authority must, as soon as practicable after determining its Schedule of 

Remuneration for the year under these Regulations and any Report of the 
Panel and not later than 31 July of the year to which the Schedule refers, 
make arrangements for the Schedule’s publication within the authority’s area. 
(This section does not apply to community and town councils). 

 
46. As soon as practicable and no later than 30 September following the end of a 

year an authority must make arrangements for the publication within the 
authority’s area, the total sum paid by it to each member/co-opted member in 
respect of basic salary, senior salary, co-opted member fee, reimbursement of 
costs of care, travel and subsistence allowances. (This section applies to all 
relevant authorities). 

 

47. In the same timescale and in the same manner, a local authority must make 
arrangements for the publication of any further remuneration received by a 

Tudalen 85



75 
 

member nominated or appointed to another relevant authority. (This section 
applies only to principal councils). 

 
 
Publicising the reports of the Panel 
 

48. Under Section 146(7) (a) and (b) of the Measure, the Panel will send a 
consultation draft of its Annual Report or Supplementary Report to all relevant 
authorities for circulation to authority members and co-opted members, so that 
representations can be made by members/co-opted members to the Panel, 
normally in a period of eight weeks. 

 
49. The Panel will determine in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the 

arrangements publicising its Reports in accordance with Section 151 and 152 
of the Measure. 

 
Monitoring compliance with the Panel’s determinations 
 
50. Section 153 of the Measure determines that relevant authorities must comply 

with the requirements imposed by the Panel in its Annual Reports. It also 
empowers the Panel to monitor the payments made by relevant authorities 
and for it to require the provision of information that it specifies. The 
requirements under this section will be set out in the Annual Report of the 
Panel. 

 

Tudalen 86



76 
 

Annex 3: Schedule of member remuneration 

 
1. Principal councils, national park authorities (NPAs) and Welsh fire and rescue 

authorities (FRAs) (but not community and town councils) must maintain an 
annual Schedule of Member Remuneration (the ‘Schedule’) which is in accord 
with the Panel’s determinations on member salary and co-opted member 
payments and which must contain the following information: 
 

In respect of a principal council: 
 

a. Named members who are to receive only the basic salary and the amount 
to be paid. 

b. Named members who are to receive a Band 1 and Band 2 senior salary, 
the office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid. 

c. Named members who are to receive a Band 3, Band 4 and Band 5 senior 
salary, the office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid. 

d. Named members who are to receive a civic salary and the amount to be 
paid. 

e. Named members who are to receive the co-opted member fee and whether 
chair or ordinary member and the amount to be paid. 

f. Named members who are to receive a senior salary as a chair of a Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee and the amount to 
be paid. 
 

g. Named members in receipt of a specific or additional senior salary 
approved by the Panel and the amount to be paid.  
 
 

In respect of National Park and Fire and Rescue Authorities: 
 

a.  Named members who are to receive a basic salary and the amount to be 
paid. 
 

b.  Named member who is to receive a senior salary as a chair of the 
authority and the amount to be paid. 
 

c.  Named members who are to receive a senior salary as deputy chair of a 
committee and the amount to be paid. 
 

d.  Named members who are to receive the co-opted member fee and 
whether a chair or ordinary member and the amounts to be paid. 

 
2. Amendments made to the Schedule during the municipal year must be 

communicated to the Panel as soon as it is practicable. 
 
3. Principal councils must confirm in their annual Schedule that the maximum 

limit of senior salaries set for the council has not been exceeded. 

Tudalen 87



77 
 

 
4. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must include a statement of allowable 

expenses and the duties for which they may be claimed for care, travel and 
subsistence in their annual Schedule which is in accord with the Panel’s 
determinations. 

 
5. The Schedule must set out the arrangements for the payment of salaries, 

allowances and fees to all members and co-opted members of the relevant 
authority (IRPW Regulation 35); arrangements for making claims for care, 
travel and subsistence expenses (IRPW Regulations 24 and 36-37); 
arrangements for the avoidance of duplication (IRPW Regulation 38) and 
arrangements for re-payment of salaries, allowances and fees (IRPW 
Regulation 33). This schedule must also include the duties for which members 
and co-opted members are able to claim travel, subsistence and 
reimbursement of care costs. 

 
6. Principal councils must declare in the Schedule whether: 
 

 A statement of the basic responsibility of a councillor is in place. 

 Role descriptors of senior salary office holders are in place. 

 Records are kept of councillor attendance. 

 Annual reports are prepared by councillors, and published on the council 
website. 

7. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must make arrangements for the 
publication of the Schedule of Member Remuneration as soon as practicable 
after its determination and no later than 31 July of the year to which it applies. 
This should be sent to the Panel no later than this date. The Schedule should 
be published in a manner that provides ready access for members of the 
public. 

 
8.  The Schedule must also be sent to the Panel Secretariat to be received by 31 

July. 
 

Tudalen 88



78 
 

Annex 4: Publication of Remuneration – the Panel’s 
Requirements 

 
In accordance with Section 151 of the Measure the Panel requires that: 
 

1. Relevant authorities must publish a Statement of Payments made to its 
members (including chairs of JOSCs or sub-committees of JOSCs). This 
information must be published in a form and location that is easily accessible 
to members of the public no later than 30 September following the end of the 
year to which the payments relate and in the same timescale also provided to 
the Panel. The following information must be provided: 

 
a. The amount of basic salary, senior salary, civic salary and co-opted 

member fee paid to each named member/co-opted member of the relevant 
authority, including where the member had chosen to forego all or part of 
the salary, or fee for the municipal year in question. Where a senior salary 
has been paid, the title of the senior office held is to be provided. 

b. The payments made by community and town councils to named members 
as: 
 

 Payments in respect of telephone usage, information technology, 
consumables etc. 

 Responsibility payments 

 Allowances made to a mayor/chair and deputy mayor/deputy chair 

 Compensation for Financial Loss 

 Costs incurred in respect of travel and subsistence 

 Reimbursement of the costs of care (see paragraph f below) 
 

c. All, travel and subsistence expenses, reimbursement of the costs of care 
(see paragraph f below) and other payments received by each named 
member and co-opted member of the relevant authority, with each 
category identified separately.  

d. The amount of any further payments received by any named member 
nominated to, or appointed by, another relevant authority or other public 
body as defined by Section 67 of the Local Government (Democracy) 
(Wales) Act 2013, namely: 

 a local health board 

 a police and crime panel 

 a relevant authority  

 a body designated as a public body in an order made by the Welsh 
Ministers. 

e. Names of members who did not receive basic or senior salary because 
they were suspended for all or part of the annual period to which the 
Schedule applies. 

 

Tudalen 89



79 
 

f. In respect of the publication of the reimbursement of the costs of care, the 
Panel has decided to provide relevant authorities with two options. 
 
1) The details of the amounts reimbursed to named members; or 
2) The total amount reimbursed by the authority during the year but not 

attributed to any named member. 
 

It is a matter for each authority to decide which of these options for 
publication it considers appropriate.  

 
2. Nil returns are required to be published and provided to the Panel by 30 

September. 

  

Tudalen 90



80 
 

Annex 5: Ministerial Remit Letter to the Independent 
Remuneration Panel for Wales  

 

John Bader 
Chair  
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
irpmailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

 

         17 March 2016 

Dear John 

Thank you for the copy of your latest Annual Report for 2016; I was pleased to note 

that you have not proposed any increases in remuneration for the basic or senior 

salary with the continual pressures that Local Authorities are facing. I was interested 

to see that the Panel have introduced two salary levels for Executive members to 

provide more flexibility at local level and to reflect the many differences in 

responsibilities attached to specific posts.                       

You are aware that the workload of the Panel is likely to increase in the foreseeable 

future.  This will include the Panel’s role in considering what remuneration is 

appropriate for Shadow Authorities or newly formed Councils post-merger, as set out 

in section 25 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 2015.  I also note the Panel’s 

temporary extension of functions in relation to salaries of chief officers in section 39 

of that Act.                                                    

 As a result of such changes the Panel will be enlarged to six members in June of 

this year. In light of such expansion I hope that the Panel will provide a 

comprehensive induction for new members.  

I look forward to seeing how the Panel develops in the coming years, and contributes 

to new policy development around the remuneration of members 

I also look forward to receiving your next annual report and noting the degree to 

which the changes to your functions have affected your work.  

Yours Sincerely 

Leighton Andrews AC/AM 

Y Gweinidog Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus 

Minister for Public Services                                                                                                                                                                                          

 

Tudalen 91

mailto:irpmailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk


81 
 

  

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
Room M.05 
First Floor 
Crown Buildings 
Cathay’s Park 
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 
 
Telephone: 029 2080 1047 
E-mail: irpmailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

 
The Report and other information about the Panel and its work are available on 
our website at: 
www.remunerationpanelwales.org.uk 
 

Tudalen 92

mailto:irpmailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.remunerationpanelwales.org.uk/


PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU 
DEMOCRATAIDD  

28ain O DACHWEDD 2016 

Swyddogaeth Graffu Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin – 
Adroddiad Blynyddol 2015/16

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen:

 Bod y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd yn ystyried ac yn derbyn adroddiad 
blynyddol 2015/16 y Swyddogaeth Graffu.  

Rhesymau: 

 Darparu trosolwg i’r Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd o waith Swyddogaeth 
Graffu y Cyngor, ynghyd â’r pwyllgorau craffu priodol, yn ystod blwyddyn y cyngor 
2015/16. 

Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol:   
Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud 
penderfyniad: Angen i’r Cyngor wneud 
penderfyniad:

DDIM YN BERTHNASOL 
NAC OES
NAC OES

Hyrwyddwr Craffu Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin: 
Cyng. Hugh Richards (Cadeirydd Fforwm Cadeiryddion ac Is-Gadeiryddion y Pwyllgorau 
Craffu / Pwyllgor Craffu Polisi ac Adnoddau)  

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Prif Weithredwr 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:
Linda Rees Jones 

Awdur yr Adroddiad:
Matthew Hughes 

Swyddi:

Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a’r 
Gyfraith 

Swyddog Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd  

Rhifau Ffôn / Cyfeiriadau E-Bost:

01267 224010 
lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk

01267 224029 
mahughes@sirgar.gov.uk 

Tudalen 93

Eitem Rhif  5

mailto:lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:mahughes@sirgar.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE
28th NOVEMBER 2016 

Carmarthenshire County Council’s Scrutiny Function – 
Annual Report 2015/16

 

Scrutiny plays a key role in promoting accountability in the decision making process of 
local authorities. It is also useful in ensuring that council policies reflect current priorities, 
as well as promoting efficiency and encouraging partnership working with external 
agencies. 

All non-executive elected members can be appointed to at least one scrutiny committee, 
depending on their specialist interests or expertise. Carmarthenshire County Council has 
5 scrutiny committees:

 Policy & Resources
 Community
 Education & Children
 Environmental & Public Protection
 Social Care & Health

The committees normally meet on a 6 weekly basis to consider issues and reports 
included in a scrutiny forward work programme, which is developed at the beginning of 
the municipal year. Additional meetings are sometimes arranged if required and special 
or joint meetings may be held to consider urgent or cross-cutting issues.

The attached report provides an overview of the Council’s Scrutiny Function and the 
respective scrutiny committees’ work during the 2015/16 municipal year and includes 
details of: 

 The scrutiny committees and their activities
 Other scrutiny-related activities
 The year ahead 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES  

Tudalen 94



IMPLICATIONS
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate 
Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications 
associated with this report.

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones            Head of Administration & Law  

Policy, 
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets 

YES YES NONE NONE YES NONE NONE 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

The Scrutiny function has an important role in helping the Council to achieve its
expressed aims:

 People in Carmarthenshire are healthier 
 People in Carmarthenshire fulfil their learning potential 
 People who live, work and visit Carmarthenshire are safe and feel safer 
 Carmarthenshire's communities and environment are sustainable 
 Carmarthenshire has a stronger and more prosperous economy

2. Legal 

Article 6.2 of the County Council’s Constitution states that a scrutiny committee must:

“Prepare an annual report giving an account of the Committee’s activities over the 
previous year.”

Each Committee has prepared individual annual reports which have been combined in 
this report of scrutiny activity during 2015/16 to the Democratic Services Committee. 

3. Risk Management

 An ineffective scrutiny function could undermine the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements and lead to poor quality decision making.

 Lack of progress in enhancing the role of scrutiny will impact on its effectiveness and 
esteem within the Council.

Tudalen 95



CONSULTATIONS
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below:

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones            Head of Administration & Law  

1. Scrutiny Committee(s) – This report contains information from the individual scrutiny 
committee annual reports, received by the relevant committees at their between July 
and October 2016. 

2. Local Member(s) – N/A

3. Community / Town Council – N/A

4. Relevant Partners – N/A 

5. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – N/A

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW: 

Title of 
Document

File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public inspection

Scrutiny 
Committee 
Annual Reports 
for 2015/16 

Community Scrutiny Committee (20th July 2016) – 
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s7505/Report.pdf 

Education & Children Scrutiny Committee (22nd September 2016) – 
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s8647/Report.pdf 

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Committee (26th September 2016) 
– http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s8617/Report.pdf 

Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee (5th October 2016) – 
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s8936/REPORT.pdf 
  
Social Care & Health Scrutiny Committee (20th September 2016) – 
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s8637/Annual%20Report.pdf 

Centre for Public 
Scrutiny (CfPS) 

http://www.cfps.org.uk

Local 
Government 
(Wales) Measure 
2011

English – http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/pdfs/mwa_20110004_en.pdf

Cymraeg – http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/pdfs/mwa_20110004_we.pdf 

Tudalen 96

http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s7505/Report.pdf
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s8647/Report.pdf
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s8617/Report.pdf
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s8936/REPORT.pdf
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s8637/Annual%20Report.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/pdfs/mwa_20110004_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/pdfs/mwa_20110004_we.pdf


Title of Document File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public inspection

Scrutiny Committee 
Agendas and 
Minutes 

Community Scrutiny Committee 
Cymraeg – 
http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=186 

English – 
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=186 

Education & Children Scrutiny Committee 
Cymraeg – 
http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=153 

English – 
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=153 

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Committee 
Cymraeg – 
http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=134 

English – 
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=134 

Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 
Cymraeg – 
http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=170 

English – 
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=170 

Social Care & Health Scrutiny Committee 
Cymraeg – 
http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=169 

English – 
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=169 

Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s 
Constitution 
(Revised as at 
Council 15th May 
2013)

Cymraeg – 
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/Cymraeg/cyngorademocratiaeth/CyarfodydPwyllg
or/Pages/TheCouncilsConstitution.aspx

English – 
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/english/council/councillors/pages/councilsconstitu
tion.aspx  

Tudalen 97

http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=186
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=186
http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=153
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=153
http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=134
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=134
http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=170
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=170
http://democratiaeth.sirgar.llyw.cymru/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=169
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=169
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/Cymraeg/cyngorademocratiaeth/CyarfodydPwyllgor/Pages/TheCouncilsConstitution.aspx
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/Cymraeg/cyngorademocratiaeth/CyarfodydPwyllgor/Pages/TheCouncilsConstitution.aspx
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/english/council/councillors/pages/councilsconstitution.aspx
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/english/council/councillors/pages/councilsconstitution.aspx


Title of Document File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public inspection

Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 
2011 – Welsh 
Government 
Explanatory 
Memorandum and 
Guidance for 
Principal Authorities 
and Community and 
Town Councils 

Cymraeg –
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/publications/lgmeasure11/?skip=1&lang=
cy

English – 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/publications/lgmeasure11/?lang=en

Tudalen 98

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/publications/lgmeasure11/?skip=1&lang=cy
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/publications/lgmeasure11/?skip=1&lang=cy
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/publications/lgmeasure11/?lang=en


#

Carmarthenshire County Council’s 
Scrutiny Function
Annual Report 2015/16

Tudalen 99



2 3

                       Page

Foreword                      04

Scrutiny in Carmarthenshire                      05

The Scrutiny Committees                     07
Community Scrutiny Committee                    08
Education & Children Scrutiny Committee                  09
Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Committee                 12
Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee                 14 
Social Care & Health Scrutiny Committee                  15

Other Activities during 2014/15                     17
Chairs & Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Forum         
Scrutiny Member Development and Training 
ERW Scrutiny Councillor Group
Wales Scrutiny Managers Network and CfPS Events
Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011

Looking ahead to 2016/17                    18

Support for the Scrutiny Function                   19

Scrutiny Committee Chairs & Vice-Chairs during 2015/16                     20

Glossary of Terms                     22

Contents

[This page is intentionally left blank]

Tudalen 100



2 3

                       Page

Foreword                      04

Scrutiny in Carmarthenshire                      05

The Scrutiny Committees                     07
Community Scrutiny Committee                    08
Education & Children Scrutiny Committee                  09
Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Committee                 12
Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee                 14 
Social Care & Health Scrutiny Committee                  15

Other Activities during 2014/15                     17
Chairs & Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Forum         
Scrutiny Member Development and Training 
ERW Scrutiny Councillor Group
Wales Scrutiny Managers Network and CfPS Events
Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011

Looking ahead to 2016/17                    18

Support for the Scrutiny Function                   19

Scrutiny Committee Chairs & Vice-Chairs during 2015/16                     20

Glossary of Terms                     22

Contents

[This page is intentionally left blank]

Tudalen 101



4 5

I am pleased to present this Annual Report for 
Carmarthenshire County Council’s Scrutiny 
Function for the 2015/16 municipal year. 

The Annual Repor t provides a useful 
opportunity to reect on the work of the 
Council’s Scrutiny Committees during the past 
year.

It has continued to be a challenging period for 
the Council, particularly the unprecedented 
budget situation faced by all local authorities in 
Wales. However, I’m sure that all the scrutiny 
committees have played their part in terms of 
scrutinising performance and contributing to 
key council policies and decisions. 

A number of joint meetings held during the past 
year which allowed a number of cross-cutting 
issues to be discussed and scrutinised by our 
committees. Joint meetings are benecial in 
that they help pool the expertise found on 
different committees and in turn improving all 
members’ knowledge of important topics. 

It was also pleasing to note the public 
participation at a meeting of the Education & 
Children Scrutiny Committee in March 2016 as 
parents and community representatives from 
Llanedi addressed the Committee with a series 
of questions. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all 
members of our Scrutiny Committees for their 
constructive input during the course of the year 
as well as my colleagues on the Chairs & Vice-
Chairs of Scrutiny Forum. I would also like to 
take this opportunity to express my sincere 
thanks and appreciation to our partners’ 
participation in Scrutiny through formal reports 
and their engagement in our detailed 
investigations.

Finally I would like to thank all the ofcers who 
have provided support, advice and guidance 
throughout the year, particularly those in the 
Democratic Services Unit.

Cllr. Hugh Richards
Chair of Chairs & Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Forum 
and Carmarthenshire County Council’s 
Scrutiny Champion

Foreword

Scrutiny plays a key role in improving the 
services that the people and children of 
Carmarthenshire use. The majority of decisions 
are made by the Executive Board of 10 county 
councillors. Scrutiny offers the other 64 
councillors an opportunity to inuence those 
decisions and act as a ‘critical friend’. It is also 
useful in ensuring that Council policies reect 
current priorities, as well as promoting 
efciency and encouraging effective partnership 
working with external bodies. Scrutiny 
Committees’ main roles and responsibilities are 
to:

 Examine how well the Executive Board and 
Council are performing.

 Hold the Executive Board to account and 
seek to promote open and transparent 
decision-making.

 Monitor the performance of the Council’s 
services and functions.

 Review decisions made by the Executive 
Board where appropriate.

 Ass is t  the Execut ive Board in  the 
development, monitoring and review of 
policy.

 Scrutinise, as a key element of the 
consultation process, the proposed revenue 
budget strategy and capital investment 
programmes.

 Enable the participation of external 
organisations and partners in consideration 
of issues that may impact upon the delivery 
of Council and countywide priorities. 

All non-executive councillors can be appointed 
to at least one Scrutiny committee, depending 
on their specialist interests or expertise. 
Carmarthenshire County Council has 5 Scrutiny 
Committees:

 Policy & Resources
 Community
 Education & Children

 Environmental & Public Protection
 Social Care & Health

The Committees normally meet 8 times a year 
on a 6 weekly basis to consider issues and 
reports included in a scrutiny forward work 
programme, which is developed at the 
beginning of the municipal year. Additional 
meetings are sometimes arranged if required 
and special or joint meetings may be held to 
consider urgent or cross-cutting issues.

The Scrutiny Committees are politically 
balanced to reect, as far as possible, the 
political composition of the Council as a whole. 
The Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny 
Committees are appointed at the beginning of 
each municipal year for a period of one year 
(e.g. May 2015 to April 2016) by Council. They 
also participate in the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of 
Scrutiny Forum which meets on a quarterly 
basis to oversee the strategic direction of 
Scrutiny. 
 

Scrutiny in Carmarthenshire

Tudalen 102



4 5

I am pleased to present this Annual Report for 
Carmarthenshire County Council’s Scrutiny 
Function for the 2015/16 municipal year. 

The Annual Repor t provides a useful 
opportunity to reect on the work of the 
Council’s Scrutiny Committees during the past 
year.

It has continued to be a challenging period for 
the Council, particularly the unprecedented 
budget situation faced by all local authorities in 
Wales. However, I’m sure that all the scrutiny 
committees have played their part in terms of 
scrutinising performance and contributing to 
key council policies and decisions. 

A number of joint meetings held during the past 
year which allowed a number of cross-cutting 
issues to be discussed and scrutinised by our 
committees. Joint meetings are benecial in 
that they help pool the expertise found on 
different committees and in turn improving all 
members’ knowledge of important topics. 

It was also pleasing to note the public 
participation at a meeting of the Education & 
Children Scrutiny Committee in March 2016 as 
parents and community representatives from 
Llanedi addressed the Committee with a series 
of questions. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all 
members of our Scrutiny Committees for their 
constructive input during the course of the year 
as well as my colleagues on the Chairs & Vice-
Chairs of Scrutiny Forum. I would also like to 
take this opportunity to express my sincere 
thanks and appreciation to our partners’ 
participation in Scrutiny through formal reports 
and their engagement in our detailed 
investigations.

Finally I would like to thank all the ofcers who 
have provided support, advice and guidance 
throughout the year, particularly those in the 
Democratic Services Unit.

Cllr. Hugh Richards
Chair of Chairs & Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Forum 
and Carmarthenshire County Council’s 
Scrutiny Champion

Foreword

Scrutiny plays a key role in improving the 
services that the people and children of 
Carmarthenshire use. The majority of decisions 
are made by the Executive Board of 10 county 
councillors. Scrutiny offers the other 64 
councillors an opportunity to inuence those 
decisions and act as a ‘critical friend’. It is also 
useful in ensuring that Council policies reect 
current priorities, as well as promoting 
efciency and encouraging effective partnership 
working with external bodies. Scrutiny 
Committees’ main roles and responsibilities are 
to:

 Examine how well the Executive Board and 
Council are performing.

 Hold the Executive Board to account and 
seek to promote open and transparent 
decision-making.

 Monitor the performance of the Council’s 
services and functions.

 Review decisions made by the Executive 
Board where appropriate.

 Ass is t  the Execut ive Board in  the 
development, monitoring and review of 
policy.

 Scrutinise, as a key element of the 
consultation process, the proposed revenue 
budget strategy and capital investment 
programmes.

 Enable the participation of external 
organisations and partners in consideration 
of issues that may impact upon the delivery 
of Council and countywide priorities. 

All non-executive councillors can be appointed 
to at least one Scrutiny committee, depending 
on their specialist interests or expertise. 
Carmarthenshire County Council has 5 Scrutiny 
Committees:

 Policy & Resources
 Community
 Education & Children

 Environmental & Public Protection
 Social Care & Health

The Committees normally meet 8 times a year 
on a 6 weekly basis to consider issues and 
reports included in a scrutiny forward work 
programme, which is developed at the 
beginning of the municipal year. Additional 
meetings are sometimes arranged if required 
and special or joint meetings may be held to 
consider urgent or cross-cutting issues.

The Scrutiny Committees are politically 
balanced to reect, as far as possible, the 
political composition of the Council as a whole. 
The Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny 
Committees are appointed at the beginning of 
each municipal year for a period of one year 
(e.g. May 2015 to April 2016) by Council. They 
also participate in the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of 
Scrutiny Forum which meets on a quarterly 
basis to oversee the strategic direction of 
Scrutiny. 
 

Scrutiny in Carmarthenshire

Tudalen 103



6 7

The Scrutiny Committees

[This page is intentionally left blank]

Tudalen 104



6 7

The Scrutiny Committees

[This page is intentionally left blank]

Tudalen 105



8 9

Community Scrutiny Committee

The Community Scrutiny Committee has 13 
members and its remit covers:

 Public and private housing
 Regeneration
 Economic development
 Recreation and leisure
 Sport 
 Libraries / Arts / Theatres
 Museums / Archives
 European grants / External funding
 Planning policy

Committee meetings – During 2015/16 the 
Committee considered reports on a wide range 
of topics including:

 Task & Finish Group Action Plan Monitoring: 
Planning Enforcement and Protocols (jointly 
with the Planning Committee on two 
occasions) 

 Performance Management Framework 
(Communities Department) 

 Annual Performance Report (Planning) 
 Leisure Services Annual Update
 Economic Development Update 
 Welsh Government’s Home Improvement 

Loan Scheme 
 Alternative Management Options for Leisure 
 Our Commitment to Affordable Homes 
 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 Pre-Application Fees (Planning)  
 Review of the Access to Social Housing 

Policy 
 Affordable Homes Delivery Plan 
 Community Scrutiny Committee Task & 

Finish Group 2014/15 – Empty Properties in 
Carmarthenshire

The Committee was also consulted on the 
following issues:

 Carmarthenshire County Council’s Annual 

Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16

 Promoting Independence for Older People in 
Carmarthenshire (Jointly with the Social 
Care & Health Scrutiny Committee in July 
2015) 

 Annual Revenue Budget Consultation 
(2016/17 to 2018/19) 

 Housing Revenue Account and Housing Rent 
Setting 2016/17 (Revenue and Capital) 

 The Carmarthenshire Homes Standard Plus 
(CHS+) ‘Delivering What Matters’ 

The Committee did not undertake a task and 
nish review or hold any site visits during 
2015/16.
.

Education & Children Scrutiny Committee

The Education & Children Scrutiny Committee 
has 18 members and its remit covers:

 Schools
 Children’s Services
 Youth Service
 Inclusion / Special Educational Needs
 Adult Community Learning

Committee meetings – During 2015/16 the 
Committee considered reports on a wide range 
of topics including:

 Carmarthenshire Adult & Community 
Learning Service: Progress Report on ACL 
Service Provision 2015-16 

 Young People Not in Education, Employment 
or Training (NEET): A Carmarthenshire 
Perspective

 Youth Services Update Report 
 ERW Business Plan 2015/16 and Review of 

2014/15 
 Results of the 2015 Teacher Assessment and 

External Examinations
 School Performance and Achievement 

2014/15 
 Carmarthenshire’s School Categorisation 

Outcomes 2016
 Welsh in Education Strategic Plan update 
 School Attendance 
 Annual Report of the Statutory Director of 

Social Services on the effectiveness of Social 
Care Services in Carmarthenshire 2014/15 
15 (jointly with the Social Care & Health 
Scrutiny Committee in June 2015) 

 CYSUR (Regional Safeguarding Children 
Board) Annual Report 2014/15 

 Children & Young People’s Participation 
Strategy 2015-18, Action Plan and 
Children’s Rights Promise 

 Care & Social Services Inspectorate Wales’ 
(CSSIW) Inspection, Evaluation and Review 
of Local Authority Social Services 2014/15 

(jointly with the Social Care & Health 
Scrutiny Committee in November 2015) 

 Mid & West Wales Adoption Service 
 Corporate Parenting & Safeguarding Panel 

Annual Report 
 Sickness absence management within 

schools 

It was also consulted on the following matters:

 Introduction of a Corporate Safeguarding 
Policy to cover all Council service areas 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposed discontinuation of Copperworks 

 Infants & Nursery School and Lakeeld 
Primary School and the establishment of a 
new primary school 

 Revenue Budget Strategy Consultation 
2016/17 to 2018/19 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to change the language category of 
Ysgol Bro Myrddin from Bilingual (2A) to 
Welsh-medium (WM) 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to discontinue Llangennech Infant 
School and Llangennech Junior School and 
establish Llangennech Community Primary 
School 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to discontinue Llanedi Primary 
School 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to discontinue Bancffosfelen 
Primary School 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to discontinue Llanmiloe Primary, 
Tremoilet Voluntar y Control led and 
Laugharne Voluntary Controlled Primary 
Schools and create a new area school

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposals to change the age ranges of Betws, 
Pembrey, Pwll and Bynea Primary Schools 
from 4-11 to 3-11 

Tudalen 106



8 9

Community Scrutiny Committee

The Community Scrutiny Committee has 13 
members and its remit covers:

 Public and private housing
 Regeneration
 Economic development
 Recreation and leisure
 Sport 
 Libraries / Arts / Theatres
 Museums / Archives
 European grants / External funding
 Planning policy

Committee meetings – During 2015/16 the 
Committee considered reports on a wide range 
of topics including:

 Task & Finish Group Action Plan Monitoring: 
Planning Enforcement and Protocols (jointly 
with the Planning Committee on two 
occasions) 

 Performance Management Framework 
(Communities Department) 

 Annual Performance Report (Planning) 
 Leisure Services Annual Update
 Economic Development Update 
 Welsh Government’s Home Improvement 

Loan Scheme 
 Alternative Management Options for Leisure 
 Our Commitment to Affordable Homes 
 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 Pre-Application Fees (Planning)  
 Review of the Access to Social Housing 

Policy 
 Affordable Homes Delivery Plan 
 Community Scrutiny Committee Task & 

Finish Group 2014/15 – Empty Properties in 
Carmarthenshire

The Committee was also consulted on the 
following issues:

 Carmarthenshire County Council’s Annual 

Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16

 Promoting Independence for Older People in 
Carmarthenshire (Jointly with the Social 
Care & Health Scrutiny Committee in July 
2015) 

 Annual Revenue Budget Consultation 
(2016/17 to 2018/19) 

 Housing Revenue Account and Housing Rent 
Setting 2016/17 (Revenue and Capital) 

 The Carmarthenshire Homes Standard Plus 
(CHS+) ‘Delivering What Matters’ 

The Committee did not undertake a task and 
nish review or hold any site visits during 
2015/16.
.

Education & Children Scrutiny Committee

The Education & Children Scrutiny Committee 
has 18 members and its remit covers:

 Schools
 Children’s Services
 Youth Service
 Inclusion / Special Educational Needs
 Adult Community Learning

Committee meetings – During 2015/16 the 
Committee considered reports on a wide range 
of topics including:

 Carmarthenshire Adult & Community 
Learning Service: Progress Report on ACL 
Service Provision 2015-16 

 Young People Not in Education, Employment 
or Training (NEET): A Carmarthenshire 
Perspective

 Youth Services Update Report 
 ERW Business Plan 2015/16 and Review of 

2014/15 
 Results of the 2015 Teacher Assessment and 

External Examinations
 School Performance and Achievement 

2014/15 
 Carmarthenshire’s School Categorisation 

Outcomes 2016
 Welsh in Education Strategic Plan update 
 School Attendance 
 Annual Report of the Statutory Director of 

Social Services on the effectiveness of Social 
Care Services in Carmarthenshire 2014/15 
15 (jointly with the Social Care & Health 
Scrutiny Committee in June 2015) 

 CYSUR (Regional Safeguarding Children 
Board) Annual Report 2014/15 

 Children & Young People’s Participation 
Strategy 2015-18, Action Plan and 
Children’s Rights Promise 

 Care & Social Services Inspectorate Wales’ 
(CSSIW) Inspection, Evaluation and Review 
of Local Authority Social Services 2014/15 

(jointly with the Social Care & Health 
Scrutiny Committee in November 2015) 

 Mid & West Wales Adoption Service 
 Corporate Parenting & Safeguarding Panel 

Annual Report 
 Sickness absence management within 

schools 

It was also consulted on the following matters:

 Introduction of a Corporate Safeguarding 
Policy to cover all Council service areas 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposed discontinuation of Copperworks 

 Infants & Nursery School and Lakeeld 
Primary School and the establishment of a 
new primary school 

 Revenue Budget Strategy Consultation 
2016/17 to 2018/19 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to change the language category of 
Ysgol Bro Myrddin from Bilingual (2A) to 
Welsh-medium (WM) 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to discontinue Llangennech Infant 
School and Llangennech Junior School and 
establish Llangennech Community Primary 
School 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to discontinue Llanedi Primary 
School 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to discontinue Bancffosfelen 
Primary School 

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposal to discontinue Llanmiloe Primary, 
Tremoilet Voluntar y Control led and 
Laugharne Voluntary Controlled Primary 
Schools and create a new area school

 Modernising Education Programme: 
Proposals to change the age ranges of Betws, 
Pembrey, Pwll and Bynea Primary Schools 
from 4-11 to 3-11 

Tudalen 107



10 11

 Future provision of Adult Community 
Learning by the Education & Children 
Department 

 Proposals for 3-19 curr iculum and 
assessment reform in Carmarthenshire 
Schools 

 Carmarthenshire County Council’s Annual 
Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16 

 Sustaining Post-Sixteen College/School 
Transport (jointly with the Environmental & 
Public Protection Scrutiny Committee in 
September 2015) 

 Modernising Education Programme: School 
Organisat ion Decis ion Making and 
Determination Process 

Task & Finish Review - At its meeting in 
September 2015, the Committee agreed to 
form a task and nish group to research and 
review the attainment gap for e-FSM learners. A 
total of 6 meetings were held between 
December 2015 and June during which the 
Group received presentations and considered 
evidence from a range of stakeholders including 
head teachers and the Wales Centre for Equity 
in Education. The sessions were designed to 
provide the Group with the relevant information, 
context and background to the topic. Following 
its rst meeting, the Group agreed that the 
scope for the review would be: 

 Learners eligible for free school meals, 
including Looked After Children, and the 
attainment gap in Carmarthenshire.

The Group agreed that the main aims of the 
review would be: 

 To research the attainment gap for learners 
e l i g i b l e  f o r  f r e e  s choo l  mea l s  i n 
Carmarthenshire.

 To identify trends at all key stages and key 

indicators.
 To review how the Pupil Deprivation Grant is 

being used in our schools.
 To identify best practice interventions in the 

County’s schools, across ERW, the rest of 
Wales and the UK.

 To raise the prole of the challenge of 
overcoming the attainment gap in the midst 
of shrinking budgets, other priorities and 
curriculum changes.

 To formulate recommendat ions for 
consideration by the Executive Board.

The Group is expected to report back on its 
ndings and recommendations in autumn 
2016. 

Site Visits - In addition to its regular meetings, 
the Committee also continued with the 
programme of school visits and visited 14 
schools / Children’s Services facilities between 
May 2015 and April 2016. 

Following its visit to Cwrt Henri in October 
2015, the Committee has now visited all the 
County’s primary, secondary and special 
schools, along with the 3 integrated family 
centres, since the programme commenced in 
2009/10. 

It has now begun to re-visit schools, linking in 
with the School Improvement Panel’s work 
programme and the Authority’s Modernising 
Education Programme proposals. 

Children’s Services also organised a series of 
visits to frontline teams between May and July 
2015, including:

 Central Referral Team
 Fostering Service
 Reviewing and Conference Team
 Education Welfare Service
 Young Carers Service 
 Mid and West Wales Adoption Service
 Children’s Disability Team and Transition 

Team
 Blaenau and Llys Caradog Respite Centres 

and the Garreglwyd Unit

The aim of the visits was to provide members 
with a better understanding of the work being 
undertaken to safeguard vulnerable children 
and to meet the staff working with these 
children on a daily basis.  

Development Sessions - A scrutiny-specic 
development session was held in November 
2015 for members of the Committee, as part of 
the site visits programme (pictured top right). 
The development session was held in the Flying 
Start Ofces, New Street, Llanelli where the 
Committee received an overview of the Flying 
Start Service, the Families First Programme and 
the Team Around the Family (TAF) model. The 
morning session was followed in the afternoon 
by a visit to the Ty Mair Family Centre in Burry 
Port where the Committee received an overview 
of the services provided at the centre as well as 
speaking with the Centre Manager and a 
representative from Plant Dewi.  

Co-opted Members - Only the Education & 
Children Scrutiny Committee has co-opted 
members. They are:

 Mrs. Emma Heyes (Parent Governor Member 
for Area 3 – Llanelli) 

 Mrs. Kate Hill (Parent Governor Member for 
Area 1 – Dinefwr) 

 Mrs. Alex Pickles (Parent Governor Member 
for Area 2 – Carmarthen) 

 Mrs. Vera Kenny (Roman Catholic Church 
Representative)

 Revd. Canon Bryan Witt (Church in Wales 
Representative)

The three new parent governors were elected 
onto the Committee with effect from 1st April 
2016 for a period of two years. 

Tudalen 108



10 11

 Future provision of Adult Community 
Learning by the Education & Children 
Department 

 Proposals for 3-19 curr iculum and 
assessment reform in Carmarthenshire 
Schools 

 Carmarthenshire County Council’s Annual 
Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16 

 Sustaining Post-Sixteen College/School 
Transport (jointly with the Environmental & 
Public Protection Scrutiny Committee in 
September 2015) 

 Modernising Education Programme: School 
Organisat ion Decis ion Making and 
Determination Process 

Task & Finish Review - At its meeting in 
September 2015, the Committee agreed to 
form a task and nish group to research and 
review the attainment gap for e-FSM learners. A 
total of 6 meetings were held between 
December 2015 and June during which the 
Group received presentations and considered 
evidence from a range of stakeholders including 
head teachers and the Wales Centre for Equity 
in Education. The sessions were designed to 
provide the Group with the relevant information, 
context and background to the topic. Following 
its rst meeting, the Group agreed that the 
scope for the review would be: 

 Learners eligible for free school meals, 
including Looked After Children, and the 
attainment gap in Carmarthenshire.

The Group agreed that the main aims of the 
review would be: 

 To research the attainment gap for learners 
e l i g i b l e  f o r  f r e e  s choo l  mea l s  i n 
Carmarthenshire.

 To identify trends at all key stages and key 

indicators.
 To review how the Pupil Deprivation Grant is 

being used in our schools.
 To identify best practice interventions in the 

County’s schools, across ERW, the rest of 
Wales and the UK.

 To raise the prole of the challenge of 
overcoming the attainment gap in the midst 
of shrinking budgets, other priorities and 
curriculum changes.

 To formulate recommendat ions for 
consideration by the Executive Board.

The Group is expected to report back on its 
ndings and recommendations in autumn 
2016. 

Site Visits - In addition to its regular meetings, 
the Committee also continued with the 
programme of school visits and visited 14 
schools / Children’s Services facilities between 
May 2015 and April 2016. 

Following its visit to Cwrt Henri in October 
2015, the Committee has now visited all the 
County’s primary, secondary and special 
schools, along with the 3 integrated family 
centres, since the programme commenced in 
2009/10. 

It has now begun to re-visit schools, linking in 
with the School Improvement Panel’s work 
programme and the Authority’s Modernising 
Education Programme proposals. 

Children’s Services also organised a series of 
visits to frontline teams between May and July 
2015, including:

 Central Referral Team
 Fostering Service
 Reviewing and Conference Team
 Education Welfare Service
 Young Carers Service 
 Mid and West Wales Adoption Service
 Children’s Disability Team and Transition 

Team
 Blaenau and Llys Caradog Respite Centres 

and the Garreglwyd Unit

The aim of the visits was to provide members 
with a better understanding of the work being 
undertaken to safeguard vulnerable children 
and to meet the staff working with these 
children on a daily basis.  

Development Sessions - A scrutiny-specic 
development session was held in November 
2015 for members of the Committee, as part of 
the site visits programme (pictured top right). 
The development session was held in the Flying 
Start Ofces, New Street, Llanelli where the 
Committee received an overview of the Flying 
Start Service, the Families First Programme and 
the Team Around the Family (TAF) model. The 
morning session was followed in the afternoon 
by a visit to the Ty Mair Family Centre in Burry 
Port where the Committee received an overview 
of the services provided at the centre as well as 
speaking with the Centre Manager and a 
representative from Plant Dewi.  

Co-opted Members - Only the Education & 
Children Scrutiny Committee has co-opted 
members. They are:

 Mrs. Emma Heyes (Parent Governor Member 
for Area 3 – Llanelli) 

 Mrs. Kate Hill (Parent Governor Member for 
Area 1 – Dinefwr) 

 Mrs. Alex Pickles (Parent Governor Member 
for Area 2 – Carmarthen) 

 Mrs. Vera Kenny (Roman Catholic Church 
Representative)

 Revd. Canon Bryan Witt (Church in Wales 
Representative)

The three new parent governors were elected 
onto the Committee with effect from 1st April 
2016 for a period of two years. 

Tudalen 109



12 13

Task and Finish Review - At its meeting in May 
2015, the Committee discussed a recent 
motion at County Council (15th April 2015) in 
relation to car parking charges in Llanelli Town 
Centre. The Chair suggested that as this was an 
issue of concern across the county, the 
Committee could consider undertaking a task 
and nish review to investigate the matter in 
more detail. It was suggested that such a review 
could consider the approaches of other local 
authorities as well as investigating options that 
would seek to support foot-fall in town centres 
whilst also meeting the requirements of the 
Authority’s Parking Strategy. The Committee 
endorsed the suggestion. 

At the Group’s rst meeting in October 2015, it 
agreed that the scope of the review would focus 
on:

 Charging Policy (to include Parking Strategy 
& Policy) 

 Legislation relating to Trafc Management 
and Parking

 The purpose of parking charges
 Car park demand / usage 
 Revenue distribution and impact of reducing 

charges 
 Research evidence on the impact of car park 

charging
 Main town centre footfall
 Car park charges and competiveness 

including socio-economic issues

The Group held 6 meetings between October 
2015 and April 2016. The nal report was 
presented to the main Committee at its meeting 
i n  May  2016.  The  G roup  made  11 
recommendations all of which were accepted by 
the Executive Board at its meeting in July 2016.

Environmental & Public Protection 
Scrutiny Committee

The Environmental & Public Protection 
Scrutiny Committee has 14 members and its 
remit covers:

 Visible front-line services (e.g. highways, 
street cleaning, waste and recycling 
services,town-centre management, 
g r o u n d s  m a i n t e n a n c e ,  p u b l i c 
c o n v e n i e n c e s ,  b u s  s h e l t e r s  a n d 
maintenance of car parks)

 Regional Waste Plan
 Transport
 Vehicle Maintenance
 Road Safety
 On/Off Street and Residents’ Car Parking
 Conservation
 Consultancy & Design Services
 Shoreline Management
 Coastal Protection
 Contaminated Land
 Air Pollution
 Trading Standards
 Community Safety
 Environmental Health
 Environmental Enforcement (e.g. litter, dog 

fouling)
 Pest control
 Planning Enforcement

Committee meetings - In addition to its regular 
monitoring reports, the Committee requested 
and received a number of reports on areas of 
specic concern and interest, such as:

 Stray Horses  
 Money Wise Online 
 Area Planning Board Report on Drug and 

Alcohol Misuse Strategy and Development 
2014/15 

 Task and Finish Group Action Plan 
Monitoring: Review of Substance Misuse 
Treatment Services

 Community Safety Partnership Annual 
Report 2014/15

 Substance Misuse Services Visits Update
 Rural Conservation Unit Update
 Highways Update 

It was also consulted on:

 Carmarthenshire County Council’s Annual 
Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16 

 Sustaining Post-Sixteen College/School 
Transport (jointly with the Education & 
Children Scrutiny Committee in September 
2015) 

 Annual Revenue Budget Consultation 
(2016/17 to 2018/19) 

 Dog Control Orders: Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 Waste Service: Dening the strategic 
direction and the transition from 60% to 
70% recycling 

 The Environment Act 1995: Public 
consultation on Carmarthen and Llanelli Air 
Quality 

 Rev iew o f  l oca l l y  se t  f ees  in  the 
Environmental Health and Licensing Section 

 Review of Gambling Policy 
 Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 

(Licensing Act 2003) 
 Road Safety Strategy 

Tudalen 110



12 13

Task and Finish Review - At its meeting in May 
2015, the Committee discussed a recent 
motion at County Council (15th April 2015) in 
relation to car parking charges in Llanelli Town 
Centre. The Chair suggested that as this was an 
issue of concern across the county, the 
Committee could consider undertaking a task 
and nish review to investigate the matter in 
more detail. It was suggested that such a review 
could consider the approaches of other local 
authorities as well as investigating options that 
would seek to support foot-fall in town centres 
whilst also meeting the requirements of the 
Authority’s Parking Strategy. The Committee 
endorsed the suggestion. 

At the Group’s rst meeting in October 2015, it 
agreed that the scope of the review would focus 
on:

 Charging Policy (to include Parking Strategy 
& Policy) 

 Legislation relating to Trafc Management 
and Parking

 The purpose of parking charges
 Car park demand / usage 
 Revenue distribution and impact of reducing 

charges 
 Research evidence on the impact of car park 

charging
 Main town centre footfall
 Car park charges and competiveness 

including socio-economic issues

The Group held 6 meetings between October 
2015 and April 2016. The nal report was 
presented to the main Committee at its meeting 
i n  May  2016.  The  G roup  made  11 
recommendations all of which were accepted by 
the Executive Board at its meeting in July 2016.

Environmental & Public Protection 
Scrutiny Committee

The Environmental & Public Protection 
Scrutiny Committee has 14 members and its 
remit covers:

 Visible front-line services (e.g. highways, 
street cleaning, waste and recycling 
services,town-centre management, 
g r o u n d s  m a i n t e n a n c e ,  p u b l i c 
c o n v e n i e n c e s ,  b u s  s h e l t e r s  a n d 
maintenance of car parks)

 Regional Waste Plan
 Transport
 Vehicle Maintenance
 Road Safety
 On/Off Street and Residents’ Car Parking
 Conservation
 Consultancy & Design Services
 Shoreline Management
 Coastal Protection
 Contaminated Land
 Air Pollution
 Trading Standards
 Community Safety
 Environmental Health
 Environmental Enforcement (e.g. litter, dog 

fouling)
 Pest control
 Planning Enforcement

Committee meetings - In addition to its regular 
monitoring reports, the Committee requested 
and received a number of reports on areas of 
specic concern and interest, such as:

 Stray Horses  
 Money Wise Online 
 Area Planning Board Report on Drug and 

Alcohol Misuse Strategy and Development 
2014/15 

 Task and Finish Group Action Plan 
Monitoring: Review of Substance Misuse 
Treatment Services

 Community Safety Partnership Annual 
Report 2014/15

 Substance Misuse Services Visits Update
 Rural Conservation Unit Update
 Highways Update 

It was also consulted on:

 Carmarthenshire County Council’s Annual 
Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16 

 Sustaining Post-Sixteen College/School 
Transport (jointly with the Education & 
Children Scrutiny Committee in September 
2015) 

 Annual Revenue Budget Consultation 
(2016/17 to 2018/19) 

 Dog Control Orders: Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 Waste Service: Dening the strategic 
direction and the transition from 60% to 
70% recycling 

 The Environment Act 1995: Public 
consultation on Carmarthen and Llanelli Air 
Quality 

 Rev iew o f  l oca l l y  se t  f ees  in  the 
Environmental Health and Licensing Section 

 Review of Gambling Policy 
 Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 

(Licensing Act 2003) 
 Road Safety Strategy 

Tudalen 111



14 15

Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

The Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 
has 13 members and its remit covers:

 Monitoring authority wide policy and 
performance issues and scrutiny of the 
Local Service Board

 Cross-cutting issues
 Sustainable Development
 Finance
 Property
 Information Technology
 Communications
 Customer Services
 Audit
 Procurement
 Non-housing maintenance
 Organisational Development
 Human Resources
 Markets
 Emergency Planning

Committee meetings - Reports considered by 
the Committee this year included:

 Strategic Equality Plan Annual Report 
2014/15 

 Annua l  Treasur y  Management  and 
Prudential Indicator Report 2014/15 

 Wales Audit Ofce's (WAO) Assessment of 
Ca rmar thensh i re  County  Counc i l ' s 
Transform, Innovate and Change Programme 

 Spend on External Consultants 2014/
 Welsh Language Scheme Annual Report 

2014/15 
 Complying with the new Welsh Language 

Standards 
 ICT Strategy Update 
 Carmarthenshire Local Service Board 

Update 2015 
 Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015 

It was also consulted on:
 Carmarthenshire County Council's Annual 

Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16

 Draft Corporate Strategy 2015-2020 
 Ageing Well In Wales: Local Ageing Well 

Plans 
 Draft Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020 
 Welsh Language Skills Strategy 
 Revenue Budget Strategy Consultation 

2016/17 to 2018/19 
 Five Year Capital Programme 2016/17 - 

2020/21 
 Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 

2016-17 

Deve lopment  Sess ions  -  A  Treasur y 
Management Refresher Training session was 
held in April 2016 for members of the 
Committee, in relation to its Treasury 
Management responsibilities.

Procurement Strategy Focus Group - At its 
meeting in June 2015, the Committee 
requested the establishment of a focus group to 
assist with the revision of the Council’s 
Procurement Strategy. During the 2015/16, the 
Group met on two occasions.

Social Care & Health Scrutiny Committee

The Social Care & Health Scrutiny Committee 
has 14 members and its remit covers:

 Social services for older people
 Adults with learning disabilities
 Mental health services
 Nutritional standards
 Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC)

Committee meetings - Reports considered by 
the Committee this year included:

 Annual Report of the Statutory Director of 
Social Services on the effectiveness of Social 
Care Services in Carmarthenshire 2014/15 
(jointly with the Education & Children 
Scrutiny Committee in May 2015) 

 Mid & West Wales Health and Social Care 
Collaborative Updates

 Hywel Dda Information & Consultation 
Strategy for Carers: Annual Report 2014/15

 Coleshill Centre for Economic Inclusion 
Progress Report 

 Carmarthenshire Foundations 4 Change
 Annual Report on Adult Safeguarding 

2014/15 
 Care & Social Services Wales' (CSSIW) 

Inspection, Evaluation and Review of Local 
Authority Social Services 2014/15 

 Welsh Language in Social Care Services for 
Older People 

 Improving Support for people who have 
Dementia and their families

 Health & Social Care Support Worker Project
 Intermediate Care Fund (ICF) Project
 Nutritional Standards for Older People 
 Implementation of charges for non-

residential Social Services for Adults which 
were previously free: Post Implementation 
Evaluation

 Evaluation of the 'Big Plan' (Learning 
Disabilities) 

It was also consulted on: 

 Carmarthenshire County Council's Annual 
Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16 

 Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
2014: Policy and procedure revisions for 
charging adults for services

 Introduction of a new charge for a placement 
into a Flexi-Bed in a Care Home 

 Annual Revenue Budget Consultation 
(2016/17 to 2018/19)  

 Our Commitment to Affordable Homes 
(jointly with the Community Scrutiny 
Committee in July 2015) 

 Introduction of a Corporate Safeguarding 
Policy that covers all the Council's Service 
Areas

 Community Nutri t ional Strategy for 
Carmarthenshire Integrated Services

 Ageing Well in Wales: Local Ageing Well 
Plans  

 Promoting Independence for Older People in 
Carmarthenshire 

Tudalen 112



14 15

Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

The Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 
has 13 members and its remit covers:

 Monitoring authority wide policy and 
performance issues and scrutiny of the 
Local Service Board

 Cross-cutting issues
 Sustainable Development
 Finance
 Property
 Information Technology
 Communications
 Customer Services
 Audit
 Procurement
 Non-housing maintenance
 Organisational Development
 Human Resources
 Markets
 Emergency Planning

Committee meetings - Reports considered by 
the Committee this year included:

 Strategic Equality Plan Annual Report 
2014/15 

 Annua l  Treasur y  Management  and 
Prudential Indicator Report 2014/15 

 Wales Audit Ofce's (WAO) Assessment of 
Ca rmar thensh i re  County  Counc i l ' s 
Transform, Innovate and Change Programme 

 Spend on External Consultants 2014/
 Welsh Language Scheme Annual Report 

2014/15 
 Complying with the new Welsh Language 

Standards 
 ICT Strategy Update 
 Carmarthenshire Local Service Board 

Update 2015 
 Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015 

It was also consulted on:
 Carmarthenshire County Council's Annual 

Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16

 Draft Corporate Strategy 2015-2020 
 Ageing Well In Wales: Local Ageing Well 

Plans 
 Draft Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020 
 Welsh Language Skills Strategy 
 Revenue Budget Strategy Consultation 

2016/17 to 2018/19 
 Five Year Capital Programme 2016/17 - 

2020/21 
 Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 

2016-17 

Deve lopment  Sess ions  -  A  Treasur y 
Management Refresher Training session was 
held in April 2016 for members of the 
Committee, in relation to its Treasury 
Management responsibilities.

Procurement Strategy Focus Group - At its 
meeting in June 2015, the Committee 
requested the establishment of a focus group to 
assist with the revision of the Council’s 
Procurement Strategy. During the 2015/16, the 
Group met on two occasions.

Social Care & Health Scrutiny Committee

The Social Care & Health Scrutiny Committee 
has 14 members and its remit covers:

 Social services for older people
 Adults with learning disabilities
 Mental health services
 Nutritional standards
 Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC)

Committee meetings - Reports considered by 
the Committee this year included:

 Annual Report of the Statutory Director of 
Social Services on the effectiveness of Social 
Care Services in Carmarthenshire 2014/15 
(jointly with the Education & Children 
Scrutiny Committee in May 2015) 

 Mid & West Wales Health and Social Care 
Collaborative Updates

 Hywel Dda Information & Consultation 
Strategy for Carers: Annual Report 2014/15

 Coleshill Centre for Economic Inclusion 
Progress Report 

 Carmarthenshire Foundations 4 Change
 Annual Report on Adult Safeguarding 

2014/15 
 Care & Social Services Wales' (CSSIW) 

Inspection, Evaluation and Review of Local 
Authority Social Services 2014/15 

 Welsh Language in Social Care Services for 
Older People 

 Improving Support for people who have 
Dementia and their families

 Health & Social Care Support Worker Project
 Intermediate Care Fund (ICF) Project
 Nutritional Standards for Older People 
 Implementation of charges for non-

residential Social Services for Adults which 
were previously free: Post Implementation 
Evaluation

 Evaluation of the 'Big Plan' (Learning 
Disabilities) 

It was also consulted on: 

 Carmarthenshire County Council's Annual 
Report 2014/15 and Improvement Plan 
2015/16 

 Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
2014: Policy and procedure revisions for 
charging adults for services

 Introduction of a new charge for a placement 
into a Flexi-Bed in a Care Home 

 Annual Revenue Budget Consultation 
(2016/17 to 2018/19)  

 Our Commitment to Affordable Homes 
(jointly with the Community Scrutiny 
Committee in July 2015) 

 Introduction of a Corporate Safeguarding 
Policy that covers all the Council's Service 
Areas

 Community Nutri t ional Strategy for 
Carmarthenshire Integrated Services

 Ageing Well in Wales: Local Ageing Well 
Plans  

 Promoting Independence for Older People in 
Carmarthenshire 

Tudalen 113



16 17

Development Sessions - Whilst no specic 
development sessions were held for this 
Committee, the County Council received a 
presentation on Dementia and the work being 
undertaken by the Alzheimer's Society, at its 
meeting in March 2016. This followed a 
recommendation by the Committee during the 
2014/15 municipal year that a development 
session be held for all elected members in 
relation to raising awareness about Dementia. 
The Alzheimer's Society's Dementia Friendly 
Communities Co-ordinator gave a presentation 
which was followed by a question and answer 
session.

Site Visits - The Committee undertook three site 
visits during the past municipal year. The 
Committee visited the Cwm Aur Extra Care 
Scheme and Annedd Care Home in Llanybydder 
in July 2015 and the Cartref Cynnes Extra Care 
Scheme in Carmarthen in March 2016 
(pictured below). 

Other activities during 2014/15

Chairs & Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Forum 

The Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Council’s 
Scrutiny Committees usually meet on a 
quarterly basis to discuss issues relating to the 
scrutiny function. The Forum, which was 
established in 2004, is chaired by the Chair of 
the Policy & Resources Committee, who is also 
the Council’s ‘Scrutiny Champion’. During 
2015/16, the Forum met on 4 occasions. 

Scrutiny Member Development and Training 

No scrutiny-specic development and training 
was held during 2015/16 but the following 
development sessions were held for all 
members:

 Social Media and Members (June 2015)
 Customer Services (October 2015)
 Responsibilities under Housing (Wales) Act 

2014 and Equality Act 2010 in relation to 
Gypsies and Travellers (December 2015)

 Safeguarding Children (January 2016)
 Trading Standards (February 2016) 

ERW Scrutiny Councillor Group

The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Education & 
Children Scrutiny Committee have attended 2 
meetings of this regional group during the past 
year. This Forum consists of the chairs and vice-
chairs of other education / children’s services 
scrutiny committees from across the ERW 
region which meets twice a year to discuss 
matters of common interest within the 
consortium’s remit. The Group’s meetings are 
administered by the City & County of Swansea’s 
Scrutiny Team.

Wales Scrutiny Managers Network  

Following on from previous scrutiny ofcer 
network events in previous years, ofcers 
attended the new Scrutiny Managers Network in 
April 2016. Issues discussed included: 

 Draft Local Government (Wales) Bill 
Proposals 

 Public Service Board Scrutiny
 Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) support in 

Wales
 Older People's Commissioner’s Guidance on 

the role of scrutiny 

It is envisaged that the Scrutiny Manager 
Network will continue to meet 2/3 times a year, 
with administration to be provided by the 
WLGA.

Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011

The Democratic Services Unit continues to 
advise and support the implementation of the 
requirements of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 as guidance is published.

Tudalen 114



16 17

Development Sessions - Whilst no specic 
development sessions were held for this 
Committee, the County Council received a 
presentation on Dementia and the work being 
undertaken by the Alzheimer's Society, at its 
meeting in March 2016. This followed a 
recommendation by the Committee during the 
2014/15 municipal year that a development 
session be held for all elected members in 
relation to raising awareness about Dementia. 
The Alzheimer's Society's Dementia Friendly 
Communities Co-ordinator gave a presentation 
which was followed by a question and answer 
session.

Site Visits - The Committee undertook three site 
visits during the past municipal year. The 
Committee visited the Cwm Aur Extra Care 
Scheme and Annedd Care Home in Llanybydder 
in July 2015 and the Cartref Cynnes Extra Care 
Scheme in Carmarthen in March 2016 
(pictured below). 

Other activities during 2014/15

Chairs & Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Forum 

The Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Council’s 
Scrutiny Committees usually meet on a 
quarterly basis to discuss issues relating to the 
scrutiny function. The Forum, which was 
established in 2004, is chaired by the Chair of 
the Policy & Resources Committee, who is also 
the Council’s ‘Scrutiny Champion’. During 
2015/16, the Forum met on 4 occasions. 

Scrutiny Member Development and Training 

No scrutiny-specic development and training 
was held during 2015/16 but the following 
development sessions were held for all 
members:

 Social Media and Members (June 2015)
 Customer Services (October 2015)
 Responsibilities under Housing (Wales) Act 

2014 and Equality Act 2010 in relation to 
Gypsies and Travellers (December 2015)

 Safeguarding Children (January 2016)
 Trading Standards (February 2016) 

ERW Scrutiny Councillor Group

The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Education & 
Children Scrutiny Committee have attended 2 
meetings of this regional group during the past 
year. This Forum consists of the chairs and vice-
chairs of other education / children’s services 
scrutiny committees from across the ERW 
region which meets twice a year to discuss 
matters of common interest within the 
consortium’s remit. The Group’s meetings are 
administered by the City & County of Swansea’s 
Scrutiny Team.

Wales Scrutiny Managers Network  

Following on from previous scrutiny ofcer 
network events in previous years, ofcers 
attended the new Scrutiny Managers Network in 
April 2016. Issues discussed included: 

 Draft Local Government (Wales) Bill 
Proposals 

 Public Service Board Scrutiny
 Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) support in 

Wales
 Older People's Commissioner’s Guidance on 

the role of scrutiny 

It is envisaged that the Scrutiny Manager 
Network will continue to meet 2/3 times a year, 
with administration to be provided by the 
WLGA.

Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011

The Democratic Services Unit continues to 
advise and support the implementation of the 
requirements of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 as guidance is published.

Tudalen 115



18 19

Each Scrutiny Committee must develop and 
publish a forward work programme for the 
forthcoming year and an annual report of what it 
has done through the previous year.

Under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2011, Scrutiny Committees have a duty to 
engage with the public and other stakeholders 
in developing their forward work programmes. 

The Scrutiny Committees agreed their 
respective Forward Work Programmes for 
2016/17 at their meetings in May/June 2016. 
The work programmes are available to view 
online at   www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/scrutiny

The Council continues to face serious budgetary 
pressures and needs to identify and achieve 
more savings and efciencies over the next three 
years.

A key achievement for the Authority will be to 
maintain and deliver improvements to services, 
whilst meeting the required savings targets. 
Scrutiny Committees will continue to contribute 
and challenge in a constructive way to support 
the Council in meeting these challenges.

Other key areas that the Committees will be 
focussing on include: 

Community - Monitoring the recommendations 
of the Planning Enforcement task and nish 
review (Jointly with Planning), Affordable 
Homes New Build Programme Phase 1, Review 
of Access to Social Housing Policy (Post-
Consultation) and the National Licensing of 
Landlords and Agents. The Committee has also 
indicated that it wishes to undertake a series of 
site visits to the County’s museums and 
libraries.
 
Education & Children - Improving standards 
and performance in schools, Additional 

L e a r n i n g  N e e d s  Re f o r m ,  t h e  d r a f t 
Carmarthenshire Curriculum Declaration, ERW 
Inspection by ESTYN 2016 and the Behaviour 
Services Review. The Committee will continue 
with its programme of visits to schools. 

Environmental & Public Protection - Animal 
Establishment & Licensing Fees, Kerbside 
Green Waste Collection, Highway Safety & 
Footway Investment Programme and the Waste 
Strategy. The Committee has also indicated that 
it wishes to undertake site visits to view bridges 
that have recently been upgraded or replaced as 
well as relevant coastal locations to view work 
relating to coastal protection.

Policy & Resources - Efciencies and making 
the most effective use of our shrinking 
resources, a revised Procurement Strategy, the 
Council’s Well-Being Objectives and the new 
Public Service Board. 

Social Care & Health - Carmarthenshire 
Dementia Framework for Action, Information 
Advice & Assistance (IAA), Deprivation of 
Liberty (DoLS) and the Commissioning 
Framework. The Committee also intends 
visiting the newly opened Ty Dyffryn Extra Care 
Scheme in Ammanford. 

Looking ahead to 2016/17

In July 2015, support for Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s scrutiny function was 
transferred from the former Scrutiny & 
Consultancy Team, based in the People 
Management & Performance Division, to the 
Democratic Services Unit, based in the 
Administration & Law Division of the Chief 
Executive’s Department. 

Support for the Scrutiny function includes:

 Providing support and constitutional advice 
to the Council’s Scrutiny Committees and to 
members of those Committees as well as 
producing minutes of their meetings and 
ensuring items arising from those meetings 
are actioned

 Giving support and advice in relation to the 
funct ions of  the Counci l ’s  Scrut iny 
Committees to executive and non-executive 
members of the Council and its ofcers

 Managing the strategic development of 
Scrutiny in Carmarthenshire through 
engaging in national and regional Scrutiny 
networks and initiatives, supporting the 
Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Forum, 
and the Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs 
Executive Board Forum

 Advising and supporting the implementation 
of the requirements of the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2011 as guidance is 
published

 Managing the co-ordination and development 
of the Scrutiny forward work programmes in 
conjunction with Scrutiny members

 Managing and co-ordinating Scrutiny review 
work, including the operation of scrutiny task 
and nish groups, authoring reports in 
conjunction with the groups, and assisting in 

the implementation and monitoring of 
completed reviews

 Managing the Scrutiny member development 
programme.

 Despatching agendas for Scrutiny Committee 
meetings a minimum of 4 working days prior 
to the meeting.

For  more  in fo rmat ion  on sc ru t iny  in 
Carmarthenshire including work programmes, 
task and nish reports and annual reports, visit 
t h e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l ’ s  w e b s i t e  a t : 
www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/scrutiny   

To contact the Democratic Services Unit, please 
call 01267 224028 or email:
   scrutiny@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Support for the Scrutiny Function

Tudalen 116



18 19

Each Scrutiny Committee must develop and 
publish a forward work programme for the 
forthcoming year and an annual report of what it 
has done through the previous year.

Under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2011, Scrutiny Committees have a duty to 
engage with the public and other stakeholders 
in developing their forward work programmes. 

The Scrutiny Committees agreed their 
respective Forward Work Programmes for 
2016/17 at their meetings in May/June 2016. 
The work programmes are available to view 
online at   www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/scrutiny

The Council continues to face serious budgetary 
pressures and needs to identify and achieve 
more savings and efciencies over the next three 
years.

A key achievement for the Authority will be to 
maintain and deliver improvements to services, 
whilst meeting the required savings targets. 
Scrutiny Committees will continue to contribute 
and challenge in a constructive way to support 
the Council in meeting these challenges.

Other key areas that the Committees will be 
focussing on include: 

Community - Monitoring the recommendations 
of the Planning Enforcement task and nish 
review (Jointly with Planning), Affordable 
Homes New Build Programme Phase 1, Review 
of Access to Social Housing Policy (Post-
Consultation) and the National Licensing of 
Landlords and Agents. The Committee has also 
indicated that it wishes to undertake a series of 
site visits to the County’s museums and 
libraries.
 
Education & Children - Improving standards 
and performance in schools, Additional 

L e a r n i n g  N e e d s  Re f o r m ,  t h e  d r a f t 
Carmarthenshire Curriculum Declaration, ERW 
Inspection by ESTYN 2016 and the Behaviour 
Services Review. The Committee will continue 
with its programme of visits to schools. 

Environmental & Public Protection - Animal 
Establishment & Licensing Fees, Kerbside 
Green Waste Collection, Highway Safety & 
Footway Investment Programme and the Waste 
Strategy. The Committee has also indicated that 
it wishes to undertake site visits to view bridges 
that have recently been upgraded or replaced as 
well as relevant coastal locations to view work 
relating to coastal protection.

Policy & Resources - Efciencies and making 
the most effective use of our shrinking 
resources, a revised Procurement Strategy, the 
Council’s Well-Being Objectives and the new 
Public Service Board. 

Social Care & Health - Carmarthenshire 
Dementia Framework for Action, Information 
Advice & Assistance (IAA), Deprivation of 
Liberty (DoLS) and the Commissioning 
Framework. The Committee also intends 
visiting the newly opened Ty Dyffryn Extra Care 
Scheme in Ammanford. 

Looking ahead to 2016/17

In July 2015, support for Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s scrutiny function was 
transferred from the former Scrutiny & 
Consultancy Team, based in the People 
Management & Performance Division, to the 
Democratic Services Unit, based in the 
Administration & Law Division of the Chief 
Executive’s Department. 

Support for the Scrutiny function includes:

 Providing support and constitutional advice 
to the Council’s Scrutiny Committees and to 
members of those Committees as well as 
producing minutes of their meetings and 
ensuring items arising from those meetings 
are actioned

 Giving support and advice in relation to the 
funct ions of  the Counci l ’s  Scrut iny 
Committees to executive and non-executive 
members of the Council and its ofcers

 Managing the strategic development of 
Scrutiny in Carmarthenshire through 
engaging in national and regional Scrutiny 
networks and initiatives, supporting the 
Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Forum, 
and the Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs 
Executive Board Forum

 Advising and supporting the implementation 
of the requirements of the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2011 as guidance is 
published

 Managing the co-ordination and development 
of the Scrutiny forward work programmes in 
conjunction with Scrutiny members

 Managing and co-ordinating Scrutiny review 
work, including the operation of scrutiny task 
and nish groups, authoring reports in 
conjunction with the groups, and assisting in 

the implementation and monitoring of 
completed reviews

 Managing the Scrutiny member development 
programme.

 Despatching agendas for Scrutiny Committee 
meetings a minimum of 4 working days prior 
to the meeting.

For  more  in fo rmat ion  on sc ru t iny  in 
Carmarthenshire including work programmes, 
task and nish reports and annual reports, visit 
t h e  C o u n t y  C o u n c i l ’ s  w e b s i t e  a t : 
www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/scrutiny   

To contact the Democratic Services Unit, please 
call 01267 224028 or email:
   scrutiny@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Support for the Scrutiny Function

Tudalen 117



20 21

Chairs & Vice-Chairs during 2015/16

Cllr. Hugh Richards
Chair 
(Felinfoel)
Independent

Policy & Resources

Cllr. Glynog Davies
Vice-Chair 
(Cwarter Bach)
Plaid Cymru

Cllr. Deryk Cundy
Chair 
(Bynea)
Labour

Community

Cllr. Edward Thomas 
Vice-Chair 
(Llandeilo)
Independent

Cllr. Eirwyn Williams
Chair 
(Cynwyl Gaeo)
Plaid Cymru

Education & Children

Cllr. Ryan Bartlett
Vice-Chair 
(Betws)
Labour

Cllr. Peter Cooper
Chair 
(Saron)
Labour

Environmental & Public Protection

Cllr. Ivor Jackson
Vice-Chair 
(Llandovery)
Independent

Cllr. Gwyneth Thomas
Chair 
(Llangennech)
Plaid Cymru

Social Care & Health

Cllr. Sue Allen
Vice-Chair 
(Whitland)
Independent 73% average attendance at committee 

meetings during 2015/16

committee 
meetings 

held in 
2015/16

joint-meetings 
held in 

2015/16
48 6

17 site visit held by the scrutiny 
committees during 2015/16

task and nish reviews undertaken 
during 2015/16

2

Chairs & Vice-Chairs 
Forum meetings held4

Tudalen 118



20 21

Chairs & Vice-Chairs during 2015/16

Cllr. Hugh Richards
Chair 
(Felinfoel)
Independent

Policy & Resources

Cllr. Glynog Davies
Vice-Chair 
(Cwarter Bach)
Plaid Cymru

Cllr. Deryk Cundy
Chair 
(Bynea)
Labour

Community

Cllr. Edward Thomas 
Vice-Chair 
(Llandeilo)
Independent

Cllr. Eirwyn Williams
Chair 
(Cynwyl Gaeo)
Plaid Cymru

Education & Children

Cllr. Ryan Bartlett
Vice-Chair 
(Betws)
Labour

Cllr. Peter Cooper
Chair 
(Saron)
Labour

Environmental & Public Protection

Cllr. Ivor Jackson
Vice-Chair 
(Llandovery)
Independent

Cllr. Gwyneth Thomas
Chair 
(Llangennech)
Plaid Cymru

Social Care & Health

Cllr. Sue Allen
Vice-Chair 
(Whitland)
Independent 73% average attendance at committee 

meetings during 2015/16

committee 
meetings 

held in 
2015/16

joint-meetings 
held in 

2015/16
48 6

17 site visit held by the scrutiny 
committees during 2015/16

task and nish reviews undertaken 
during 2015/16

2

Chairs & Vice-Chairs 
Forum meetings held4

Tudalen 119



22 21

ACL - Adult & Community Learning 

Bilingual (2A) - At least 80% of subjecets apart 
from English and Welsh are taught through the 
medium of Welsh to all pupils. One or two 
subjects are taught to some pupils in English or 
in both languages.

CfPS - Centre for Public Scrutiny 

CHS+ - Carmarthenshire Homes Standard Plus

CSSIW - Care & Social Services Inspectorate 
Wales

CYSUR - Children and Youth Safeguarding and 
Unifying the Region 

DoLS - Deprivation of Liberty 

DToC - Delayed Transfers of Care

e-FSM - (Pupils) Eligible for Free School Meals

ESTYN - The Ofce of Her Majesty 's 
Inspectorate for Education and Training in 
Wales

ERW - Education through Regional Working

IAA - Information Advice & Assistance

ICF - Intermediate Care Fund 

ICT - Information & Communication Technology 

NEET - Not in Education, Employment or 
Training

TAF - Team Around the Family 

WAO - Welsh Audit Ofce

WG - Welsh Government 

WLGA - Welsh Local Government Association 

WM - Welsh-Medium 

Glossary of Terms

Tudalen 120



ADRODDIAD EITHRIEDIG YN UNOL Â PHARAGRAFF …………12 - 18......... O RAN 4 O ATODLEN 
12(A) I DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL 1972, FEL Y'I DIWYGIWYD GAN ORCHYMYN 
LLYWODRAETH LEOL (MYNEDIAD AT WYBODAETH)(AMRYWIO)(CYMRU) 2007 GAN EI FOD YN 
YMWNEUD Â GWYBODAETH YNGHYLCH ......
(Dileer os nad yw'n berthnasol) 

EITEM RHIF     AR YR AGENDA

RHAG-GYFARFOD Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYFARFOD Y 
BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYNGOR / PWYLLGOR 

Y DYDDIAD 

Y PWNC 

Y Pwrpas: 
YR ARGYMHELLION / PENDERFYNIADAU ALLWEDDOL SYDD EU 
HANGEN:

Y RHESYMAU: 

Rhag-gyfarfod y BG:
Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol 
DO/NADDO/AMHERTHNASOL                                           (Dileer fel bo'r angen)
Y pwyllgor craffu a'r dyddiad    (Dileer fel bo'r angen)

Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYNGOR / PWYLLGOR:
Argymhellion / Sylwadau'r Pwyllgor Craffu:

I'w cynnwys yn y man hwn neu o dan 'Ymgynghori'

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad OES / NAC OES / Amherthnasol   (Dileer fel bo'r angen)
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES / NAC OES / AMHERTHNASOL (Dileer fel bo'r angen)

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:

Awdur yr Adroddiad:

Swyddi: Rhifau ffôn:

Cyfeiriadau E-bost:

Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd
28ain Tachwedd 2016 

ADOLYGAETH BLYNYDDOL SWYDDOGAETH  Y GWASANAETH DEMOCRATAIDD 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen:

I ystyried y wybodaeth a gynhwysir yn yr adroddiad a  nodi'r gefnogaeth 
a'r gwasanaethau sy’n cael eu darparu i Aelodau Etholedig .

Y Rhesymau: 

Bod y Pwyllgor yn ystyried adnoddau sydd ar gael i gefnogi swyddogaeth y Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd (sy’n destun darpariaeth o dan Fesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011).

Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol   AMHERTHNASOL                                           
Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad   NAC OES  
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                       NAC OES  

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- Amherthnasol.
Cynghorydd Terry Davies – Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd.

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:
Linda Rees Jones
Awdur yr Adroddiad:
Gaynor Morgan

Swyddi:
Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a’r 
Gyfraith
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd

Rhifau ffôn:
01267 224026
Cyfeiriadau E-bost:
Gmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk

Tudalen 121

Eitem Rhif  6



ADRODDIAD EITHRIEDIG YN UNOL Â PHARAGRAFF …………12 - 18......... O RAN 4 O ATODLEN 
12(A) I DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL 1972, FEL Y'I DIWYGIWYD GAN ORCHYMYN 
LLYWODRAETH LEOL (MYNEDIAD AT WYBODAETH)(AMRYWIO)(CYMRU) 2007 GAN EI FOD YN 
YMWNEUD Â GWYBODAETH YNGHYLCH ......
(Dileer os nad yw'n berthnasol) 

EITEM RHIF     AR YR AGENDA

RHAG-GYFARFOD Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYFARFOD Y 
BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYNGOR / PWYLLGOR 

Y DYDDIAD 

Y PWNC 

Y Pwrpas: 
YR ARGYMHELLION / PENDERFYNIADAU ALLWEDDOL SYDD EU 
HANGEN:

Y RHESYMAU: 

Rhag-gyfarfod y BG:
Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol 
DO/NADDO/AMHERTHNASOL                                           (Dileer fel bo'r angen)
Y pwyllgor craffu a'r dyddiad    (Dileer fel bo'r angen)

Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYNGOR / PWYLLGOR:
Argymhellion / Sylwadau'r Pwyllgor Craffu:

I'w cynnwys yn y man hwn neu o dan 'Ymgynghori'

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad OES / NAC OES / Amherthnasol   (Dileer fel bo'r angen)
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES / NAC OES / AMHERTHNASOL (Dileer fel bo'r angen)

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:

Awdur yr Adroddiad:

Swyddi: Rhifau ffôn:

Cyfeiriadau E-bost:

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE 

28th November 2016

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES FUNCTION ANNUAL REVIEW

Members will be aware of the requirement under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2011 ("the Measure") for the Council to establish a  Democratic Services Committee. The 
Measure also requires the Council to designate one of its officers to the statutory post of 
"Head of Democratic Services" and provide that officer with sufficient resources to discharge 
these statutory functions. 

The Democratic Services Committee considers matters relating to the provision of support 
services provided to them in accordance with the Local Government (Wales) Act 2011 and 
this report provides an outline of the support provided by the Democratic Services unit over 
the past 12 months.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES

Tudalen 122



ADRODDIAD EITHRIEDIG YN UNOL Â PHARAGRAFF …………12 - 18......... O RAN 4 O ATODLEN 
12(A) I DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL 1972, FEL Y'I DIWYGIWYD GAN ORCHYMYN 
LLYWODRAETH LEOL (MYNEDIAD AT WYBODAETH)(AMRYWIO)(CYMRU) 2007 GAN EI FOD YN 
YMWNEUD Â GWYBODAETH YNGHYLCH ......
(Dileer os nad yw'n berthnasol) 

EITEM RHIF     AR YR AGENDA

RHAG-GYFARFOD Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYFARFOD Y 
BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYNGOR / PWYLLGOR 

Y DYDDIAD 

Y PWNC 

Y Pwrpas: 
YR ARGYMHELLION / PENDERFYNIADAU ALLWEDDOL SYDD EU 
HANGEN:

Y RHESYMAU: 

Rhag-gyfarfod y BG:
Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol 
DO/NADDO/AMHERTHNASOL                                           (Dileer fel bo'r angen)
Y pwyllgor craffu a'r dyddiad    (Dileer fel bo'r angen)

Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYNGOR / PWYLLGOR:
Argymhellion / Sylwadau'r Pwyllgor Craffu:

I'w cynnwys yn y man hwn neu o dan 'Ymgynghori'

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad OES / NAC OES / Amherthnasol   (Dileer fel bo'r angen)
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES / NAC OES / AMHERTHNASOL (Dileer fel bo'r angen)

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:

Awdur yr Adroddiad:

Swyddi: Rhifau ffôn:

Cyfeiriadau E-bost:

IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / Heads 
of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this report :

Signed:                 Linda Rees Jones                    Head of   Administration & Law
                              Gaynor Morgan                        Head of Democratic Services

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

NONE YES YES NONE NONE YES NONE 

Legal  
The Local Government (Wales) Measure  requires a local authority to designate one of its officers 
to discharge the Democratic Services Functions  and provide that officer with such staff, 
accommodation and other resources which in its opinion are sufficient to allow those functions to 
be discharged. 

The Head of Democratic Services may arrange for the discharge of democratic services functions 
by staff prescribed under the Democratic Services Function. 

Finance  
No additional budgetary implications at this time, the revised staffing arrangements can be 
accommodated within the Division’s existing budget.

Staffing Implications
The Local Government Wales Measure requires local authorities to include within their 
standing orders provisions concerning the management of staff provided to the Head of 
Democratic Services. Section 10 “Management of Staff” does not include the appointment of 
staff or dismissal of staff or the taking of other disciplinary action against staff.

Tudalen 123



ADRODDIAD EITHRIEDIG YN UNOL Â PHARAGRAFF …………12 - 18......... O RAN 4 O ATODLEN 
12(A) I DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL 1972, FEL Y'I DIWYGIWYD GAN ORCHYMYN 
LLYWODRAETH LEOL (MYNEDIAD AT WYBODAETH)(AMRYWIO)(CYMRU) 2007 GAN EI FOD YN 
YMWNEUD Â GWYBODAETH YNGHYLCH ......
(Dileer os nad yw'n berthnasol) 

EITEM RHIF     AR YR AGENDA

RHAG-GYFARFOD Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYFARFOD Y 
BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYNGOR / PWYLLGOR 

Y DYDDIAD 

Y PWNC 

Y Pwrpas: 
YR ARGYMHELLION / PENDERFYNIADAU ALLWEDDOL SYDD EU 
HANGEN:

Y RHESYMAU: 

Rhag-gyfarfod y BG:
Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol 
DO/NADDO/AMHERTHNASOL                                           (Dileer fel bo'r angen)
Y pwyllgor craffu a'r dyddiad    (Dileer fel bo'r angen)

Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL / CYNGOR / PWYLLGOR:
Argymhellion / Sylwadau'r Pwyllgor Craffu:

I'w cynnwys yn y man hwn neu o dan 'Ymgynghori'

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad OES / NAC OES / Amherthnasol   (Dileer fel bo'r angen)
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES / NAC OES / AMHERTHNASOL (Dileer fel bo'r angen)

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:

Awdur yr Adroddiad:

Swyddi: Rhifau ffôn:

Cyfeiriadau E-bost:

CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:                    Linda Rees Jones                                              Head of  Administration and Law    

                                  Gaynor Morgan                                                 Head of Democratic Services

1. Scrutiny Committee
Not applicable

2.Local Member(s)  
Not applicable

3.Community / Town Council 
Not applicable

4.Relevant Partners  
Not applicable

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  

Not applicable

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:
Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

Local Government 
Wales Measure

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents/enac
ted

Tudalen 124



Report of the Head of Democratic Services

28th November 2016

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES FUNCTION ANNUAL REVIEW

Head of Service & Designation.

Linda Rees Jones

Head of Administration & Law

Directorate

Chief Executive

Telephone No.

01267 224010

Author &  Designation 

Gaynor Morgan Head of Democratic Services

Directorate

Chief Executive

Telephone No

01267 224026

Members will be aware of the requirement under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 
("the Measure") for each local authority to establish a Democratic Services Committee. The 
Measure also requires the Council to designate one of its officers to the statutory post of "Head 
of Democratic Services" and provide that officer with sufficient resources to discharge these 
statutory functions.   This report provides the Committee with an outline of the staff resources 
existing within Democratic Services and a summary of the wide range of duties undertaken, 
ongoing developments and plans for the future to support Members in their respective roles.

Democratic Services Resources

The current structure of the Democratic Services Unit has been in place since July 2015 and is 
considered adequate to allow the Head of Democratic Services to discharge democratic services 
functions. The service is split into two teams namely Committee Support and Civic & Member 
Support under the management of the Democratic Services Manager (Nominated Head of 
Democratic Services):-

Tudalen 125



Committee Support 

This is a team of 6 staff, comprising a Principal Democratic Services Officer and 5 Democratic 
Services Officers. The team provides a wide range of services to the Executive, Regulatory and 
Scrutiny Committees together with the administration of partnership agencies i.e. ERW and the 
Dyfed Powys Police & Crime Panel . The team provides advice and support in relation to the 
Council Constitution, law and practice relating to committee administration, advice on the role of 
Councillors, protocols and code of conduct and supports the democratic  function in the 
production of handbooks, research and liaison with external bodies as part of Scrutiny Task and 
Finish reviews

The Committee Support team have administered the following official meetings over the past 12 
months:-

Council      13 

Executive Board    15

Executive Board Member Decision     47

Scrutiny     42   

Regulatory & Other    60    

In addition the team administer the School admission appeals process and facilitate the work of 
the Independent Admission Appeals Panel having managed over 359 appeals in the last 12 
months.

Civic & Member Support

The team consists of a Principal Democratic Services Officer, a Senior Member Support Officer,  
, 4 x Member Support Officers   and 1 x part-time Official Car Driver.

The Team is the designated point of contact for all elected member enquiries and provides a 
comprehensive support function to the Chair of Council, and all elected members. The team also 
assist the Executive Board Members and the Leader of the main opposition Group with research 
and information gathering and diary co-ordination.  Member Support Officers also administer the 
Councillor Enquiry system, member’s expenses, members’ day to day correspondence including 
local surgery notices, support Members with production of their annual reports, arrange 
attendance at Conference and Seminars and operate the Authority’s webcasting of Council 
meetings.

The Member Support team have processed over 1700 Councillor Enquiries and webcast 55 
meetings over the past 12 months.

Tudalen 126



Elected Member Support & Accommodation

All elected members have access to a tablet device, laptop computer, printer and are provided 
with a new telephone line for councillors who have no telephone and a second broadband line for 
the exclusive purpose of providing on line data services.

Members can access their emails, council diary and committee papers via their iPads, and  the 
introduction of ‘Modern.gov’ committee decisions management system in September 2015 has 
assisting in the Authority’s commitment  towards a paperless system of communication and allows 
members to perform their  duties as efficiently as possible. 

A report on IT provision post 2017 elections will be submitted to the Committee for consideration  
at its next meeting in  March 2017.

All members are also provided with office supplies, such as pens, pencils, files, paper envelopes 
etc and also direct practical support from the Democratic Services Unit. . Members can also 
access information outside of office hours via the Council’s intranet site. 

The following accommodation is available for elected members, all accommodation includes 
telephone and IT equipment to assist members with their duties:-

 Members’ Lounge – Carmarthen & Llanelli
 Chairman’s Room – Carmarthen & Llanelli
 Leaders Office – Carmarthen, Llanelli, Ammanford
 Executive Board Member accommodation x 5 - Carmarthen
 Opposition Group Leaders’ Office – Llanelli
 Opposition Group Room – Carmarthen
 A small meeting room is also available within County Hall for Elected members to use by 

appointment.

Tudalen 127



Democratic Services Committee Work Programme

In the past year, the Democratic Services Committee has considered a number of issues, 
including:-

 Ongoing Member Development/Induction Programme 2017 elections

The Democratic Services Committee has considered two reports on the Member 
Development Programme during the past 12 months and has endorsed a WLGA Member 
Induction Programme for both new and returning elected members which will be 
implemented following the Local Government elections in May 2017.  The Committee has 
also approved a Councillor Induction Survey which will seek the views of existing 
members regarding the induction they received in 2012.  All Group Leaders and 
unaffiliated members have also been reminded, following discussion by the Committee, 
of the need to conduct Personal Development Reviews which are tailored to meet the 
development needs of individual members.

 Members’ Annual Reports 

The Committee agreed that Members should be encouraged to complete their Annual 
Reports and approved a  revised annual report template and guidance at its meeting held 
on the 17th March 2016.  The Democratic Services unit provided support in the form of 
assistance in drafting the reports, providing advice and publishing the report.14 Annual 
Reports have been completed  to-date for 2015/16. 

 IRPW Annual Reports
The Committee has considered the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Annual 
report in relation to determinations regarding the rates of payment which are made to 
elected and co-opted Members of Welsh local authorities for the following municipal year 
and has powers to make recommendations on proposed variations to the remuneration of 
Chief Executives and Chief Officers of Principal councils in Wales.  A separate report on 
the IRPW’s draft report for 2017/18 is included on the Agenda.

 Wales Audit Office - Corporate Assessment Report 2015 

The Committee considered the outcome of the WAO Corporate Assessment Report and 
agreed a Forward Work Programme for 2016/17.  A separate report on an updated FWP 
is included on the agenda.

 Reviewing the council’s on-line information under council & democracy 

The Committee considered the  information currently available on the Council and 
Democracy section of the corporate website, and noted that  over the next few 
months, further information would be added in readiness for the local government 
elections in May 2017.

Tudalen 128



PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD
28AIN TACHWEDD 2016

BLAENRHAGLEN GWAITH Y PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU 
DEMOCRATAIDD

Y Pwrpas:  Sicirhau bod materion Agenda y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd wedi’i 
cynllunio yn addas

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen:

I ystyried a mabwysiadu Blaenrhaglen waith y Pwyllgor

Y Rhesymau: 
Blaenrhaglen Blynyddol i hysbysu’r Aelodau or Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd am yr 
eitemau agenda yw trafod am y flwyddyn 2016/17/18.

Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol :         Amherthnasol                                           
Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad : NA
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad :                      NA                    

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- Amh.

Y Cynghorydd T. Davies, Cadeirydd Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democratiadd

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: Prif 
Weithredwr
Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth:
Linda Rees Jones
Awdur yr Adroddiad:
Gaynor Morgan

Swyddi:
Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a’r 
Gyfraith

Pennaeth Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd

Rhif ffôn: 01267 224010
Cyfeiriad E-bost:
LRJones@sirgar.gov.uk

Rhif ffôn: 01267 224026
Cyfeiriad E-bost: 
GMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk

Tudalen 129

Eitem Rhif  7

mailto:PSexton@sirgar.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Democratic Services Committee

28th November 2016

Democratic Services Committee Forward Work Programme 

To provide Members with an updated forward work programme for the 2016/17 Democratic 
Committee cycle to ensure that all appropriate committees have a published up to date 
programme owned by the Committee Members

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES 

Tudalen 130



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report : 
Signed:         Linda Rees Jones                                              Head of  Administration and Law    
                      Gaynor Morgan                                                 Head of Democratic Services

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE

CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:         Linda Rees Jones                                              Head of  Administration and Law    
                      Gaynor Morgan                                                 Head of Democratic Services

1. Scrutiny Committee : Not Applicable
2.Local Member(s)  : Not Applicable
3.Community / Town Council : Not Applicable
4.Relevant Partners  : Not Applicable
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  : Not Applicable
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW     

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

Mesur Llywodraeth Leol 
(Cymru) 2011

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/pdfs/mwa_
20110004_mi.pdf

SAC Adroddiad Asesu 
Corfforaethol 2015

https://www.wao.gov.uk/cy/cyhoeddi/cyngor-sir-
caerfyrddin-adroddiad-asesu-corfforaethol-2015

Tudalen 131



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA – PLEASE RECYCLE

DRAFT FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE 2016/17/18

SUBJECT AREA AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF NATURE OF 
REPORT

 

Lead 
Department

Responsible 
Officer

Date to Democratic Services 
Committee

INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL FOR WALES DRAFT 
ANNUAL REPORT
To consider and comment on the draft report.  

Chief 
Executive

Head of 
Democratic 
Services

NOVEMBER

RESOURCES TO DISCHARGE DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
FUNCTIONS
To review the adequacy of provision by the authority of staff, 
accommodation and other resources to discharge democratic 
services functions

Chief 
Executive

Head of 
Democratic 
Services

NOVEMBER

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S SCRUTINY 
FUNCTION ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16
To consider an overview of the Council’s Scrutiny Function and 
the respective Scrutiny Committees’ work during the 2015/16 
municipal year.

Chief 
Executive

Head of 
Democratic 
Services

NOVEMBER

UPDATE ON DISCUSSION WITH GROUP LEADERS RE 
PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT REVIEWS 2016/17
To receive an update on the Learning & Development Advisor’s 
discussions with Group Leaders regarding their development 
requirements.

Chief 
Executive

Corporate Learning 
and Development 
Advisor

MARCH

ANNUAL AND SUPPLEMENTARY REPORTS OF THE 
INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL FOR WALES
To consider the implementation of reports issued by the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales in respect of 
members allowances etc

Chief 
Executive

Head of 
Democratic 
Services

MARCH 

T
udalen 133



AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA – PLEASE RECYCLE

SUBJECT AREA AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF NATURE OF 
REPORT

 

Lead 
Department

Responsible 
Officer

Date to Democratic Services 
Committee

IT PROVISION FOR ELECTED MEMBERS POST ELECTION 
2017
To consider the IT equipment provided to members following  the 
2017 Local Government Elections.

Chief 
Executive

Interim Head of IT MARCH 

COUNTY COUNCIL ELECTIONS 2017
Discussion re Induction Training and revised Councillor Handbook

Chief 
Executive

Head of 
Democratic 
Services/Corporate 
Learning and 
Development 
Advisor

MARCH

PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT REVIEWS 17/18  – DISCUSSIONS 
WITH GROUP LEADERS
To form a basis for discussion between Corporate Learning & 
Development and Group Leaders regarding development 
requirements for Members

Chief 
Executive

Corporate Learning 
& Development 
Advisor

JUNE

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 17/18
To receive an update on the Member Development Programme 
and identify additional training and development topics.

Chief 
Executive

Corporate Learning 
& Development 
Advisor

JUNE

TIMING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS – MEMBER SURVEY 
FOLLOWING ELECTIONS
To consider the results of a survey of Members seeking views on 
their preferences for the timing of meetings.

Chief 
Executive

Head of 
Administration & 
law

JUNE

UPDATE ON MEMBER INDUCTIONS 
SESSIONS/ATTENDANCE FOLLOWING LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ELECTIONS
To receive an update on the Member Induction Sessions and 
attendance thereat.

Chief 
Executive

Corporate Learning 
& Development 
Advisor

SEPTEMBER

T
udalen 134



AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA – PLEASE RECYCLE

SUBJECT AREA AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF NATURE OF 
REPORT

 

Lead 
Department

Responsible 
Officer

Date to Democratic Services 
Committee

UPDATE ON DISCUSSION WITH GROUP LEADERS RE 
PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT REVIEWS 17/18
To receive an update on the Learning & Development Advisor’s 
discussions with Group Leaders regarding their development 
requirements.

Chief 
Executive

Corporate Learning 
& Development 
Advisor

SEPTEMBER

INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL FOR WALES DRAFT 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
To consider and comment on the draft report.  

Chief 
Executive

Head of 
Democratic 
Services

NOVEMBER 

RESOURCES TO DISCHARGE DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
FUNCTIONS
To review the adequacy of provision by the authority of staff, 
accommodation and other resources to discharge democratic 
services functions

Chief 
Executive’s

Head of 
Democratic 
Services

NOVEMBER

UPDATE ON MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 17/18
To receive an update on the Member Development Programme 
and identify additional training and development topics.

Chief 
Executive’s

Corporate Learning 
& Development 
Advisor

NOVEMBER

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S SCRUTINY 
FUNCTION ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17
To consider an overview of the Council’s Scrutiny Function and 
the respective Scrutiny Committees’ work during the 2015/16 
municipal year.

Chief 
Executive

Head of 
Democratic 
Services

NOVEMBER 

MATTERS REFERRED FROM CRWG Chief 
Executive’s

Head of 
Democratic 
Services

AS REQUIRED

T
udalen 135



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol


	Agenda
	3 DERBYN A LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION Y CYFARFOD A GYNHALWYD AR Y 1AF MEDI 2016
	4 PANEL ANNIBYNNOL CYMRU AR GYDNABYDDIAETH ARIANNOL ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL DRAFFT - CHWEFROR 2017
	Adroddiad

	5 SWYDDOGAETH GRAFFU CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN – ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL 2015/16
	Adroddiad
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6
	Page 7
	Page 8
	Page 9
	Page 10
	Page 11
	Page 12
	Page 13
	Page 14
	Page 15
	Page 16
	Page 17
	Page 18
	Page 19
	Page 20
	Page 21
	Page 22


	6 ADOLYGAETH BLYNYDDOL SWYDDOGAETH  Y GWASANAETH DEMOCRATAIDD
	Adroddiad

	7 BLAENRHAGLEN GWAITH Y PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD
	Adroddiad


